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ABOUT MINMETALS LAND

J5H] 7 o 15 b

Minmetals Land Limited is a subsidiary and the sole listed
real estate flagship of China Minmetals Corporation in
Hong Kong. Minmetals Land Limited’s principal business
includes real estate development, specialised construction
and property investment. Currently, its real estate
development business covers the Pan Bohai Rim, Yangtze
River Delta, Central China Region, Chengdu-Chongqing
Region and Pearl River Delta (including Hong Kong).
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MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

CORPORATE INFORMATION
2wl R

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. He Jianbo — Chairman

Mr. Liu Bo — Managing Director

Mr. Chen Xingwu — Deputy Managing Director
Mr. Yang Shangping — Deputy Managing Director

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. He Xiaoli
Mr. Huang Guoping

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE

DIRECTORS

Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy

Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny
Professor Wang Xiuli

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Yiu Yu Cheung (appointed on 14 June 2024)
Mr. Cheng Ka Hang, Francis (resigned on 14 June 2024)

LEGAL ADVISOR

Norton Rose Fulbright Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27th Floor, One Taikoo Place,

979 King's Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of Communications Company, Limited

China Construction Bank Corporation

Chong Hing Bank Limited

CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited

China Zheshang Bank Company, Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Industrial Bank Company, Limited

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716,

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen'’s Road East,

Wan Chai, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Victoria Place,

5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM 10,

Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

18th Floor, China Minmetals Tower,
79 Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Tel: 2613 6363

Fax: 2581 9823

Email: info@minmetalsland.com

WEBSITE

http://www.minmetalsland.com

006

i

Sl
¢
e
o
ot

St

ey

HEaE R
SRR
— EFRIBKE

Ik

ofF ofF HF ¥

HEHE | HF
|t |

o s

i
=)
e
i

B¢ 27 ML
=
¥

\
/

SRR

&
<y
ﬂ;mw
DN
e
48t

H#X
Mgt
pizpsige

ME R HE
H

o
al
=
T

H%
3
RED R SESLH
2
X
A
i
3
)
m
+
=
g
i
i
i

B
7~

[}

Ei:l’-
20
Moy 1

P11}

B
’PE
Ny
i
=

b
_'_

2R Tk B RE L LA
M BRI 297998
— 2718

S
-
S

o
=

, %mﬁﬁiﬁﬂ%}
o
e

H
JE]
=\
i
%
S5
5 s
T
d1

o I s ant
ol

BXBB
)
sman O
S@at
5 2l o s
e[

I
kN

my
SAEASD
al

==

Emm
S
212 20 2

)
S

e T T 3 Y8 T i Tl
B
]
el

5 S S
N\ N\ \ =\ .
DB B0

R En R Rt K S

=\
I

X
>

BBy
T dbat

S)

\
/

B
T
=
g
:Hl_llr
P

-
~ [ R
[
I
fo¢
R
af
<8
5
ay

N

N i

#1835k
SRR 718
171221716 %

AR ER

Victoria Place,
5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street,

1) HI TH DA

Hamilton HM 10,

Bermuda
ERTEEXE
EBNE
LIRS R E R 7955
FEAREANEISE

T EE 12613 6363
{EE : 2581 9823
FEEH : info@minmetalsland.com

4t

http://www.minmetalsland.com



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
2 i %

REVENUE TOTAL ASSETS (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
. - 4= ‘\L&
A EEAE FE(BR)BER
- < o B
] 5 9,882, S8 41,03 , i £ ,37)
-g g o & 2] / -:% s 2] _.-/
$& 8 12,630,739 S 53,575,153 fe 5 (525686)
l”; ; ;_14 - 7, ‘E - : /. ‘E - é‘ , :
®2L 2 10,064,529 w2l 8 67,387,025 © 5L 8 (1,360,224)
WS > 5+ Rl
ZET 7 &0 z s 8T VA Z
g.y 8 12885638 =T 8 77173244 gy 778 : / 631,807
gi e L8+ e 2w ¢
< o =) ¢ % L 2K = N ES = Z %
S 7,661,646 S 68,387,737 8/ 431340

NAVA PER SHARE
FREEFEA

BASIC (LOSS)/EARNINGS I CORE (LOSS)/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO
PER SHARE EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY*
FRER(BR) AR | FOARESEARERD (FR) /&7

< < <
HD / i 3 i {1(566,266)
Z / E i % % i o = P 5
S 1.58 o S g S (43,566) s
~ B 8 4 x 8 4 Y i
~ = D‘I ‘/-R\ 0 D\I &l
~ [ - o~ - o~
3 g 2.04 Re+ 8 0L 8 i
R g + S o | H &l ‘ /
40 g - Z 5 c‘rc‘ = =z i c‘c:‘ = - 3 I
= Eﬁ S 2:99 é §+ S S §+ S - 356,369
M S v T LT (47
L 2% R L o = L o 73
S 287 2 LEL ~ aas778
! F7/ S 4 | ;
N7 AN N
For the year ended 31 December
BET=A=t—BEFE  percentage
2024 2023 change (%)
—EoE —EC=F AILBRE (%)
Basic loss per share for loss EATRERE AES
attributable to equity holders of BEZERELREE
the Company (HK cents) (&AL (105.19) (30.34) 246.7%

Net debt (HK$ million)* BEFE(BEET) 18,817 19,802 -5.0%

Net gearing ratio (%)* T B E L E (%) 203.3% 138.0% +65.3%

*  Core (loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of the Company excludes allowance for — *  ARQRIRAEFE ARGEZL (BE), ST 8EES E
impairment of inventories, share of impairment of inventories of associates and joint BERE  DIEBMERRREEARNTFERE E “
ventures, exchange losses, fair value changes on investment properties and HEBEX BREVEZAZREBEZHREHEEHBEER ot
impairment loss recognised under expected credit loss model. 18 TR E R ERE - E

*  Change in percentage points »* RESHNEEH et

“ Net debt = (Total borrowings — Cash and bank deposits) fOEEFE = (BXReE - ReRROTEN =

T = e

“  Net gearing ratio = Net debt w o FaERE = BEEE i

Total equity [ Eatt
A Net asset value attributable to equity holders of the Company A ERRBREFEARGEZEEFRE

007 —
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MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

HONOURS AND AWARDS
R LA IH

REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
FEhEER

Minmetals Land Limited

TR ERRL A

o 2024 Real Estate Outstanding
Enterprise Performance

2024 EEMAERIR

o 2024 Listed Enterprise Outstanding
Performance (Real Estate G30+)

20244 FTEE MR (HEG30+)

3 2024 Chinese Real Estate Brand
Reputation and Credibility Enterprise

2024 B EHE mEBE RN E I E

o 2024 Influential Digital Development
Enterprise

2024 FEFZENBFLEREE

o 2024 Chinese Real Estate Brand
Influential Enterprise

202470 B EE FL 2 ) R B

20247 PP R

SHRoaRY AR
20240 i 1™ SRR AR 2 G e

oIt
] 1R 2

2024
B e FEEMIBFURREY

BRERmLE

008

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT
M=EE '

China Minmetals Tower

PEAERE
° Honorable Managed Property Award
BT YT

o Quality Water Supply Scheme for Buildings
— Fresh Water (Management System) (Gold)

REBEHKRAFE — RK(EEFRG) (£)

. Universal Design Award Scheme (Sliver Award)
ARG =TT E (BR48)
LKF29

o Quality Water Supply Scheme for Buildings
— Fresh Water (Management System) (Gold)

REBEHKRAFE — RK(BEEER) ()

o Universal Design Award Scheme (Certificate of
~ Merit)

- EARAEFH A OB AN

" Montego Bay

Kl Certificate of Five Stars Gym Room For The

Year 2024

‘;g_'mmﬁgﬂiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁi

iy

LLEr T
Certificate of Merit

Mo Ty

S
i
e



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

0 A7 1 2 B

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
CECNE —F-o=F ZFE--F —E-—F —T-FTF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHET FHET FHET FET
Results E
Revenue WA 9,882,956 12,630,739 10,064,529 12,885,638 7,661,646
Operating (loss)/profit g (B18) =% (2,625,562) 592,573 (414,827) 1,193,649 652,873
Finance income A 217,336 184,386 178,863 249,115 222,799
Finance costs B 75 A AR (534,689) (477,416) (138,144) (163,076) (69,471)
Share of results of DI E N R EE
associates (823,337) (209,869) (786,422) (264,007) 4,469
Share of results of joint DIEAEERAIEE
ventures 59,678 33,889 137,773 48,253 (2,260)
(Loss)/profit before tax BrFiAT (E518), %% (3,706,574) 123563 (1,022,757) 1,063,934 808,410
Income tax expense FrEHimRx (41,823) (649,249) (337,467) (432,127) (371,070)
(Loss)/profit for the year RFEE (BB %5 (3,748,397) (525,686)  (1,360,224) 631,807 437,340
(Loss)/profit attributable to:  (E518), & FIEREH :
Equity holders of the RAGIREREA
Company (3,520,690)  (1,015518)  (1,362,468) 89,209 112,370
Holders of perpetual KAEBERTERE
capital instruments A — — 45,197 164,996 220,578
Non-controlling interests ~ JE1ZE IR A% R 4 &5 (227,707) 489,832 (42,953) 377,602 104,392
Assets and liabilities EERAE
Non-current assets EmEEE 5,400,538 6,492,438 7,244,734 8,123,710 7,700,506
Current assets mEVEE 35,630,382 47,082,715 60,142,291 69,049,534 60,687,231
Total assets BERE 41,030,920 53,575,153 67,387,025  77,173244 68,387,737
Equity attributable to equity AN B A
holders of the Company NP 3 1,608,836 5,287,069 6,819,529 10,020,461 9,598,951
Perpetual capital KABEARTE
instruments C — — 2,448,182 3,947,539
Non-controlling interests ~ JE{E A% J& SR AE 25 7,648,133 9,060,576 9,992,569 10,649,268 8,863,517
Total equity BT 9,256,969 14347645 16,812,098 23,117,911 22,410,007
Non-current liabilities EREBBEE 5,751,906 8,530,242 17,753,100 14,860,560 15,928,050
Current liabilities mENAE 26,022,045 30,697,266 32,821,827 39,194,773 30,049,680
Total liabilities BREES 31,773,951 39227508 50,574,927 54055333  45977,730
Total equity and liabilities 1z & B 5458 41,030,920 53,575,153  67387,025  77,173244 68,387,737

009 —
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MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s projects breakdown was listed as below:

R-ZZB-_NE+-_A=+—8 AEEEB ZBXET :

L 4

M Suzhou

=]
B % Nan’an

Percentage
Construction Share of
Location ith 2h Site Area Floor Area Land Bank Land Bank
1 L i % 8
WEREME SEEEE T i fE Aokt

sg.m. sg.m. sg.m.

(FEF2K) (FEFK) (FEF2K)
Pan Bohai Rim IRE)E H R 2,270,000 5,226,000 2,057,000 35.7%
Yangtze River Delta E=AtE 812,000 2,225,000 200,000 3.5%
Central China Region R [R 2,419,000 5,978,000 1,045,000 18.1%
Chengdu-Chongging Region X8 @ 665,000 1,631,000 1,204,000 20.9%

Pearl River Delta K=mAtE

(including Hong Kong) (BEEE) 1,303,000 2,926,000 1,255,000 21.8%
Total et 7,469,000 17,986,000 5,761,000 100%




Fortune Garden it X 40l Harrow Town M5 & /ME

. Jiangxintun Town, Xianghe County,

Location

HE
Usagé
P&

Site area

AR E R

Construction floor area

: Xibeiwang Town, Haidian District,
Beijing, the PRC
o Bk U8 I8 7 15 AT 4R

: Rfesidential
*=

: Approximately 139,000 square

metres
#7139,000F 5 2K

. Approximately 414,000 square

Location
B

Langfang City, Hebei Province, the
PRC
%ﬂib%@iﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ?%

. Residential
> ==

==

Site area

AR

. Approximately 550,000 square

metres
#9550,000F 77 K

Construction floor area
RFEERE IR

. Approximately 1,285,000 square

metres
#91,285,000°F J5 2K

REEMEIE metres

, 7 #)414,000°F 73 K
Group's interest :51%
REBFEER
Construction : Completed
completion date BT

% T HH

Group’s interest

AREE B PTGt e

: 50%

Expected construction
completion date
TEERR T A &f

. Land plot No. 3: under planning

E=Hhk - REP

Beijing Chao Yang One it ZE 5 = 5% Minmetals International Bl 7 & KX B

Location : Wangsiyingxiang, Chaoyang
HhBh District, Beijing, the PRC

B L R T A G [ 6
Usage . Residential
A& T
Site area . Approximately 49,000 square
HAREE metres

#749,000F 77 2K

Construction floor area

. Approximately 189,000 square

FREME metres
#9189,000F 77 2K

Group's interest : 40%

NEE TGRS

Construction . Completed

completion date B®T

% T HH

Location . At east of Yingbin Main Road and

b south of Tuochang Road, Tanggu
District, Tianjin, the PRC
REREMELRODEREUAR
K Bei5 B AR

Usage . Residential and commercial

Rz EEREH

Site area : Approximately 21,000 square metres

b 88 [ 15 #921,000%F 75 2K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 183,000 square

AR R AR metres
#7183,000°F 77 K

Group's interest : 100%

REBFTERER

Construction . Completed

completion date B%T

% T A

Platinum Bay # i . 15 %

Location : Liaoning (Yingkou) Coastal

b 2h Industrial Base, Yingkou City,
Liaoning Province, the PRC
hEEBEELOMEE(L0)M%N
TR EM

Usage : Residential

A& F=E

Site area . Approximately 396,000 square

AR EE metres

#7396,000F 75 2K

Construction floor area

: Approximately 377,000 square

HREME metres
#9377,000F 77 2K

Group's interest : 100%

REBEFEER

Construction . Completed

completion date BRI

% T H Ef

744 3R

o=
=
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£ LIRS

GROUP PROPERTIES

Location

HE

Neo-Metropolis & & 3

: Yixingbuzhen, Bei Chen District,

Tianjin, the PRC
FRXEMIEREEEEER

Usage
B

. Residential

BE

Site area

AR E A

: Approximately 1,115,000 square

metres

#91,115,000F 77 K

Construction floor area

. Approximately 2,778,000 square

Academic Royale A #& « =X £

Location : At Tian He Road, Jianye District,
i B Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
BT A% & R A R RO B
Usage : Residential
Rz F=
Site area : Approximately 136,000 square
A% TH AR metres
#7136,000F 75 K

Construction floor area

. Approximately 482,000 square

FBHI®RT A

% T HH

BEEMEIE metres BIEEMEE metres
#72,778,000F 75 2K #7482,000F 15 K

Group's interest 1 49% Group's interest : 100%

REBFIEER REBEMEER

Expected construction @ 4Q 2031 Construction . Completed

completion date —E=—FFENF completion date B®T

Location : At Zhong Ling Jie, Xuanwu District,

i B Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
FENIHA R ZRREEY

Usage : Rpsidential

A& F=

Site area : Approximately 91,000 square

B EE metres

#791,000F A K

Construction floor area

. Approximately 203,000 square

BIEEMEE metres
#7203,000F 75 K

Group's interest : 100%

REBFEER

Construction . Completed

completion date B®T

% T HH

%A A

% T HH

Location . At south of Hongjing Main Road, Location . At the junction of Shuanglong Main

24 Science Park, Jiangning District, b 2h Road and Xuelindong Road,
Naipg,*gian su Province, the PRC Jiangning District, Nanjing, Jiangsu
HENTHEFRIERB2EA Province, the PRC. )
SANELAR $71%§@/?\71$E§%Eﬁﬁ

Usgge : Residential BB MR 25

P& T Usgage : Residential

Site area . Approximately 179,000 square iz £

AR EE metres Site area : Approximately 95,000 square metres
#1179,000%F 77 K AR E S #)95,000F 7 K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 270,000 square Construction floor area  : Approximately 255,000 square

BEEEE metres HEEEE metres
#7270,000F 75 K #9255,000F 75 K

Group’s interest : 100% Group’s interest : 100%

REBFEER REBEMEER

Construction : Completed Construction : Completed

completion date B%T completion date B®T




Enchanté Cove F 5% « B 75 1L Enchanté Park T 5% « 515 Z 1L

Majestic Mansion &I EfF

Location . At the junction of Yanshan Road

b 2k and Shuiximen Jie, Gulou District,
Nanjipg,ﬂJ_iangsg_Province, the PRC
BT & Fa R SR AR L B R
KAPI R SR

Usgge : Residential and commercial

& FEREE

Site area . Approximately 43,000 square

3 A4 TH 1R metres
#943,000°F 75 K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 233,000 square

MEEEE metres
#7233,000F 75 K

Group’s interest 1 34.1%

AN E PR AG HE 2

Construction . Completed

completion date B®T

% T 3 Ef

Location : At the junction of Fanggian Main
32 Road and Wushi Road, Jiangning
District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province,
the PRC
¢Ilﬁéﬁ3lmﬁﬁmﬁ
Usafge . Residential
B F=
Site area : Approximately 68,000 square
AR EE metres
#968,000°F 75 oK

Construction floor area

: Approximately 148,000 square

Location . East of the Nanjing Jiangning

3 B high-tech park Zhengfang Main
Road and south of Shimeng Road,
Jiangning Dlstnct Nanjing, Jiangsu
Provmce the PRC

EIsasr ISR aEE

FABOE - B IE

Usage . Residential

JiEB<S =

Site area . Approximately 61,000 square

A4 TH AR metres
#961,000°F 73 K

Construction floor area
Hi&

Vo

: Approximately 181,000 square

metres
#7181,000°F 75 K

BIREEE metres
#7148,000F 75 K

Group's interest 1 100%

RNEE G ER

Construction . Completed

completion date BT

WITA!

Jiang Shan Da Jing I |L K3%

: At the junction of Guangming

Location
24

Usa é
e
Site area

AR E S

Construction floor area

Road and Lixin Road, Pukou
Dlstnct NanJlng, Jiangsu Province,
the P

& ./Iﬁ*‘é OB O R YRR
RN R XS

: Residential
b

F=

: Approximately 83,000 quare

metres

#183,000°F 75 K

: Approximately 285,000 sduare

Group's interest : 100%

A5 E P AG =

Construction . Completed
BRT

completion date
% T HH

Suzhou City Valley & M #$Z2E

Location . South of Min Sheng Road and

B West of Xing Pu Road, High Trade
Zone, Suzhou Industrial Park,
Suzqu, {iar]%s_u P_r\gvlnce, the PRC
BT A MM AR T EE R
= ERREERE  BEUHKA

Usgge . Residential

A& =

Site area : Approximately 56,000 square

3 A4 TH 1B

metres
#756,000F 7 2K

Construction floor area

. Approximately 168,000 square

&) & metres MIEEEE metres
#9285,000F 75 7K #7168,000F 75 K

Groups |nterest 1 39.8% Group's interest © 55%

AN PG HE = RNEE PG R

Construction . Completed Construction : Completed
BRI completion date B®T

completion date
%I HH

% T HH

744 3R

— = —
=
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GROUP PROPERTIES

£ LIRS

Changsha Wanjing Yayuan &% B & E

Location . East of East Nine Road, North of

hBh Wang Xian Road, West of East Ten
Road, South of Te Li Road, Changsha
Clt‘Hunan Province, the PRC

IHEE RS MRS BER LK

PASE  PALERIAIE « R BRLLEE -
N7 BE LA

Usgge . Residential

A& F=E

Site area : Approximately 137,000 square

AR E S metres
#9137,000F 77 2K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 310,000 square

WL A metres
#7310,000°F 75 K

Group's interest : 51%

REEFTE R

Expected construction  : 4Q 2025 .
—E-RFEMNE

completion date
SR T E

LOHAS International Community

LiE. EEEBRTE

———

Scotland Town & /N8

Location : At Gaoyun Road, Muyun Town,
24 Changsha, Hunan Province, the PRC
FEME R TRERSER
Usage : Rgzsidential
B iE F=
Site area . Approximately 643,000 square
AR EE metres
#9643,000F 77 K

Construction floor area

: Approximately 1,084,000 square

Location . At Yuntang Village and Yuetang

i B Village, Muyun Town, Changsha,
Hunan Province, the PRC
hEMEE RS TETHER
& A sER

Usgge . Residential

A& F=

Site area : Approximately 333,000 square

A% TH AR

metres
#9333,000°F 75 K

Constructlon floor area

: Approximately 442,000 square

REEMEIE metres
#71,084,000F 75 2K

Group's interest : 100%

RNEE G ER

Construction . Completed

completion date BRI

% T H Ef

MR metres
#9442,000F 77 2K

Groups mterejL : 100%

REBEFEER

Construction . Completed

completion date B®T

% T H Ef

Qin Royale T 7% - i B & 1

Location . At Fu Yuan West Road, Kaifu

b 2k District, Changsha, Hunan
Province, the PRC o
B R T EEEET

g

Usage : Residential and commercial

Bi& TERMEE

Site area : Approximately 150,000 square

I A2 T A8

metres
#7150,000F 5 2K

Constructlon floor area

: Approximately 570,000 square

mEEE metres
#7570,000F 75 K

Group's interest 1 100%

REBE G ER

Construction : Completed

completlon date [

% T HH




Changsha Minmetals Plaza RV A& &5

Location - Within the central business unit of

h 24 Xiangjiang Riverbank area, south of
Baisha Road, in between
Xiangjiangzhong Road and Shuyuan
Road, Tianxin District, Changsha,
Hunan Prov‘lnce\, the PRC
B M B b TR B T R —
iR TR DB DAR - AT B
Ko & BT & 2 FH

Usage - Commercial

gk %

Site area . Approximately 22,000 square metres

I 42 T 18 #)22,000%F J5 3K

Constrgction floor area : /-\ppro><|mately 192,000 square metres

BREEEIE #)192,000F J5 K

Group's interest : 100%

AN 5 [ P oG RE

Expected construction : 2Q 202 "
-z i%:i

completion date
SEA T A A

Realm of Landscape & 1% & i Xiangtan Scenery Cove #iE - BEKF

Loation : At No. 79, Section 2, Xiangjiang Location - At No. 28 Xuefu Road, Economic and
R North Road, Kaifu District, B4 Technological Development Zone,
gggngsha, Hunan Province, the Xiangtan, Hunan Province, the PRC
. DN ST 48 R B T AR 1 B
R B3P 4 00 T BT DR AR S RO
ib & — 2 79%% I BB Y 55 28 %%
Usage . Residential Usage © Residential
A (s i =
Site area . Approximately 87,000 square Site area : Approximately 428,000 square metres
HAREE metres ) AR E TS #9428,000F 77 2K
#987,000°F 75 K : :
- Construction floor area : Approximately 1,104,000 square
Construcnon floor area : Approximately 311,000 square 18 R ST TS metres
RERE Taetres \ - b %1,104,000F 75 3K
#9311,000F 77 2K m
. Group's interest ©51%
Group's interest : 25.5% P >t
zq_:;p.;aﬁmgg 7R 52 B P HE 26
Expected construction  : Phase 1: completed; Expected construction  : 2Q 2027~
mpletion date Phase 2: under plannin completion date TR FEF
J&IEIHH —HE®RT : ZHEREIF B H % T A Hf

Greenland Centre ##ith 10

Enchanté Crest TLHE . WX EE

Location . At No. 319, Section 1, Furong Location . At the junction of Songjiagangdong
B Middle Road, Kaifu District, B Road and Huayun Road,
Changsha Hunan Province, the Panlongcheng Economic
e Development Zone, Huangpi District,
EP ./?ﬁﬁ/é R MRBRER Wauhan, Hubei Province, the PRC
HEE —ER319%% qﬂlzﬂﬁibé Hixm E)Eélu__ug%"éb@b%
Usage . Commercial R CEE R
M= = Usgge . Residential
Site area : Approximately 23,000 square iz =
B EE metres Site area . Approximately 61,000 square metres
#923,000 F 77 K A& T AR #)61,000°F 75 K
Construction floor area  : Approximately 259,000 square Construction floor @ Approximately 180,000 square metres
WIREEIE metres area #9180,000F 77 2K
#9259,000F 75 2K iR TS
Group's interest 1 255% Groups interest 1 100%
AN 62 1 P A5 HE 28 7N 2 [ P4k #E 2
Construction . Completed Construction : Completed
completlon date [ complenon date [

% T HH

% T HHf

017 —

744 3R

o=
=

TREEEFRAA



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

ESLEVES

GROUP PROPERTIES

Taian Scenery Cove % - BIRKE

% T HH

Location : Changcheng Road, Angao New
i B District, Taian, Shandong Province,
the PRC N
B RARETERNES
i
Usage : Residential
P =
Site area : Approximately 270,000 square
A% TH AR metres
#9270,000F 75 K
Construction floor area  : Approximately 699,000 square
MIEEMIE metres
#7699,000F 75 K
Group’s interest : 51%
AN [ P oG HE =
Construction . Completed
completion date B®T

Wuhan Scenery Cove FUE&E R K F Minmetals Chai Da Mu Plaza T ERES

KT B

BT A

Location . Between Third Ring South and Location : Wusi West Road, Haihu New

B Fourth Ring South, Wuhan, Hubei 32 District, Xining, Qinghai Province,
Provir]ce, theflﬁc* the PRC .
B84 4 R D R = IR R hEE SEEEDENNE
P2 7 P 7l 5

Usgge : Residential Usgge . Commercial

A& F= R %

Site area : Approximately 62,000 square Site area . Approximately 152,000 square

AL T TR metres A2 A metres )
#762,000°F 75 2K #9152,000F 77 2K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 215,000 square Construction floor area : Approximately 464,000 square

AR R metres BBEMEE metres
#9215,000°F 77 K #9464,000F 77 2K

Group’s interest : 100% Group’s interest ©51%

REBFERE R REBEMEER

Construction : Completed Construction . Completed

completion date BRI completion date BE®RT

Taian Scenery Centre ZZ L BEEEES West Begonia B fE - AR R

Location . Changcheng Road, Angao New Location . Wenjiajie Road, Qingyang District,

b B District, Taian, Shandong Province, Ith 2 Chengdu, Sichuan Province, the
the PRC PRC
PENRERLZTEaMRE HEE) I EKBEFRERE
IR R R AT B

Usage . Commercial Usage . Residential

ke [EES B iz =

Site area . Approximately 51,000 square Site area . Approximately 22,000 square

A& metres A EE metres
#]51,000%F J5 3K #922,000°F 75 K

Construction floor area

. Approximately 148,000 square

Construction floor area

. Approximately 80,000 square

BT B A

ZHIERT = HiRElH % T 3 Ef

AR metres BEEMEE metres
#7148,000°F 77 K #780,000°F 75 2K

Group's interest C51% Group’s interest : 100%

AN S P A #E 2R AN £ 1 P A5 #E 28

Expected construction  : Phase 2: completed; Construction . Completed

completion date Phase 3: under plannin completion date B®T

018




Dayi Shaqu project R& A2 W RI1EH

Chengdu West-Lake Future City B &5 75 4 5K 2 4

Location . Eastern new district of Dayi

ih B County, Chengdu City, Sichuan
Province, the PRC
HEIPD)IE R EBK B 5 R EB T
&

Usage : Residential and commercial

Rz EEREE

Site area : Approximately 516,000 square

A% TH AR metres
#7516,000F 75 K

Construction floor area

I EmIA

. Approximately 1,176,000 square

metres

#91,176,000F J5 K

Group's interest

REE FTL S

: 100%

Expected construction
completion date

TR T H &

: Phase 6 in 2Q 2025

FARE: ZEAFEC

Chengdu Xindu La

1yue Xian Huayuan

REFBREZ=TE

Location : Shaqu Subdistrict, Dayi County,

i Bh Chengdu City, Sichuan Province,
the PRC o
EEJII%EX%BK\%%Y);E&%

Usage : Residential

% (s

Site area . Approximately 44,000 square

3 A4 TE 1 metres
#944,000°F 75 K

Construction floor area

SR

. Approximately 114,000 square

metres

#7114,000F 75 2K

Location : No.7 Community, Tuojiang, No.7
3t Community, Hancheng Village,
Xindu Town, Xindu District,
Chengdu Sichuan Province, the
PRC
B 7 ) |14 Bk & T %7 80 I %7 AD R
ERPAT A I AT
Usage : R\esrlglentlal
A&
Site area . Approximately 44,000 square
b A2 A8

metres
#)44,000F 77 K

Group's interest

REEPTL S

: 100%

3
i
Ei
}un

: Approximately 140,000 square

metres
#7140,000F 75 K

Expected construction
completion date

T Bk T H &

. Under planning

HElF

: 51%

Chengdu Xindu Guiyu

Mingdi B & 37 BR A =E

Location : No.5 Community, Huamei Village,
i 2 Dafeng Town, Xindu District,
Chengdu, Sichuan Province, the
PRC
o B 70 1| 4 X 2B T 37 #DIE A 22
FAZESE A AL
Usage . Residential
A& F=®
Site area : Approximately 39,000 square
B EE metres
#939,000%F 75 K

Construction floor area

BRI

: Approximately 121,000 square

metres

#7121,000 5 2K

Group's interest

REE PTL 2

: 51%

Expected construction
completion date

TAER T A &

: Phase 1: completed;

Phase 2: 2Q 2025
—HB T ;
e ey
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GROUP PROPERTIES
ESLEVES

Hallstatt See T ¥ « [4 e 35 45 Foshan Academic Royale i |l L §#& « 52 X & 3

Location : Mai Tian Ling, Boluo County, Location . Lujingdong Road, Chancheng
3 2 Huizhou City, Guangdong I B District, Foshan, Guangdong
Province, the PRC Province, the PRC ‘
B R A BN TSRS M ;EE%%%MEﬁﬁﬁgi
Usage . Residential U RD e
% T sage © Residentia
i £ i F
Slt? areai + Approximately 918,000 square Site area . Approximately 43,000 square
AR E S metres A8 T 7S
T AEIR metres
#7918,000F 77 K 4943 0005 75 3K
Egggg%% floor area ﬁg.t)rrs:imately \1'549'000 Square g‘%)gt%%% floor area gper;rrg:imately 214,000 square
#71,549,000F J7 2K - #7214,000F 77 >
Group's interest : 100% Group's interest : 100%
REBEMEER REBEMEER
Expected construction : High risiolihase Vin 4Q 2025 Construction . Completed
completion date FERHREIN completion date [
TEH % T B A ZE-RFENF % T A5
Greenery Terrace Bl & Langyun Garden E /N EAE &
Location . Xingnan Main Road, Nancun Location : At Airport Expressway, Baiyun
o B County, Panyu District, i Bh District, Guangzhou, Guangdong
Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, Province, the PRC
the PRC REIERE BN AERES
g%;ﬁ;%‘ﬁ%d‘l‘lmﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁ SN S
=]
Usage . Residential Usage : Residential
) ot i A &
& Site area . Approximately 17,000 square Slt? aree, + Approximately 57,000 square
= RS T AR AR TE TS metres
o = metres 4 5K
£ #)17,000F 77 % #357,000°% 77 78
o . .
3 Construction floor area  : Approximately 29,000 square Construction floor area  : Approximately 130,000 square
5 4 = o / a MR SEE A metres
2 wEEmIE metres .
z #929,000F 75 K #9130,000F 77 2K
Group's interest : 100% Group's interest : 10%
REBEMEER REBMEER
Construction . Completed Construction . Completed
completion date B®T completion date B%®T
% T HE % T A5
Regent Heights ZEHBE & L5 Guangzhou River Skyline &M T X[
Location : Maogang Road, Huangpu District, Location . Complex on phase I of metro line
24 Guangzhou, Guangdong Province 3 B no. 13, Baiyun District,
the PRC Guangzhou, Guangdong Province,
FEERAEMNTEBR T M the PRC_ , X
2 FEER A BN T B EE i
U Residential 135k 4% — BAtESR UL IS UL AR S 88
: t
Fg?fl%e &e:%en “ Usage : Residential and commercial
A& TEREE
Site area . Approximately 21,000 square . ) .
a Ho A5 metres 5|tareai . Approximately 77,000 square
w T - AR EE metres
§ #21,000F 75 2K 4177 000 75 3K
o Construction floor area : Approximately 72,000 square Construction floor area  : Approximately 350000 square
g REBEER metres N BBEEE ‘ mperires ro ‘
< #972,000F 75 K #)350,000F 75 3k
4 Group's interest © 51% Group's interest 1 45.9%
E REBEFEER NEBE G ER
§ Construction : Completed Expected construction  : 4Q 2026
= completion date B%T completion date R RFENFE
% T HH 78 B vk T H &
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ParcOne Bl .- =&

The Greenville & #i fF

Location . Xiaxi Village, Yingdu Town, Nan'an
b B City, Quanzhou, Fujian Province,
the PRC e
Bl TR A RN T SR AR R
BE A
Usage : Industrial
ik I
Site area . Approximately 56,000 square
AR metres
#)56,000%F 75 5K
Construction floor area  : Approximately 81,000 square
B SEE IR metres
#781,000F 75 K
Group's interest . 70%
REBAIEER
Construction . Completed
completion date B®T

% T A

Location : Changling Road, Huangpu District, Location : Maluan Subdistrict, Pingshan

Hh2h Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, i Bh District, Shenzhen, Guangdong
the PRC s Province, the\fRC o
mEERERE/MNTERRKSE R ERE RIS L 5
B El

Usage : Residential Usage : Residential and commercial

A& = & EEREHE

Site area . Approximately 72,000 square Site area : Approximately 31,000 square

AR EE metres AR TS metres
#972,000°F 75 K #931,000°F 75 K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 258,000 square Construction floor area  : Approximately 178,000 square

MIEEEE metres AR AR metres
#9258,000F 77 K #7178,000F 15 K

Group’s interest : 51% Group’s interest ©51%

NEEFEER REBEFEER

Construction . Completed Construction : Completed

completion date BE®T completion date B®T

% T HH % T A H

Nan’an Project F 215 B Montego Bay B EE R =

Location : 18 Shung Shun Street, Yau Tong,
b 25 Kowloon, Hong Kong
BB N REREM 185
Usage . Residential
Rz =
Site area . Approximately 11,000 square
AR EE metres
#911,000%F 75 2K
Construction floor area : Approximately 65,000 square
BIEEEIE metres )
#765,000°F 75 2K
Group's interest : 100%
REEE#ER
Construction . Completed
completion date [y

% T H

MAJOR
INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES
ERBEDE

China Minmetals Tower FEl Z & K E

Location . 79 Chatham Road South,

bt Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BEBNERDBEREER LT
FL5%

Usage . Commercial

R& [HE

Lease term . Medium term

HEHR H R

LKF 29

Location : 29 Wyndham Street, Central, Hong

B Kong )
BERBFIRER MG =T %K

Usage . Commercial

R SE

Lease term . Long term

THEHAR =B
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
B R &

Dear Shareholders,

In 2024, the overall China’s real estate market was under pressure, with
variations in product profiles across cities and the market’s liquidity
remained bleak, making it a difficult year for real estate companies. The
real estate industry has entered into the most difficult stage after four
years of correction. China's property market has shown signs of
stabilization and uptick, fueled by multiple measures from both the
supply and demand sides rolled out at the end of 2024. However,
given the impact brought about by this round of sea change in the
market landscape, a recovery for the property market may take longer.
Looking back on the last year, the Group has been pursuing progress
while ensuring stability, promoting stability through progress, and
strictly controlling operational risks, so as to effectively respond to the
market uncertainties, and laid a foundation for passing through the
industry cycle despite the significant challenges of economic downturn
and unprecedented operational difficulties. In 2024, the Group's
consolidated revenue decreased by 21.8% year-on-year to $9,883
million; net loss for the year has been widened vyear-on-year to
HKS$3,748 million (2023: HKS$526 million); loss attributable to equity
holders of the Company was HK$3,521 million (2023: HKS$1,016 million);
and core loss attributable to equity holders of the Company* was
HKS566 million (2023: HK$44 million). The Board of Directors does not
recommend the declaration of a final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: no dividend), in order to retain more cash to
meet the challenges of an uncertain market and for future growth.

¥ “Core loss attributable to equity holders of the Company” excludes allowance for
impairment of inventories, share of impairment of inventories of associates and joint
ventures, exchange loss/gain, fair value changes of investment properties and

impairment loss recognized under expected credit loss model.
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Although China’s property market is still in the midst of turbulence, the
government has shown unwavering determination and confidence in
stabilization and reviving the real estate market. The unprecedented
regulatory policies have brought additional vigour to the market, and
the market has posted some positive changes, which have provided
the industry with new growth opportunities. Looking forward to 2025,
policy setting in respect of real estate is expected to remain
accommodative. 2025 is the final year of China’s 14th Five-Year Plan
and the preparatory year of the 15th Five-Year Plan, the Central
Economic Work Conference has set the tone of “stabilising the property
market’, and the market expectation is projected to improve by
enhanced policies. Overall, the market will be wavering at the bottom
in the short run, despite the high inventory will take time to digest
with ongoing oversupply situation, coupled with the destocking
pressure from product iteration, second-hand housing and social
housing supply. However, against the backdrop of a low base, the
transaction volume declines are expected to narrow gradually and get
back to a growth track, achieving property market stabilisation and
rebound ultimately.

Out with the old, in with the new. Minmetals Land will focus on “Live,
Hold and Go" as main lines of effort for the new year, albeit it is still a
year of pressure, difficulties and challenges, and thrive against the
industry headwind.

HATEEHEDHDHERRZF  BR
fFEBEBBARLEELEBESE  HEE
AMBRBERREL AN MERBER

“EohF BHETEBRRDBEERS
ERMRE - —CE-RFRITHEAIREKE
ZE - HBRITAAIBERRARHORZE -+
RQEIFEZEHBEET]  SHEEE
MABLHETIZEIEE - BEKF - 28
MSDREERE  SEWEFDHEREHE
£ fUBRKOMRINBIHE - MEERE
R ZFEMREFSHEYEEFRGRM
BH - BEREHESR TEAKRIRRERE
BEFRELELEOERER  KKEHR
P EM 5 L KM -

ERCE - FERR - F—F  BENIE
NEM - REERE - KBALTH—F  OiEH
ESUDETE MR E E/EMERTIE
IR EITRRRPEERT
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
B R

First of all, we must ensure “survival’, putting destocking and risk
prevention as a top priority, and attempting every possible means to
increase revenue as well as decrease expenditure and losses. In
addition, the Group will strictly adhere to the bottom line of capital
security, strive to recover the balance sheet, and ensure that the no
default on its debt, no delivery with unfinished project and no
conservative development. Market transaction activities have been close
to the bottom over the past year with signals of stabilisation have
gradually emerged, the industry may gradually come out of the trough
in 2025. The Group will capture the opportunities brought by policy
and market stabilisation to facilitate sales activities and cash collection,
laying a solid foundation for weathering the cycle. Furthermore, the
Group will make efforts to improve cash flow and safeguard capital
resources, actively reduce liabilities and ensure the continuity of its
borrowings. In the meantime, the Group will continue to push forward
with cost-cutting and efficiency enhancement, with a plan to reduce
non-productive expenditures by 10% as compared to that of the
previous year, in order to achieve its expected operating targets.

Secondly, we must ‘hold out, replenishing new high-quality projects in
a timely manner, accelerating the development of diversified
businesses, carrying out internal synergies and management service,
increasing the proportion of light-asset businesses, and accelerating the
formation of a new business landscape. Minmetals Land will stick to the
strategic transformation goal of an urban integrated operator, and
proactively integrate into the parent company’s multi-industry chained
development model with a strategic business portfolio of one core, two
wings and three supports, so as to provide strategic support for pulling
through the cycle. Firstly, we will endeavour to enhance our expertise
to further enhance our real estate development business; secondly, we
will step up our efforts to expand property management business as
soon as possible; thirdly, we will improve our operational capabilities
and be professional in commercial management; and fourthly, we will
intensify the industry-city business by establishing benchmark projects.
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Last but not least, we will focus on ‘go further’, by actively build a new
real estate development model, and endeavour to seize the new
development opportunities arising from the industry’s restructuring.
Minmetals Land will adhere to the parallelism between incremental
construction and inventory operation, fully implement the requirements
of combining development and operation, complementing monism
and pluralism, taking both short-term and long-term into account,
pairing light assets with heavy assets, and placing equal emphasis on
the market and policies. The Group will undertake innovation in forms,
technology, product on its own initiative, improve the quality of
operation, build up core competitiveness, providing strong support for
sustainable development and accelerating the establishment of the
Group's new development model.

This year will be a year with both opportunities and challenges.
Minmetals Land will meet the challenges with resilience, pull through
the cycle with spirit of innovation, and stride towards the bright future
with true grit.

RRERZERIER/E] ERERFHBER
RIRN - BAIETEAROERNEE -
IRMESRFEEERAGFEELLT
PHEEMASEBLES  —TRZTHE
7t HERIRE  HEERSEERL
TIZEBRABOEF - TEHFRBEAAIF -
RAgRIFT - EmAF - RAKEHEE  BiER
LB RAREERRERANZE I
REZhEMEZRRFIER -

e — - R EE TR - AREE
AR B N R ) R AR B DR - DARIFTROHE
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MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B S gy

OPERATION REVIEW
Overview

In 2024, the downturn in China's real estate sector entered its fourth
year, with both sales and investment, dropping by double digits.
During the year, facing complicated environment with ongoing market
downturn, the Group focused on cash flow management, insisted on
steady operation with stringent control of operational risks. During the
year, the Group achieved consolidated revenue of HK$9,883 million,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 21.8%; the core loss
attributable to the equity holders of the Company' amounted to
approximately HK$566 million. Taking into account the provisions for
impairment loss relating to real estate development projects and fair
value changes of investment properties, which are non-cash in nature,
the Group recorded a net loss attributable to equity holders of the
Company of approximately HK$3,521 million for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: HK$1,016 million). The above-mentioned
provisions for impairments made during the year were intended to
reflect the latest market conditions amidst fragile property market
sentiment.

Note 1: “Core loss attributable to equity holders of the Company” excludes provision for
impairment of inventories, share of impairment of inventories of associates and
joint ventures, exchange gains and losses, fair value changes of investment
properties and impairment loss recognised under expected credit loss model.
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Business Development

(1)

Real Estate Development
Contracted Sales

In 2024, the central government responded decisively by
continuously enhancing policy to stabilise the property market.
These actions, addressing both the supply and demand sides to
stabilise the real estate market, began with a proposal at the
meeting of the Political Bureau of the Central Committee in April
to “absorb existing property inventory and optimise the supply of
new housing”, followed by efforts in September to “promote the
stabilisation and recovery of the property market,” and an
emphasis in December on “stabilising the property market”.
However, while some cities have shown signs of stabilisation,
overall uncertainty in the market remains relatively high. The
market as a whole was still in the process of bottoming out, with
a challenging path toward stability.

RBEZREN

(-) BHERRE
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SRIHE
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MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
O L e oy

(2)

032

The contracted sales of the Company together with its
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in 2024 decreased by
37.9% year-on-year to RMB7.02 billion (2023: RMB11.30 billion)
whilst the gross floor area (“GFA”) contracted for sale decreased
by 24.1% year-on-year to 421,000 square meters (2023: 555,000
square meters). The Group's contracted sales were mainly derived
from the real estate development projects in Tier 1 and core Tier
2 cities.

The contracted sales breakdown was listed as below:

KARERENBRR - A% QA M
BRAZ ZEZNFEALNEERIRT
TFE37.9%ZE702B T ARE (ZE ==
FB0ETARE)  AHHEERE
HEE(EEERE]ZF TME241%
Z421,000°F F >k (ZF — =4 : 555,000
FEHK)  AEEANBEERTERE
—HB RO T B ERREIER o

BRHEBBRT

For the year ended 31 December

BEZt-A=1-BLEE

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
Contracted Contracted Contracted Contracted
amount GFA amount GFA
Location 1t 26 BHEE AHEEEEE ANEE AYNEBEERE
(RMB million) (sq.m.) (RMB million) (sq.m.)
(AR¥BER) (FrK) (ARBBEER) (F7K)
Pan Bohai Rim REGHE 2,359 150,388 3,955 162,121
Yangtze River Delta R=ZAE 702 34,407 2014 67,023
Central China Region ZhiR 1,190 94,348 1,540 132,194
Chengdu-Chongging Region A 686 49,645 1238 86,483
Pearl River Delta K=-AiE
(including Hong Kong) (BREEHE) 2,078 92,051 2,549 107,126
Total st 7,015 420,839 11,29 554,947
Specialised Construction (=) BXEFE

In 2024, the Hong Kong property market remained in the
doldrums with intensified market competition and a significant
shrinking market capacity. In the face of the challenges, the
Group insisted on stable operation, optimised its organisational
structure and management processes, as well as strengthened its
technology and core competitiveness to ensure long-term
development.
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During the year, settlement management of the Montego Bay
project in Yau Tong and the A3 project of SkyCity at Hong Kong
International Airport served as a focus of specialized construction
business, optimising the resources allocation and maintaining
financial stability. At the same time, the Group proactively
adjusted its strategy to expand into the government public works
market to minimise risks arising from market fluctuations and
enhance counter-cyclical capacities.

Although no new projects were launched during the year, the
Group still maintained its competitive advantage with optimized
management model, profound technical accumulation and
prudent risk management, and was well prepared for the market
recovery to ensure sustainable business growth.

Property Investment

The Group's property investment business primarily comprises
two commercial office buildings in Hong Kong, namely China
Minmetals Tower in Tsimshatsui and LKF29 in Central. As at
31 December 2024, LKF29 recorded an occupancy rate of 75.3%
(2023: 91.8%), decreased by 16.5% year-on-year; while China
Minmetals Tower underwent further renovation and replanning
of office space for leasing in 2024 to enhance its market
competitiveness with an occupancy rate of 86.9% (2023: 91.9%),
representing a year-on-year decrease of 5.0%.
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Land Bank

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's total developable GFA (“Land
Bank”) amounted to 5,761,000 square meters. The composition of the
Group's Land Bank was listed as below:

+ i fE

RZZ_WE+_A=+—H KrEE&H
AAEneEEEES ([LHREEH]) R57618
FHOK e REBE T MFAEHARINT

Percentage share

City Tier 9T AR B Land Bank of Land Bank
15 1 i 5
T th {4 Baotk

('000 sg.m.)

("000°F A 3K)
First tier cities — R 1,739 30.2%
Second tier cities T 2,069 35.9%
Third tier cities =Rk 1,953 33.9%
Total et 5,761 100.0%
Percentage share
Location i Bh Land Bank of Land Bank
15 i
T thfE Bok

('000 sg.m.)

('000%F 75 K)
Pan Bohai Rim REEHE 2,057 35.7%
Yangtze River Delta k=AM 200 3.5%
Central China Region i@ 1,045 18.1%
Chengdu-Chongging Region A b [ 1,204 20.9%
Pearl River Delta (including Hong Kong) H=—AtE (B2EEE) 1,255 21.8%
Total HEt 5,761 100.0%

Entrusted Asset Management EtEEER

During the year, the Group recorded a management service income of
RMB2.4 million under the entrusted management service agreement, of
which China Minmetals entrusted the Company with the management
of its non-listed assets within its real estate development segment,
including real estate development projects in Beijing, Tianjin, Shenyang,
Liaoning, Jiangsu, Hunan and Guangdong.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Bt %5 [0 R
PN

REENBWAEXEREEMERE HER
BRMERE=—[ES - —E_NFE - A%
BMERE WA B8SIEE I BEFH12631
BATLIEF TFE21.8% °

The Group's revenue was primarily derived from three business
segments, namely real estate development, specialised construction
and property investment. The Group’s consolidated revenue in 2024
amounted to HK$9,883 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of
21.8% as compared to HK$12,631 million last year.

REBGEERAZBXAT

The Group's consolidated revenue breakdown was listed as below:

For the year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=+-HLFE

2024 2023
—E-gE —E-=
Percentage Percentage
share of share of Year-on-year
HK$ million revenue HKS million revenue change
LT 9N fEEA
HEAR Botk BEAT Btk REEE
Real estate development FHMELRE 9,832 99.5% 12,308 97.4% -20.1%
Specialised construction BEEE 1 - 272 2.2% -99.6% =
Property investment MERE 50 0.5% 51 04% -2.0% g
%d
Total st 9,883 100.0% 12,631 100.0% -21.8% [l
Due to the decrease in the scale of real estate projects recognised HRFEARNBHEEBLERE K KEEH
during the year, the Group's revenue from the real estate development B & 2 & ¥ 75 W AIRF FE20.1% 2983218
business decreased by 20.1% to HK$9,832 million (2023: HK$12,308 BT (=F — =4 : 1230888 L) » (hANEE
million) as compared to last year and accounted for 99.5% of the 4R& URAKI095% - EHE R EKMNTEF R
Group'’s consolidated revenue. Gross profit margin of the real estate 1ZF TN OEAB DB E65%(ZT = =F
development business decreased by 11.0 percentage points to 6.5% 17.5%) * T B R FANEEMBEEKETHT
(2023: 17.5%) as compared to last year, mainly due to various sales FREVEBIEFHEHEEBRENNZIEHEERE
strategies for real estate development business had been adopted in  {2ETHB HE Eb > EMERLEHEEF R
response to market conditions, including adjustments in sales prices to  [EAEHEZEREIBEBLLE % -
promote the sales of the projects that resulted in more real estate
development projects with lower gross profit margins were recognised
during the year.
Since projects on-hand have almost reached the completion stage and BHEEEEKWAKRE TEEZHREFE
the absence of new projects were undertaken during the year, BEI I BFERNRAEZFIER -
specialised construction business recorded a massive drop in revenue. [y
o
i
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Revenue from the property investment business decreased by 2.0% to
HKS$50 million (2023: HK$51 million) as compared to last vyear,
accounting for 0.5% of the Group's consolidated revenue. The revenue
from the property investment business is mainly derived from two
commercial buildings in Hong Kong. Gross profit margin of the
property investment business increased by 0.2 percentage points to
65.7% (2023: 65.5%) as compared to last year.

The Group's overall gross profit margin decreased to 6.1% from 17.2%
as compared to last year, mainly due to the gross profit margin of the
products recognised from the real estate development business during
the period was lower than that of last year.

Other Income

The Group’s other income decreased by 17.3% year-on-year to HK$86
million (2023: HK$104 million), mainly due to the significant year-on-
year decrease in consulting fees from fellow subsidiaries.

Fair Value Changes on Investment Properties

The Group recorded a fair value loss on investment properties of
HKS$187.0 million in 2024 (2023: HK$2.3 million), mainly due to the weak
demand for office and retail space during the year and the continued
pressure on the market rental levels for both renewed and newly
leased properties.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

The Group's selling and marketing expenses increased by 28.6% to
HKS$535 million (2023: HK$416 million) as compared to last year, mainly
due to the sales commissions and related sales and marketing
expenses are charged to profit or loss during the year as a result of the
delivery of the Montego Bay in Hong Kong during the year.

Administrative and Other Expenses
The Group's administrative and other expenses decreased by 17.1% to
HK$488 million (2023: HK$589 million) as compared to last year, mainly

due to the Group's stringent measures to reduce non-core and
non-essential operating expenses.
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Provision for Impairment of Inventories

During the year, prices of some of the Group’s projects declined to
varying degrees amid the sluggish real estate market. The Group made
an impairment provision of HKS$1,741 million (2023: HK$503 million) for
inventories with indications of impairment.

Impairment loss recognised under expected credit
loss model, net

The Group made an impairment provision of HK$366 million for other
receivables with indications of impairment, mainly arising from the
expected credit loss on other receivables associated with several joint
ventures and associates (2023: HK$174 million).

Finance Costs

The Group's finance costs charged to the statement of profit or loss
increased by 12.2% to HK$535 million (2023: HK$477 million) as
compared to last year, mainly due to the declining interest
capitalisation rate as a result of the completion of some projects during
the year.

Share of Results of Associates

The Group's share of loss of associates increased by 291.9% to HK$823
million (2023: HK$210 million) as compared to last year. The loss was
mainly due to the associates made a provision for the impairment of
inventories with indications of impairment, which resulted in an
increase in the proportionate share of loss by the Group.

Share of Results of Joint Ventures

The Group's share of profit of joint ventures increased by 76.5% to
HKS60 million (2023: HK$34 million) as compared to last year, mainly
attributable to the recognition of revenue by certain joint ventures of
the Group.

Loss and Core Loss Attributable to Equity Holders of
the Company

In view of the above, the Group’s net loss was HKS$3,748 million (2023:
HKS$526 million), representing a year-on-year increase of 612.5%. The
loss attributable to equity holders of the Company was HK$3,521
million (2023: HK$1,016 million), representing a year-on-year increase of
246.6%. Core loss attributable to equity holders of the Company was
HKS566 million (2023: HK$44 million). The basic loss per share was
HK105.19 cents (2023: HK30.34 cents).
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Financial Position

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's total assets decreased by 23.4%
to HKS$41,031 million (2023: HKS$53,575 million) whilst net assets
decreased by 35.5% to HKS$9,257 million (2023: HK$14,348 million). The
decrease in net assets was mainly attributable to the loss attributable
to equity holders of the Company of HKS$3,521 million as well as the
capital reduction and dividend distribution to shareholders for joint
projects totalling HK$1,011 million during the year.

The contract liabilities, which mainly represent pre-sale proceeds
received by the Group that will subsequently be recognised as the
Group's revenue when presold properties are completed and delivered
to buyers. During the year, the Group's contract liabilities decreased by
71.1% to HKS$1,648 million (2023: HKS$5,707 million), which was mainly
due to the Group's recognised revenue exceeding the receipt from new
contracted sales during the year.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s gearing ratio (total liabilities to
total assets) was 77.4% (2023: 73.2%). The gearing ratio, net of contract
liabilities and deferred revenue, was 76.4% (2023: 69.9%). The net
gearing ratio (net debt to total equity) was 203.3% (2023: 138.0%). The
increase in net gearing ratio was mainly due to the loss attributable to
the equity holders of the Company of HK$3,521 million during the year.

During the year, the Group’s working capital was mainly derived from
cash flows generated from business operations and borrowings.

For offshore financing, the Group entered into a 2-year club loan
agreement of HKS$2.6 billion with certain banks in January 2024 and
issued a total of RMB1.0 billion 366-day credit enhancement bonds
from March to April 2024, the proceeds of which were used to replace
the existing Hong Kong dollar borrowings. In terms of onshore
financing, the Group entered into serval construction loans in the first
half of 2024. The Group proactively adjusted its borrowing structure to
increase the proportion of RMB borrowings and reduce the size of
offshore borrowings, and actively reduced the size of borrowings to
effectively safeguard the Company’s capital.

Total borrowings of the Group amounted to HK$21,683 million as at
31 December 2024 (2023: HK$23,317 million). The Group will continue
to optimize its borrowings portfolio and step up its borrowings
reduction.
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The maturity profile of the Group’s borrowings was as follows:

AEBEZERBHBERMT

31 December 2024
—E-ME+ZA=1+—H

31 December 2023
—EZ=%+ZA=1+—H

Percentage Percentage

share of share of

HKS$ million borrowings HKS million borrowings

AR 11

BHEBT B BEAT ERid

Within one year —&RQ 16,295 75.2% 15,223 65.3%
In the second year E_4F 4,316 19.9% 2,077 8.9%
In the third to fifth year B=FEERF 743 3.4% 6,017 25.8%
More than five years HEEMNUE 329 1.5% — —
Total Bst 21,683 100.0% 23317 100.0%

The currency profile of the Group’s borrowings was as follows:

AEBEZBHREEBEROT

31 December 2024
“E-_mE+=ZA=1t—H

31 December 2023
—E-=ZF+-R=+—H

Percentage Percentage

share of share of

HK$ million borrowings HKS million borrowings

EfE ER=E

BHEAET Bt BEATL At

Hong Kong Dollar BT 8,785 40.5% 11,271 48.3%
Renminbi AR 10,521 48.5% 7,359 31.6%
United States Dollar xT 2,377 11.0% 4,687 20.1%
Total “st 21,683 100.0% 23,317 100.0%

The Group was in the progress of obtaining waivers from banks for
non-compliance with the financial covenants of certain facility
agreements with bank borrowings amounting to HK$9,878 million,
which also caused cross defaults to other bank borrowings amounting
to HKS$1,762 million as at 31 December 2024. Non-compliance with the
financial covenants and causing cross defaults give the banks the
unconditional right to demand repayment at any time. In accordance
with HKAS 1, the non-current portion of the aforementioned
borrowings, which have not been given waivers before 31 December
2024, amounting to HK$8,174 million have been reclassified to current
liabilities as at 31 December 2024. As at the reporting date, the Group
has not received any loan repayment notice from banks to repay the
aforementioned borrowings.
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During the year, the finance cost recognised in profit or loss amounted
to HKS$535 million (2023: HKS$477 million) after deducting of
capitalisation of HK$674 million (2023: HK$886 million) into properties
under development.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's cash and bank deposits
(excluding restricted cash and bank deposits) amounted to HK$2,822
million (2023: HKS$3,411 million), of which 76.9%,19.1% and 4.0% (2023:
93.7%, 5.9% and 0.4%) were denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong
dollar and United States dollar respectively. The unutilised banking
facilities of the Group as at 31 December 2024 amounted to HKS$4,089
million (2023: HK$6,996 million).

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE
RATES AND INTEREST RATES

Exchange Rate Risk

The Group's principal business is located in Mainland China where
revenue is primarily denominated in Renminbi and external financing is
primarily denominated in Hong Kong dollar. The Group is exposed to
exchange rate risk in transactions that are denominated in a currency
other than Hong Kong dollar, the reporting and functional currency of
the Company. The Group has been closely monitoring the fluctuation
in Renminbi exchange rate and has considered necessary measures to
minimise the impact arising from exchange rate fluctuation including
adjustment to the proportion of borrowings in foreign currencies and
utilisation of foreign exchange hedging instruments such as forward
foreign exchange contracts or capped forward contracts.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group is also exposed to interest rate risk resulting from
fluctuation in interest rates. Most of the Group's borrowings bear a
floating rate and therefore, an increase in interest rate would raise the
Group's finance costs. In order to mitigate the interest rate risk, the
Group entered into an interest rate swap contract in which the Group
would receive interest of one-month HIBOR and pay monthly interest at
a fixed rate based on the notional amount of HKS$0.8 billion. As at
31 December 2024, 41.3% (2023: 27.6%) of the Group's borrowings
bears interest at a fixed rate, while the remaining balance bears interest
at a floating rate.

As at 31 December 2024, save as disclosed above, the Group did not
have/held any financial instruments for hedging or speculative
purposes.
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CHARGES ON ASSETS OF THE GROUP

As at 31 December 2024, certain assets of the Group were pledged to
secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group and mortgage
loan facilities to the purchasers of the Group’s properties, and these
pledged assets of the Group included:

inventories with carrying amounts of HKS$4,265 million (2023:
HK$13,515 million);

ii. property, plant and equipment with carrying amounts of HK$312
million (2023: HK$272 million); and

iil. investment properties with carrying amounts of HK$317 million
(2023: HK$274 million).

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, guarantees given to banks for mortgage
facilities granted to purchasers of the Group's properties amounted to
HK$4,681 million (2023: HKS$7,051 million). Such guarantees will
terminate upon the earlier of (i) the issuance of the property ownership
certificate (generally within one year after the purchasers take
possession of the relevant properties); or (ii) the repayment of
mortgage loans by the purchasers. After taking into account the net
realisable value of these properties and the low default rate, the
Directors consider that the fair value of the financial guarantee at initial
recognition and subsequently at the end of subsequent reporting
period is not significant.

EMPLOYEES

The total number of staff (including the Directors) of the Group,
decreased 7.0% to 1,017 (2023: 1,094) as at 31 December 2024. The
Group will continue to adopt a remuneration policy in line with market
practice where it operates. The total remuneration and benefits for the
Directors and staff of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
amounted to HK$392 million (2023: HK$425 million).
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report for
the year ended 31 December 2024,

The Directors and the management of the Company are committed to
and responsible for the maintenance of good corporate governance
practices. The Board has put in place a corporate governance structure
for the Company which is principally responsible for setting directions,
formulating strategies, monitoring performance and managing risks of
the Group. The respective Board committees oversee particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs and perform their distinct roles in accordance
with their respective terms of reference.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

In the opinion of the Directors, throughout the year ended
31 December 2024, the Company has complied with the code
provisions of the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules, except for deviations from code provisions B.2.2 and C2.1.

Pursuant to code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code, every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. While pursuant
to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Company acts as an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries (together with the Company, the
“Group”) include real estate development, specialised construction and
property investment. As a leading real estate developer, the Group
strives to provide high quality and reliable products and services and to
create value for stakeholders through innovative and sustainable
development.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS EEg

The Board assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of the ZEEE@BEFEERERARGZET T E
Company and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising B ERENREEARRFZ2EL  MARF]
the Company’s affairs. The day-to-day management, administration and ~EIEABRIWEGRHITARG2AEERE -
operation of the Company, however, are delegated to the management T KR & EFEF o

of the Company.

The Board comprises nine members as at the date of this Annual RAFREH  EFSHABESHK © 715

Report, the composition of which is set out below: Bt
Sustainable
Development
Remuneration ~ Nomination Committee

Name of Directors

Designation

Audit Committee  Committee Committee AKERR

EEpg B ENZEEE FMWERE REZE® ZE8
Mr. He Jianbo Chairman & Executive Director M C C
{8 & 4 IRERRTES
Mr. Liu Bo Managing Director & M
Executive Director
ElySta BERRABRHTES
Mr. Chen Xingwu Deputy Managing Director & M o
Executive Director [ts
RER EFREAERATES i
iy
Mr. Yang Shangping Deputy Managing Director & '
Executive Director
BRTEE EFRRCBRRTES
Ms. He Xiaoli Non-executive Director
) Brt FRITESF
Mr. Huang Guoping Non-executive Director
BETEE FNTES
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy Independent Non-executive Director M M M
b B A BUFHITES
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny Independent Non-executive Director M C M
BREWMERL BUFNTES
Professor Wang Xiuli Independent Non-executive Director C M M
IABARK BUFHTES
C: Chairman M: Member T
C:EBM:KE S
=
T
b
=
E@
H
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Biographical details of Directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors’ and Senior Management's Profile” in this Annual Report. To
the best knowledge of the Company, there is no financial, business,
family or other material or relevant relationships amongst members of
the Board.

The Company has complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules
to have at least three Independent Non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of members of the Board and with at
least one Independent Non-executive Director possessing appropriate
accounting and financial management expertise and professional
qualifications.

The Company received written confirmations from each of the
Independent Non-executive Directors confirming their independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that
all of the Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

All Independent Non-executive Directors hold directorships in no more
than seven listed companies (including the Company) and would be
able to devote sufficient time and attention to perform their duties.

Each of the Non-executive Directors (except Mr. Huang Guoping) and
Independent Non-executive Directors, have entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years. Mr. Huang
Guoping as a Non-executive Director, has no fixed term of service with
the Company. All Non-executive Directors and Independent
Non-executive Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the annual general meeting at least once every three
years in accordance with the Bye-laws.

Every Director, including those appointed for a specific term, are
subject to retirement by rotation in the manner as set out in code
provision B.2.2 of the CG Code save for the Chairman and the
Managing Director of the Company where they are not required to do
so pursuant to the Private Company Act 1981 of Bermuda under which
the Company is incorporated.

The Directors acknowledge that they have a duty to act in good faith
and in the best interests of the Company and commit themselves to
spend sufficient time to perform their duties. They are also aware of
their collective and individual responsibility to Shareholders. As such,
they have taken active interest in the Company’s affairs and obtained
thorough understanding of the business of the Company.
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Deviating from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, Mr. He Jianbo, an
Executive Director of the Company, serves as the Chairman of the
Board. He is responsible for the overall strategic direction of the Group,
management of the Board as well as organising the management of
the Company for strategic planning and business operations thereby
enabling more effective implementation of long-term strategies. It is
believed that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured
as major decisions have been made in consultation with the Board,
which comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors and two
Non-executive Directors offering their experience, expertise,
independent advice and views from different perspective.

The Company has established “Mechanisms Ensuring Independent
Views Available to the Board” for Directors to seek independent
professional advice in the discharge of their duties and responsibilities,
and to ensure that independent views and input are available to the
Board. The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of such
mechanisms annually.

The Company enables the Directors, upon request, to seek advice from
independent professional advisers at the Company's expense in the
process of discharging their duties. The Company has also arranged for
appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in respect of legal
action against Directors arising from corporate activities.

During the year, a total of four Board meetings and two general
meetings were held. Notice of regular Board meetings is given to all
Directors at least fourteen days in advance. The attendance of Directors
at the above meetings in 2024 is as follows:

BRINEEEETRIZTRIEXEC211& » &
RAMTEFMRREENRESTE IR
AEAEEERRRBERLNEES ZEEE
B WHABARREERBETRERERERS
BEESEE LA S ARBERARLH
TRERR ERNBEAREDEHEFTER
BEREL MEFERN=-UBIRTES
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g -

ARARBA VI ERESFSIESH LA
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FAK

ARBIABEFER  RHELEXERRA
HIRHBYEXER UBPHETHESRR
B MBEERABARRXN  AARTE L
HEMNEEFNSREBABZEERRE &
EFRHTARIFEHMS| BUAEFREFE
& -

ARARFARTTHRAEZTS A LMK
BRAE  -EFETMEAZBANE  HRE
FBTAMNELTHREREEBESF &
EERN_FTMOFLEFELRERIBRAT

Number of meetings attended/held

HE T BITEERE

Board Meeting General Meeting
Name of Directors EEME =% BRRRXE
Mr. He Jianbo Al 882 5 A 4/4 2/2
Mr. Liu Bo 2R HE 4/4 2/2
Mr. Chen Xingwu PR 8L i, 5T A 4/4 2/2
Mr. Yang Shangping 15 18 F S A 4/4 0/2
Ms. He Xiaoli /N L 4/4 2/2
Mr. Huang Guoping EHEFEE 4/4 2/2
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy AR S A 4/4 2/2
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny OB L 3/4 1/2
Professor Wang Xiuli FEBHK 4/4 2/2
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On appointment to the Board, the newly appointed Director receives a
comprehensive induction package and training covering the Company’s
constitutional documents, internal policies, guidance and procedures as
well as the general, statutory and regulatory obligations of being a
Director to ensure that he/she is thoroughly aware of his/her
responsibility under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulations.

The Directors are regularly briefed on the amendments or updates to
the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices and other regulatory
regimes. The Company provides monthly reports to Directors which
contain updates on business development and financial information of
the Group. During the year, the Company arranged in-house training
sessions on board functions and responsibilities for the relationship
between independent non-executive directors and executive directors,
conducted by The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development.
The individual training record of Directors for the year ended
31 December 2024 is set out below:

EMAZEEER FTEEFHESHROA
BEMNEY BEAAFTESEREXT A
HBERER - I MEFARERESE K &
BREERESENEMBERITREEZER
VATE (R 2 78 70 B R E 70 B 7 AR B e A 4 B8
EEMROITZEE

BN - ERTEMEMN EHHRA - 2RER
FREEMEREGINERTRENNER -
ARBANEBANESRHEAEERAER
BEREMBEEMZRE - RAFER - KNQF]
DR THEEREEREREEE NGRS
MFMTEFERTEFRCESTRER
BIEMABEIIRIE -

FMEEFEHASARBESEXERRIE - RE
E_T_WEFT_A=T-HIEFE BF
B2 EmT

Attending

expert briefings,

Briefings & seminars &
updates on conferences
business and/or reading

operations & materials of the

compliance seminars
matters HEFEEFEFEE -
FHEKEER WMIEkmE
REEEZE®R %= EE
Name of Directors ==} EEHER iR
Executive Directors: HITES:
Mr. He Jianbo fa] 81188 5 4 v v
Mr. Liu Bo 2% v v/
Mr. Chen Xingwu BeR 4 X 5 A v v/
Mr. Yang Shangping 5w v v/
Non-executive Directors: FHITES:
Ms. He Xiaoli /B L v v
Mr. Huang Guoping |mE TS E v/ v
Independent Non-executive Directors: B IEHTESE :
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy AR ST A v v
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny WS L v/ 4
Professor Wang Xiuli EFEBHK v 4
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CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has established a set of guidelines as its own “Rules and
Procedures for Directors and Relevant Employees of the Company in
respect of Dealings in Securities of the Company” (the “Rules for
Securities Transactions”) on terms no less exacting than those
contained in the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules. Having made specific enquiries, all the Directors have confirmed
in writing that they have complied with the Rules for Securities
Transactions throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing financial
statements that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and its results and cash flows for the relevant financial period.
The Directors are also responsible for the timely publication of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024, the Directors confirmed that the consolidated financial
statements had been prepared in accordance with the statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards, made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable, and the
consolidated financial statements had been prepared on a going
concern basis.

The Directors confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the
best of their knowledge, information and belief, they are not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern.

The statement made by Ernst & Young, the independent auditor of the
Company, about their reporting responsibility on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 is set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” in this Annual
Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems for the
Group and, through the Audit Committee, for reviewing the
effectiveness of such systems annually, so as to protect Shareholders’
interest and safeguard the Group’s assets. The Board has authorised the
management to design, implement and maintain its risk management
and internal control systems by clearly defining responsibility, authority
and accountability. Under the guidance of the Audit Committee, the
Internal Audit Department of the Company monitors the risk
management and internal control systems by conducting independent
reviews.

The Board acknowledges that effective risk management and internal
control are essential for business growth and sustainability of the Group
in the long-term. The risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage rather than to eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

A. Risk Management Framework

The Group adopts a “top-down” and “bottom-up” approach
whereby the three lines of defence of business units, the
management and the Internal Audit Department working
together to identify, assess and manage significant risks at
corporate, operational and functional aspects.

Each business unit and its management team are responsible for
managing its own risks in the course of daily operations. It
requires the identifying, measuring and monitoring of the
management measures of individual risk to ensure that it is
within the risk appetite of the Group. It also requires the
implementation of risk management plans as recommended by
the Internal Audit Department and the Audit Committee to
address those significant risks that may affect business
operations.
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The Audit Committee together with the Internal Audit
Department and management regularly monitor and update the
Group's risk profile and appetite. By reviewing business and
operation reports from Internal Audit Department and the
management, the Audit Committee assists the Board to oversee
the risk management and internal control systems on an
on-going bases and review its effectiveness with the Internal
Audit Department.

Under the direction of the Audit Committee, the Internal Audit
Department follows a risk-oriented approach to furnish annual
internal audit plan. The Internal Audit Department performs
internal audit works and furnishes report findings to the Audit
Committee that provide the Audit Committee with independent
and objective assessment on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. The
major internal audit works of the year include audit reviews of
operations, controlling mechanism, legal compliance and
compliance of internal rules and regulations. Special attention
was given to matters involving significant risks or changes.

Internal audit reports are presented at the Audit Committee
meetings. Major findings and recommendation are followed up
and reported to the Audit Committee on a regular basis. Minutes
of the Audit Committee meetings are then tabled at Board
meetings to report the Audit Committee’s findings on risk
management and internal control issues such as changes in the
nature and extent of significant risks since the last review, those
newly identified significant risks that require the attention of the
Board, and the recommendation or opinion on management’s
response thereto.

The Company regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information in accordance with its “Policy on Disclosure of Inside
Information” to ensure that inside information remains
confidential until such time as it is disclosed and disseminated in
an efficient and consistent manner.
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B. Significant Risks and Control Measures B. EAEMREZEER
Significant risks have been identified through the process of risk B K B #E [ B 7 Bl e AT A AR A5 A R
identification and assessment. A summary of the significant risks Bl o BEAAEBNF RN 2 EXERER
of the Group together with the relevant internal control HARE 2 NEBES R LN T
measures imposed during the year is listed below.
a.  Market Risk 5 E
Market risk is the key challenge of the Group. All of the misEREArAEEEEN —EE
Group's residential and commercial property development RER - AEBEFAEREAKE
and investment in Mainland China are subject to risks EREEMETRREE X
associated with the PRC property market such as policy BREE - HkBETE  BEKL
change, demand-supply rebalance, change in general BEARRE R EE HRIE R E R
economic conditions and availability of financing which B EmSEREEMTE
may pose an adversely affected on the Group's financial SUAEENMEREEMRNE
and operation condition. AT FE o
b.  Operational Risk EERE
Operational risk is another significant risk identified by the LERRBRRAEENFE AR
Group during the year. The events of default caused by S—HEXRAR REFFPEEK
purchasers and strategic partners together with human BUEEBEAORETAE UK
< error and system inadequacies or failure can have an ABKRRZFED B KR
s impact on the Group's operations, resulting in financial B g AEENEETRIEHA
S loss, litigation, and reputational damage. T8 SIBBKELX  EEFA
< REERIE -
S
z
< c¢.  Review of Risk Management and Internal Control B EERASEZERGEZ BT
Systems
The Board, through the Audit Committee, reviews the EEZEFEBBEREEERTAR
effectiveness of the Company's risk management and AEREERANNEERSGNE
internal control systems. The Audit Committee instructs B BEREE R TIAEER
the Internal Audit Department to carry out independent HaTEyuEE N HRERER
reviews to assess the effectiveness of the risk management R BRI 6l R 5 8 B JUE -
and internal control systems.
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The management of the business units annually review
and update their risk registers to ensure that effective
controls are in place. They also conduct self-assessment on
internal control annually and confirm that appropriate
internal control policies and procedures have been
established and are being properly followed. Having regard
to the Group's risk appetite (i.e. the extent of risk the
Group is willing to take in pursuit of its strategic and
business objectives), the Audit Committee reviews the
following with reference to the assessment made by the
management and the Internal Audit Department to assess
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems:

a. the provision of timely and comprehensive
information to the Audit Committee and the Board
to enable effective assessment of the monitoring
measures within the Group such as the reliability of
financial reporting, the compliance with applicable
laws, rules and regulations and the effectiveness of
risk management;

b. reviewing internal audit reports to ascertain the
efficiency in rectifying internal control deficiencies
and status of the implementation of
recommendation provided by the Internal Audit
Department; and

C. reviewing management reports to assess the key
business risk and the management’s response to
changes in the Group's business and external
environment.

The Audit Committee initiates or as delegated by the
Board, directs independent investigations of significant
internal control deficiencies and reviews the findings and
the management'’s feedback thereon.

Based on the assessments made by the management and
the Internal Audit Department and taking into account the
audit work performed by the independent auditor, the
Board and the Audit Committee consider that no
significant areas of concern in respect of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems were identified
during the year of 2024.

Based on the review of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems performed
during the year, the Board considers such systems to be
effective and adequate.
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A.

052

BOARD COMMITTEES

EEXESZES

B

Audit Committee A. BEXZEEBES
All the members of the Audit Committee are Independent EREZEENEHRBIUIFNITES
Non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee is principally EFZBEARN  OVHAKE 20
responsible for reviewing (i) the effectiveness of the financial PEIRIZ 7 A KR R B B IR TN N ERES 1 R4
reporting procedures and risk management and internal control BB (VB AZEE BT R
systems of the Group; (i) the appointment of independent ETHESEMIELSSE  Ri)FTB AED
auditor and the efficiency and quality of their work; and (iii) all EAREUANEBEEBHZEREHRE
internal audit reports as well as management feedback on such BR
reports.
The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year. The ERZEGRFARTTZREE &
attendance of the members of the Audit Committee is as MELFEEHRBRAET
follows:

Attendance
Members of the Audit Committee EREBEERE IR E
Professor Wang Xiuli — Chairman FEBHE — XF 3/3
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy Nl e 3/3
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny BUOMSZ LT 3/3
The major tasks accomplished by the Audit Committee during EZZEERNFANTHRMNEETERMR
the year are summarised as follows: s

a. reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023, the
independent auditor’s letter to the management and the
annual results announcement, and made recommendation
on such financial statements, report and announcement to
the Board for approval;

b. reviewed the interim financial information of the Group for
the six months ended 30 June 2024 and the interim
results announcement, and made recommendation on
such financial information and announcement to the
Board for approval;

C. reviewed the management recommendation furnished by
the independent auditor and the response from the
management;
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d. reviewed the audit strategy for the year ended 31
December 2024 provided by the independent auditor and
made recommendation to the Board for the independent
auditor’'s appointment, remuneration and terms of
engagement on audit services for the year ended
31 December 2024;

e. reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the
independent auditor for non-audit services;

f. reviewed with the management the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group;

g. oversaw the implementation of the Group’s risk
management framework and assisted the Board in
conducting independent evaluation of the effectiveness of
the Group's financial reporting procedures and risk
management and internal control systems;

h. ensured that the management has fulfilled its duty to
establish and maintain effective risk management and
internal control systems including adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff working in the
Group's accounting and financial reporting function;

reviewed the top-tier risks of the Group and recommended
actions to mitigate those risks;

j. furnished opinions to the management on risks associated
with significant matters of the Group;

k. reviewed internal audit reports prepared by the Internal
Audit Department, provided guidelines for internal audit
planning and reporting, and ensured that the internal
audit function was provided with adequate resources to
discharge its responsibility; and

reviewed the changes (where applicable) to the procedures
for monitoring connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions and the whistleblowing
mechanism.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the
Company at www.minmetalsland.com.
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B. Remuneration Committee B. ¥MHZES
The Remuneration Committee consists of the Chairman of the FTWNEEeKEREESE IR LEE
Board and all the Independent Non-executive Directors. The ﬁiiﬁﬂﬁi% CHIEZBEREHE
Remuneration Committee is principally responsible for the review EREEERAB UK A EZEFT
of the remuneration mechanism and incentive scheme of the g BURKEREENERTE N 2
Directors and senior management, and the establishment and BANEHE - ARSI MRBEERSES
maintenance of a reasonable and competitive remuneration BAB -

package to attract and retain Directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee was authorised by the Board to YN EeREE S REETNTES
determine the remuneration packages of Executive Directors and LaEEBEABNHINGS  WHIEHR
senior management and make recommendation to the Board for TEENFWMESSREER -

the remuneration of Non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year. SNEZEERNFARTT —REE &
The attendance of the members of the Remuneration Committee &/\ HEg@RIBELNAT
is as follows:

Attendance
Members of the Remuneration Committee FMEEERE HEIRE
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny — Chairman FOWB LT — EF Il

g Mr. He Jianbo BEIN& e Il

= Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy AR 11

i Professor Wang Xiuli FHEEHIK N

<

o}

z During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and FINEEERNFARENRETHR=-F
approved the proposals for the 2023 annual bonus and the 2024 TEFERERITNETERARRE
annual salary adjustment. -

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are HNZ B & o B8 i €6 (B 1] 5B 22 P A8
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk & A & & 48 U
www.hkexnews.hk and the Company at www.minmetalsland.com. www.minmetalsland.com& (] ©

o

w

E

S

-

o

4

<<

-

w

-

<<

G

=

=

=

054


www.minmetalsland.com
www.hkexnews.hk

Nomination Committee C. REEET
The Nomination Committee consists of the Chairman of the RELZEENERREFEIRERDE
Board and all the Independent Non-executive Directors. The BAUNTES  EXZ2BEAGBITE
Nomination Committee is principally responsible for formulating ENRERE  VeRREAEESHEE
policy on nomination of Directors and leading the process of BRETEEMOAE RIESSEE .
identifying and nominating candidates suitably qualified to ABRERK  WHEHEFES UK
become Board members. It reviews the structure, size and EESFFELRARAITHREETEE
composition of the Board and makes recommendation to the EEFMESSREEBER o 1
Board on re-appointment of Directors as well as succession plan REZEENERABULIFNTESH
for the Chairman of the Board and the chief executive of the B o
Company. The Nomination Committee also reviews the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors.
The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets out EEERMNESTEREZTTILECK -
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board in order to NHEES REREKEZTEMERE
enhance the equality of its performance. Selection of candidates M7 i DA ANE T &1 o BUR AR
will be based on a range of diverse perspectives, which include — Ry EZnitEBBEAEE B (ET
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational BRI MR - i - XUEREEBEES -
background, integrity, professional experience, skills, knowledge F BHELER Fit AFLRBE
and length of service. The Nomination Committee has the H-RELZEGEAELEEZREOHN
primary responsibility for the implementation of such policy and 17 BRI - ARBRZBET
review its effectiveness on an annual basis. LB
The Board also values diversity (including gender diversity) at all EFeNEGAKERER 2 Z T (B2
levels of the Group. Details of the Group’s gender ratio, together FEMRZit) - BEAARSE Z1E Rt
with relevant data, can be found in the Environmental, Social and Bl zsFIEERBEEE  F2HAAF
Governance Report of the Company. LBRE e REAWME -
The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year. REZEGRFARTT —REH &
The attendance of the members of the Nomination Committee is KELEFERZBERAT :
as follows:

Attendance
Members of the Nomination Committee REZEEHE HERE
Mr. He Jianbo — Chairman ABDREE — £FE 1/1
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy RS 5 A 74l
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny WS+ 1
Professor Wang Xiuli FHEBHE 1
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During the year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors, the
structure, size and composition of the Board and the Board
Diversity Policy of the Company.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and
the Company at www.minmetalsland.com.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee consists of all executive Directors. The
Executive Committee is principally responsible for the daily
operations of the Company, including but not limited to,
approving transactions and/or expenses in the ordinary course of
business of the Group, loans or bank facilities to be granted to
the Group and the operations of bank accounts, etc.

Sustainable Development Committee

The Sustainable Development Committee consists of the
Chairman of the Board, the Managing Director and a Deputy
Managing Director. The Sustainable Development Committee is
principally responsible for the Group’s sustainability-related
matters, including formulating sustainability strategies, identifying
and managing sustainability risks, enhancing sustainability

performance, and conducting sustainability reporting, etc.
Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is collectively responsible for determining the
Company’s corporate governance policy and performing the
following duties:

a. to develop and review policies and practices on corporate
governance, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements;

b. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct of the
Company; and
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C. to review the Company’s compliance of the CG Code as
well as the disclosures made in the Company’s Corporate
Governance Report.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the position on
compliance with the CG Code, and approved the Corporate
Governance Report contained in the Company's 2024 Annual
Report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2024, Ernst & Young, the
independent auditor of the Group, received approximately
HK$3,380,000 (2023: HK$3,490,000) for audit services, and approximately
HKS$770,000 (2023: HK$790,000) for non-audit services which include the
review of the 2024 Interim Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheng Ka Hang, Francis resigned as Company Secretary of the
Company on 14 June 2024. The Board has appointed Mr. Yiu Yu
Cheung as Company Secretary of the Company and alternate to the
authorised representatives of the Company to Mr. He Jianbo and
Mr. Chen Xingwu with effect from 14 June 2024. He is an associate
member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The
Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom. He is also a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant.
Mr. Yiu has participated in professional training activities for more than
15 hours in 2024.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

A.

Convening special general meetings on
requisition and putting forward proposals at
general meetings

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
share capital of the Company carrying the right to vote at
general meetings of the Company have the right to request the
Directors to convene a special general meeting of the Company.
The written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting,
and must be signed by the requisitionist and deposited at the
registered office of the Company.

If the Directors fail to duly convene a meeting within 21 days of
the date of deposit of the requisition, the requisitionist, or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights
of all requisitionist, may themselves convene a special general
meeting of the Company.

Enquiries from Shareholders
The Company's website provides email address, postal address,

fax number and telephone number by which enquiries can be
made to the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTMENT COMMUNITY

The Company attaches great importance to communicating with
Shareholders and the investment community (which refers to the
Company'’s potential investors and research analysts who report on and

analyse the Company’s position and performance).

Corporate information is communicated to Shareholders and the
investment community by way of the Company’'s announcements,
corporate website, meetings with Shareholders and general investor
relations activities.
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The Company believes that effective communication with investment
community is essential for promoting their understanding of the
Group's business development. The Company releases property sales
update by way of announcement and press release on a regular basis.

A.

Publication of announcements and corporate
website

The Company maintains its corporate website at
www.minmetalsland.com where announcements, financial
reports, press releases and update information of the Group are
available. It serves as a key channel for Shareholders and the
investment community to access reliable and timely information
about the Company. Shareholders would raise enquiries or
provide feedback via the designated section on the Company’s
website.

The following corporate information is posted on the Company's
website as soon as it has been released by the Company to the
website of the Stock Exchange:

— announcements, notices and circulars

— annual reports and interim reports

—  Amended and Restated Bye-laws

— list of Directors and their role and function

—  terms of reference of the committees of the Board

—  procedures for election of Directors by Shareholders
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B. General meetings of Shareholders

060

Shareholders are encouraged to attend general meetings in
person or to appoint proxies to attend and vote on their behalf
if they are unable to do so. They are welcome to raise questions
and comments at general meetings, which members of the
Board and independent auditor of the Company are delighted to
answer.

Shareholders are informed of the voting procedures of general
meetings by the chairman of the general meeting. The Company
also provides Shareholders with sufficient and timely information
concerning the date, location and agenda of general meetings
and other information regarding issues to be decided at general
meetings.

The Company ensures votes cast are properly counted and
recorded. Independent scrutineers are appointed to count the
number of votes cast at general meetings. The Company
announces and publishes, on the same day of the general
meeting, the poll voting results on the websites of the Company
and of the Stock Exchange.

Investor relations activities

The Company believes that regular and effective communication
with investment community is essential to enhancing corporate
governance and in particular, to their understanding of the
Company’s business development. The Company endeavours to
maintain regular meetings and dialogues with the investment
community through participation in investor conferences, analyst
and media briefings, non-deal road shows and investors’ and
shareholders’ visits.

The Company adopted the Shareholders Communication Policy
in 2021 with the aim of enhancing long-term shareholder value
through regular communication with its Shareholders, both
individual and institutional Shareholders. With the Shareholders
Communication Policy, the Company sets out the framework to
promote effective communication with Shareholders so as to
enable them to actively engage with the Company and exercise
their rights as Shareholders in an informed manner. During the
year, the Board reviewed the implementation of shareholders
engagement and communication activities. The Board considered
that the Shareholders Communication Policy has been effectively
implemented.
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WHISTLEBLOWING AND ANTI-CORRUPTION
POLICY

In accordance with code provision D.2.6 of the CG Code, the Company
has adopted a whistleblowing policy (the “Whistleblowing Policy”). The
Whistleblowing Policy provides guidance and reporting channels for
employees and the relevant third parties who deal with the Group to
report any suspected impropriety in any matter relating to the Group
directly and confidentially to the designated person in the Human
Resources and Administration Department. The nature, status and
outcome of complaints received under the Whistleblowing Policy are
regularly reported to the Audit Committee.

In accordance with code provision D.2.7 of the CG Code, the Company
has adopted an anti-corruption policy (the “Anti-Corruption Policy”). It
sets out the guidelines and minimum standards of conduct, all
applicable laws and regulations relating to anti-corruption and
anti-bribery, the responsibilities of employees to resist fraud, to assist
the Group in defending itself against corrupt practices and to report
any reasonable suspicion of fraud and corruption or any attempt to do
so to management or through an appropriate reporting channel. The
Group will not tolerate any form of fraud or corruption among all
employees and those acting in an agency or fiduciary capacity on
behalf of the Group and in its dealings with third parties.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’'s constitutional documents (i.e. the
Bye-laws) during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S PROFILE
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Mr. He Jianbo, aged 55, was appointed as an Executive Director and Managing Director of the
Company in December 2007 and is currently the Chairman of the Board. Mr. He is responsible for the
overall strategic direction of the Group and organising the management for the strategic planning and
business operations of the Company. Mr. He is a Senior International Business Engineer in the PRC and a
Chief Senior Economist in the PRC, a Vice President of the China Real Estate Chamber of Commerce and

a member of the Political Consultative Conference of Dongcheng District, Beijing, the PRC. He graduated

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

from the Peking University in 1992 with a Bachelor's Degree in Economics and holds a Master's Degree
in International Finance from Peking University and a Master's Degree in Business Administration from
Saint Mary’s University, Canada. Mr. He joined China Minmetals in 1992 and had served the positions of
director of general administrative office, director of strategic planning division and a member of the
strategic planning committee of China Minmetals. Mr. He has extensive experience in real estate

development, corporate management, strategic planning and investment.
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Mr. Liu Bo
21K kHE

Managing Director
ExmKrE

Mr. Chen Xingwu
BRE R &

Deputy Managing Director
EEpegeE

Mr. Liu Bo, aged 60, acts as the General Manager of the Company
since January 2019 and was appointed as an Executive Director
and the Managing Director of the Company in March 2020. Mr. Liu
holds a Master’'s Degree in Engineering from the Architecture and
Engineering Faculty of Xi'an University of Architecture and
Technology and is a qualified professorate senior engineer in the
PRC. He is also an expert of the expert committee of the China
Construction Industry Association and a deputy director/an expert
of expert group (committee) of the construction project
management and constructor division branch of the China
Construction Industry Association. Mr. Liu joined China
Metallurgical Group Corporation (“MCC Group”) in 1988 and was
the chief economist of MCC Group and Metallurgical Corporation
of China Ltd. He had served senior management positions in
various subsidiaries of MCC Group for constructional design, and
development and promotional of construction and technology
works. He has extensive experience in land development and city
complex’s EPC general contracting construction (including the EPC
contracting construction of the Singapore Universal Studio
project). Mr. Liu has participated in the development and research
works in various technological research and has obtained various
patents and technological awards in the PRC. Mr. Liu was granted
a special government grant by the State Council in 2011 in
recognition of his distinguished contribution to the development
of constructional technology in the PRC.
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Mr. Chen Xingwu, aged 55, was appointed as a Deputy General
Manager of the Company in June 2018 and an Executive Director
and a Deputy Managing Director of the Company in November
2018. Mr. Chen holds a Bachelor's Degree in Economics from the
University of International Business and Economics and is a
qualified Accountant and an International Business Engineer in the
PRC. Mr. Chen joined China Minmetals in 1991 and has been
serving various departments and subsidiaries of China Minmetals
group in international trade, international merger and acquisition
finance and corporate management. Mr. Chen has extensive
experience in strategic financing and investment, and corporate
financial management.
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Mr. Yang Shangping
B RE

Deputy Managing Director
EEEImKrE

Ms. He Xiaoli
fNEBLZL
Non-executive Director

EMITESR
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Mr. Yang Shangping, aged 51, was appointed as an Executive
Director and a Deputy Managing Director of the Company in June
2017. Mr. Yang holds a Bachelor's Degree in Civil Structural
Engineering from Tongji University and a Master's Degree in
Business Administration from Fudan University. Mr. Yang joined the
Company as the general manager of a real estate development
company of the Company in Nanjing in 2007 and is now
responsible for the strategic investment and design management
divisions of the Company. He had participated in project works for
China Overseas Holdings Ltd. and Shanghai Vanke Co. Ltd. for
over 10 years. Mr. Yang has extensive experience in project
management, strategic investment, sales and marketing and
costing management.
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Ms. He Xiaoli, aged 57, was appointed as an Executive Director of
the Company in February 2002 and a Deputy Managing Director
of the Company in December 2009. She was re-designated as a
Non-executive Director of the Company in November 2018.
Ms. He holds a Bachelor's Degree in Economics (majoring in
Accounting) from North China University of Technology and a
Master's Degree in Business Administration from the University of
South Australia. She is a qualified PRC Chief Senior Accountant
and a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. He was the head
of business division and the deputy minister of accounting
information division of the finance department of the former
China National Nonferrous Metals Industry Corporation. Ms. He was
also the supervisor of Minmetals Development Co., Limited, the
director of China Minmetals H.K. (Holdings) Limited, the chairman
of the supervisory board of Minmetals Finance Co., Ltd. and the
director of Hunan Non-Ferrous Metals Holding Group Ltd. She is
currently a chairman of the supervisory board of Minmetals New
Energy Materials (Hunan) Co., Ltd. Ms. He has extensive experience
in corporate finance and investment, capital market operations
and financial management.
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Mr. Huang Guoping
EERFEE

Non-executive Director

FHNITES

Mr. Lam Chung Lun,
Billy
A B R A

Independent Non-executive Director

BAFATES

Mr. Huang Guoping, aged 62, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company in February 2022. Mr. Huang holds a
Bachelor's Degree in engineering (majoring in non-ferrous metal
metallurgy) from Central South Institute of Mining and Metallurgy
(now known as Central South University). Mr. Huang joined China
Minmetals in 2000 and has been serving in various subsidiaries of
China Minmetals for non-ferrous metal metallurgy, trading and
corporate management businesses. Mr. Huang was a part-time
external director and supervisor of China Minmetals and a director
and the chairman of China Minmetals Rare Earth Co., Ltd. He is
currently a director of Minmetals Development Co. Limited.
Mr. Huang has extensive experience in non-ferrous metal
metallurgy and business management.
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Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy, aged 77, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in
September 2015. Mr. Lam graduated from the University of Hong
Kong. He also holds a Master’s Degree in Science of Management
from the Stanford Graduate School of Business. He joined the
Hong Kong Government as Administrative Officer in 1970 and had
worked in areas like housing, environmental protection, land
administration, procurement, financial services and large
infrastructure projects including Hong Kong International Airport,
etc. He had served as the CEO of the Airport Authority and the
Managing Director of the Urban Renewal Authority and a member
of the Lantau Development Advisory Committee and the Country
and Marine Parks Board. Currently, he is a director of Life
Education Activity Programme and a court member and an
adjunct professor of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
Mr. Lam, a Justice of Peace since 2004, was awarded the Golden
Bauhinia Star by the HKSAR Government in 2008.
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Independent Non-executive Director
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Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny, aged 72, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in April
2018. Ms. Law graduated from the University of Hong Kong with
an Honours degree in Science. She holds a Master's degree in
Public Administration from Harvard University and was named a
Littauer Fellow. She also holds a Master's degree in Education
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Before retiring from
the civil service in 2007, Ms. Law was the Commissioner of the
Hong Kong Independent Commission Against Corruption. During
her 30 years in the civil service, Ms. Law has worked in many
fields, including medical and health, economic services, housing,
land and planning, home affairs, social welfare, civil service,
transport and education. Ms. Law is currently an independent
non-executive director of China Unicom (Hong Kong) Limited,
Nameson Holdings Limited, China Taiping Insurance Holdings
Company Limited and New World Development Company Limited
(all listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange). She was an external
director of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, an
independent non-executive director of CLP Holdings Limited, a
member of the Executive Council of the Government of the
HKSAR and the HKSAR Deputy to the 11th and 12th National
People’s Congress of the PRC. Ms. Law was awarded the Gold
Bauhinia Star and the Grand Bauhinia Medal in 2003 and 2017
respectively by the Government of the HKSAR in recognition of
her distinguished service to the community. She is also a Justice
of Peace since 2008.
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Professor Wang Xiuli

IFBHAR

Independent Non-executive Director
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Professor Wang Xiuli, aged 59, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in July 2022.
Professor Wang holds a Bachelor's Degree in Economics from
Renmin University of China, a Master's Degree in Management
from the University of International Business and Economics and a
Doctorate Degree in Economics from the University of
International Business and Economics. She is also a member of the
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Professor Wang
has been teaching at the University of International Business and
Economics since 1988 and is currently a professor at the Business
School of the University of International Business and Economics.
Professor Wang has extensive experience in financial accounting,
corporate financial statements analysis and internationalisation of
accounting standards.

Professor Wang is currently an independent director of Zhongke
Cambrian Technology Co., Ltd. (listed on Shanghai Stock
Exchange). She was an independent director of Minmetals
Development Co., Ltd., Three Squirrels Co., Ltd., Ecovacs Robotics
Co., Ltd. and Guoxin Health Insurance Service Group Co., Ltd..
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Mr. Dai Pengyu
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Deputy General Manager
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Mr. Lei Feilong

Deputy General Manager
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Mr. Dai Pengyu, aged 42, was appointed as a Deputy General
Manager of the Company in March 2020. Mr. Dai holds a
Bachelor's Degree from Xi'an University of Architecture and
Technology, majoring in business administration. Mr. Dai joined
the Company in 2007 and has been serving senior management
positions in various real estate development subsidiaries of the
Company in central, eastern and southern China. Mr. Dai is now
responsible for the operational management department and
marketing management department of the Company. Mr. Dai has
extensive experience in real estate operation management and
marketing.
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Mr. Lei Feilong, aged 42, was appointed as a Deputy General
Manager of the Company in August 2024. Mr. Lei holds a
Bachelor's Degree of engineering in Civil Engineering from
Zhejiang University and a Master's Degree of engineering in Civil
Engineering from Tsinghua University and is a qualified senior
engineer in the PRC. Mr. Lei joined China Minmetals in 2010 and
had served as a general manager in charge in Jiangyin region of
the Company, a deputy general manager in charge of the
Company’s regional company in southern China and a general
manager of Minmetals (Shantou) Yuedong Logistics New City
Development Co,, Ltd., a general manager of urban development
division (Industrial Research Institute) of the Company and a
general manager of Minmetals Industrial Investment Development
Co., Ltd. Mr. Lei is now responsible for urban, entrusted
construction and cost procurement of the Company. Mr. Lei has
extensive experience in investment and expansion operations of
industrial projects, development management of real estate
projects, industrial strategic planning and investment promotion
and operations.
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The Board would like to submit the Annual Report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are real estate development,
specialised construction and property investment. Details of the
principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in Note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year by business and
geographical segments is set out in Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 115 of this Annual Report.

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: N/A).

The Board has adopted a Dividend Policy that sets out the principles
and guidelines in relation to the distribution and payment of dividends
to the Shareholders.

The Board has the discretion to declare or propose dividends to the
Shareholders subject to the limitations under the Companies Act of
Bermuda, the Bye-laws and applicable laws, regulations and accounting
standards. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall take into
account, among other things, the financial performance, cash flow
position, business requirements of the Company and the market
conditions.

The Board may declare the payment of an interim dividend or propose
a final dividend which will be subject to the approval of the
Shareholders at annual general meeting. Under special circumstances
such as a temporary reduction in profit or changes in business
environment, the Board may, at its discretion and after due and careful
consideration, distribute a special dividend to the Shareholders.
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Dividend payout would be in the form of cash or scrip or a
combination of both.

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion
on the Group's corporate strategy, future business development,
possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing are
provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” as well as the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 24 to 27 and pages 30 to 41 of this
Annual Report respectively.

The financial risk factors and management of the Group are set out in
Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

No significant events affecting the Group have occurred since the end
of the financial year ended 31 December 2024.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the “Financial Highlights” on
page 7 of this Annual Report.

To promote sustainability, the Group strives to maintain a balance
between its real estate development business and the ecological
environment. The Group treasures green design and eco-friendly
construction that involves the use of materials and processes that are
resource-efficient and environmentally responsible throughout the life
cycle of property development. Details of the Group’s performance in
environment preservation are set out in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report for the year.

The Group acknowledges the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements. During the year under review, the Group had
complied with the requirements under the Companies Act of Bermuda,
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Listing Rules, the SFO (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the
relevant rules and regulations of places which it has operations.
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The Group's success depends on the support of key stakeholders, such
as employees, customers and Shareholders.

Employees

Employees are an important and valuable asset to the Group. The
Group rewards and recognises the contribution of staff by offering
competitive remuneration package and standardised performance
appraisal system to provide incentives. The Group has a thorough
career development programme to promote career development and
progression by providing appropriate training and opportunities for
career advancement within the Group.

Customers

The Group's principal customers are the purchasers of its real estate
development projects. The Group has established property
management subsidiaries in Mainland China and Hong Kong to provide
customers with professional and caring property management services.

Shareholders

The Group strives to enhance corporate value to Shareholders. It is
poised to foster business development to achieve sustainable business
and earnings growth and reward Shareholders through stable dividend
payouts taking into account capital adequacy levels, liquidity positions
and business expansion needs of the Group.

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in Note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Movements in reserves of the Group and of the Company during the
year are set out in Note 28 and Note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.
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Particulars of the Group's major properties held for investment and
properties under development are set out on pages 12 to 21 of this
Annual Report.

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2024,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Act of Bermuda,
amounted to HK$819,474,000 (2023: HK$849,336,000).

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 9 of this Annual
Report.

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 7 June 2013 to
recognise and acknowledge eligible persons for their contribution or
potential contribution to the Group.

No share options have yet been granted by the Company pursuant to
the Share Option Scheme.

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out as follows:

Any directors or any employees of any company of the Group
and any advisers of, consultants of, contractors to any company
of the Group or any person who has any relationship (whether
business or otherwise) with any company of the Group or any
person whom the Directors consider, in their sole discretion, has
contributed or will contribute or can contribute to the Group.

The total number of Shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme is 333,785,270, representing approximately 9.97%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
Annual Report.
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No share options under the Share Option Scheme may be
granted to any eligible person, which, if exercised in full, would
result in the total number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon the exercise of the share options already granted or to be
granted to such eligible person under the Share Option Scheme
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) in
the 12-month period up to and including the date of such new
grant exceeding 1% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of such new grant. Any grant of further share
options above this limit shall be subject to the requirements
under the Listing Rules.

The Directors may in their absolute discretion determine the
period during which a share option may be exercised and notify
each grantee, save that such period shall not be later than 10
years from the date on which the Directors make an offer of the
share option subject to the provisions for early termination as
stipulated in the Share Option Scheme.

The offer of a share option made in accordance with the Share
Option Scheme must be accepted within 28 business days from
the date on which the offer is made and the amount payable on
acceptance of the share option is HK$10.

The subscription price shall be determined by the Board at the
time of grant of the relevant share option and shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the closing price per Share as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of
the relevant share option; (i) the amount equivalent to the
average closing price per Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the relevant share option; or (iii)
the nominal value of a Share.

The Share Option Scheme expired on 6 June 2023.
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The Directors during the year and up to the date of this Annual Report
are:

Executive Directors

Mr. He Jianbo

Mr. Liu Bo

Mr. Chen Xingwu
Mr. Yang Shangping

Non-executive Directors

Ms. He Xiaoli
Mr. Huang Guoping

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny
Professor Wang Xiuli

Mr. Chen Xingwu, Mr. Huang Guoping and Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy
will retire by rotation at the AGM in accordance with Bye-law 111(A) of
the Bye-laws. Mr. Chen Xingwu and Mr. Huang Guoping, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy has informed the Board of his decision to
retire and will not seek re-election at the AGM and will retire from his
office as an independent non-executive Director at the conclusion of
the AGM.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM has an
unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the Company
and any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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There is no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in
relation to the business of the Group, to which the Company and any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which the Directors or an entity
connected with him is or was materially interested, either directly or
indirectly, which was entered into during the year or subsisted at any
time during the year.

The Bye-laws provides that each Director or other officer of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or
incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or
otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the Company has maintained
appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in respect of
relevant legal actions against the Directors and officers of the Company
during the year.

No contract for management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of any business of the Company was entered into or
existed during the year.

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in
information of Directors since the date of 2024 interim report of the
Company are as follows:

1. Mr. Yang Shangping is now responsible for the design
management division and ceased to be responsible for the
urban development division of the Company.

2. Ms. He Xiaoli was appointed as a chairman of the supervisory
board of Minmetals New Energy Materials (Hunan) Co., Ltd.

3. Ms. He Xiaoli ceased to be the supervisor of Minmetals
Development Co., Ltd. and the director of Minmetals HK.

4, Changes in Director's emoluments during the year are set out in
Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
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The interests of Directors in competing businesses that are required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules as notified by
the relevant Directors are as follows:

Mr. He Jianbo, being the Chairman of the Board and an executive
director of the Company, is also a director of Minmetals Land Holdings,
Liaoning Industrial Park and Minmetals Real Estate.

Mr. Liu Bo, being an executive director and the managing director of
the Company, is also a director of Minmetals Land Holdings.

Mr. Chen Xingwu, being an executive director and a deputy managing
director of the Company, is also a director of Minmetals Land Holdings
and Minmetals Real Estate.

Mr. Yang Shangping, being an executive director and a deputy
managing director of the Company, is also a director of Minmetals
Land Holdings.

All of Minmetals Land Holdings, Liaoning Industrial Park and Minmetals
Real Estate are companies established under the laws of the PRC.
Minmetals Land Holdings is engaged in real estate development,
construction contracting and sub-contracting, property management,
surveying and design of construction projects, project investment,
provision of technical services, investment consultancy and corporate
management consultancy. Liaoning Industrial Park is engaged in the
development of Minmetals (Yingkou) Industrial Park. Minmetals Real
Estate is engaged in real estate development and operation,
construction, property management, real estate agency, real estate
advertising and exhibition and other real estate related business.

Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny, being an independent non-executive
director of the Company, is also an independent non-executive director
of New World Development Company Limited which is a listed
company in Hong Kong and principally engaged in property
development, property investment and other investment businesses.

In the event that the Board decides that there is a conflict of interest
between the Group and the aforementioned companies, the Directors
with a conflict of interest will abstain from voting on the relevant
resolutions.
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Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this Annual Report, none of
the Directors or their respective associates (as if each of them were
treated as a controlling shareholder under Rule 8.10 of the Listing
Rules) had any competing interests in a business which competes or is
likely to compete with the business of the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company and any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
which (i) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (i) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or (iii) were required, pursuant to the Model
Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

Long Position in Shares

Name of Directors

Nature of interest

EEpA ERME
Mr. He Jianbo Personal
fa] R 52 4 EA

Mr. Yang Shangping Personal
15 8 P A& EA

Ms. He Xiaoli Personal
fal/NEX £ EA

B EXFREEIN  RAFHREH  HEES
FREEBZHEAENREZTERR AL
MR RELI0E T Z AR V1B 0) i EL A
SEXBBNAAEBRRFZELGTHRSE
(EREEERE F ol

RZEBE-—mMF+=—A=+—1" é%&zﬁ
AIEZTHAER ARG METAEEEE
(EEHSMPERNETRT 2 EER) 2BH
*EF‘EJHSJ SEHFFHES ()VIRIEE %&Hﬁiﬂlﬂﬁu
+£4B%t&%)\’h ZERSIR=—ININ
RFT 2 ez R A (B IEIES \”\ﬁ%&,ﬁﬁfﬂﬂﬁu
ﬁ%ﬁﬂ%%ﬁz#&”‘Vﬁzzﬁﬁ%ﬁ“ﬁﬂ%ﬁ?ﬂii%
B) RBARBEFALBEKIE=aR 1+
AR Z R TE R ARG B P e B R 2 dE s sk
KB () ZBRIR AR R 8 C3 pr El AR 2
STFRIAERQ B RBRT s AR T -

REBRHGZHR
Approximate
percentage of total
Number of issued Shares
Shares held HEBRITRG

FEBEzRHBE #BBZBOEIL

2,040,000 0.06%
1,846,667 0.06%
783,333 0.02%
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief executive of
the Company or any of their associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
had any personal, family, corporate or other interests or short positions
in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO) as at 31
December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief executive of
the Company nor their spouses or children under 18 years of age, was
granted or had exercised any right to subscribe for any equity or debt
securities of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of the SFO) during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Share Option” and “Directors’
and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” above, the Company had no other outstanding
convertible securities, options, warrants or other similar rights as at 31
December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, there were no repurchase or exercise of
options and convertible securities during the year.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the
laws of Bermuda.
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As at 31 December 2024, according to the register of interests kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO, the following entities had
interests and short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which
fall to be disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV

of the SFO:

Name of Shareholders

China Minmetals

CMCL

CMNH

CMN

Album Enterprises

Minmetals HK

June Glory

IRER &

PR R

AER 5

higd EER

IREEER?

ERLE

ERNE

June Glory

Interest in Shares

RZZEZWMNF+_A=+—H RBRELXAQF
HBALHERIE="a=1T K2R ET
BEZREELMES THEEBRAAGR
HBREBRHPEERRBELSRAEEIE
THEBE—RE=DEERAARQAWE 2
HREKE

B 10 Rz

Long position
oy

2,071,095,506

2,071,095,506

2,071,095,506

2,071,095,506

2,071,095,506

2,071,095,506

2,071,095,506

Note:  June Glory is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Minmetals HK, which in turn is owned as
to approximately 39.04%, 38.95% and 22.01% by CMCL, Album Enterprises and Top
Create Resources Limited respectively. Album Enterprises and Top Create Resources

Limited are wholly owned by CMN, which in turn is owned as to approximately
99.999% and 0.001% by CMNH and CMCL respectively. CMNH is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CMCL. CMCL is owned as to approximately 88.4% by China Minmetals.
Accordingly, each of China Minmetals, CMCL, CMNH, CMN, Album Enterprises and
Minmetals HK were each deemed to have an interest in the 2,071,095,506 Shares

held by June Glory.

Short position

T

Approximate percentage
of total issued Shares

HEBRITROBE
ZEHABEIHT
Long position  Short position
KA A A

— 61.88% —

— 61.88% —

— 61.88% —

— 61.88% —

— 61.88% —

— 61.88% —

— 61.88% —

June Gloy BB REZ 2 BB AR - EE KA
HARKD  EH D% KTop Create Resources
Limited %> Bl #& BB £ £939.04% ~ 38.95% % 22.01% %
# o B I K Top Create Resources Limited i FLAE
BERNE2EES  AEACRMABEAES BE
& e FLERAL A7 53 Bl G L 4999.999% £2.0.001% A ©
TRACERATBRN Z2EWBE AR MHE
AR A ARAD #088.4% B HE - ¥tk - PEIATE -
HRERY AREGER ARACRK EHN
¥REFEBESE B HKR BN Iune Gloy# B 2
2,071,095,506 % A& £ 1 1 5 2 ©
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During the vyear, the percentage of purchases attributable to the
Group's five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately
49% (2023: 56%) of the total purchases of the Group. Purchases from
the largest supplier accounted for approximately 15% (2023: 21%) of
the Group’s total purchases. None of the Directors, their close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) and any Shareholders (who
to the best knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s five
largest suppliers during the year.

During the year, the percentage of the revenue from sales of goods or
rendering of services attributable to the Group'’s five largest customers
combined was less than 30% (2023: less than 30%) of the total revenue
of the Group.

The connected transactions conducted by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2024 are as follows:

1. A loan framework agreement dated 26 April 2021 was entered
into by Guangzhou Kuangmao (an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company) with Shengshi Guangye (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and holder of 51% of
the equity interest of Guangzhou Kuangmao) and Xiefeng
(holder of 49% of the equity interest of Guangzhou Kuangmao)
for the provision of loans to its shareholders based on the same
terms and conditions and in proportion to their respective
shareholdings in Guangzhou Kuangmao ("Kuangmao
Agreement”). The Kuangmao Agreement expired on 25 April
2024.

A supplemental loan agreement dated 24 June 2024 was
entered by Guangzhou Kuangmao with Shengshi Guangye and
Xiefeng pursuant to which Guangzhou Kuangmao agreed to
extend the term of the loans provided to Shengshi Guangye and
Xiefeng to 25 April 2027 in a total principal amount of
RMB969,000,000 and RMB931,000,000 respectively (“Kuangmao
Supplemental Agreement”). Save as aforesaid, all other terms of
the Kuangmao Agreement (as amended and supplemented by
the Kuangmao Supplemental Agreement) remain in full force and
effect.
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Xiefeng holds 49% equity interest of Guangzhou Kuangmao and
is therefore a connected person of the Company at subsidiary
level under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transaction
contemplated under the Kuangmao Supplemental Agreement
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company.

A loan framework agreement dated 26 April 2021 was entered
into by Shenzhen Kuangrun (an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company) with Shengshi Guangye (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and holder of 51% of
the equity interest of Shenzhen Kuangrun) and Shenzhen Runtou
(holder of 49% of the equity interest of Shenzhen Kuangrun) for
the provision of loans to its shareholders based on the same
terms and conditions and in proportion to their respective
shareholdings in Shenzhen Kuangrun (“Kuangrun Agreement”).
The Kuangrun Agreement expired on 25 April 2024.

A supplemental loan agreement dated 24 June 2024 was
entered by Shenzhen Kuangrun with Shengshi Guangye and
Shenzhen Runtou pursuant to which Shenzhen Kuangrun agreed
to extend the term of the loans provided to Shengshi Guangye
and Shenzhen Runtou to 25 April 2027 in a total principal
amount of RMB618,120,000 and RMB593,880,000 respectively
(“Kuangrun Supplemental Agreement”). Save as aforesaid, all
other terms of the Kuangrun Agreement (as amended and
supplemented by the Kuangrun Supplemental Agreement)
remain in full force and effect.

Shenzhen Runtou holds 49% equity interest of Shenzhen
Kuangrun and is therefore a connected person of the Company
at subsidiary level under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the
transaction contemplated under the Kuangrun Supplemental
Agreement constitutes a connected transaction of the Company.
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The continuing connected transactions conducted by the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2024 are as follows:

1. (i)

082

A financial services framework agreement dated 2 February
2021 was entered into between the Company and
Minmetals Finance (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
China Minmetals) whereby Minmetals Finance would
provide current and fixed deposit services, loan services
and settlement services to the Company and its
subsidiaries in Mainland China for a term of three years
from 20 April 2021 to 19 April 2024 ("2021 Financial
Services Framework Agreement”). Pursuant to the 2021
Financial Services Framework Agreement, the annual cap
on the maximum daily outstanding balance of deposits
(including accrued interests) to be placed by the Company
and its subsidiaries in Mainland China with Minmetals
Finance for each of the three years from 20 April 2021 to
19 April 2024 was RMB3,000,000,000. The provision of the
deposit services by Minmetals Finance to the Company
and its subsidiaries in Mainland China and the aforesaid
annual cap were approved by the independent
Shareholders at the special general meeting of the
Company held on 19 March 2021.

The maximum daily outstanding balance of deposits
(including accrued interests) placed by the Company and
its subsidiaries in Mainland China with Minmetals Finance
for the period from 1 January 2024 to 19 April 2024 under
2021 Financial Services Framework Agreement was
RMB1,381,488,160 (2023: RMB2,995,992,355).

The 2021 Financial Services Framework Agreement expired
on 19 April 2024.
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(i)

A financial services framework agreement dated 19 April
2024 was entered into between the Company and
Minmetals Finance for the renewal of 2021 Financial
Services Framework Agreement whereby Minmetals
Finance would provide current and fixed deposit services,
loan services and settlement services to the Company and
its subsidiaries in Mainland China for a term of three years
from 20 April 2024 to 19 April 2027 ("2024 Financial
Services Framework Agreement”). Pursuant to the 2024
Financial Services Framework Agreement, the annual cap
on the maximum daily outstanding balance of deposits
(including accrued interests) to be placed by the Company
and its subsidiaries in Mainland China with Minmetals
Finance for each of the three years from 20 April 2024 to
19 April 2027 was RMB3,000,000,000. The provision of the
deposit services by Minmetals Finance to the Company
and its subsidiaries in Mainland China and the aforesaid
annual cap were approved by the independent
Shareholders at the special general meeting of the
Company held on 27 August 2024.

The maximum daily outstanding balance of deposits
(including accrued interests) placed by the Company and
its subsidiaries in Mainland China with Minmetals Finance
for the period from 20 April 2024 to 31 December 2024
under 2024 Financial Services Framework Agreement was
RMB1,312,725,101 (2023: N/A).

(i)
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A loan framework agreement dated 26 April 2021 was entered
between Guangzhou Kuangmao (an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company), Shengshi Guangye (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and holder of 51% of
the equity interest of Guangzhou Kuangmao) and Xiefeng
(holder of 49% of the equity interest of Guangzhou Kuangmao)
pursuant to which Guangzhou Kuangmao may during the term
commencing from 26 April 2021 to 25 April 2024 provide loans
by way of entrustment loans or directly provide loans to
Shengshi Guangye and Xiefeng (or their respective direct holding
company, or designated fellow subsidiaries in the PRC) based on
the same terms and conditions and in proportion to their
respective shareholdings in Guangzhou Kuangmao on an
unsecured interest-free basis (“Kuangmao Agreement”).

The caps amount of the loans to be provided by Guangzhou
Kuangmao to Shengshi Guangye and Xiefeng (or their respective
direct holding company, or designated fellow subsidiaries in the
PRQC) for the period from 26 April 2021 to 25 April 2024 were
RMB969,000,000 and RMB931,000,000 respectively.

As at the date of the Kuangmao Agreement, Guangzhou
Kuangmao was an insignificant subsidiary of the Company as all
relevant ratios pursuant to Rule 14A.09(1) of the Listing Rules
based on the financial statements of Guangzhou Kuangmao for
the period from 12 December 2018 (date of incorporation) to 31
December 2018 and for the two years ended 31 December 2019
and 2020, respectively were less than 10%. Xiefeng was therefore
not regarded as a connected person of the Company pursuant to
Rule 14A.09 of the Listing Rules and the transactions
contemplated under the Kuangmao Agreement did not
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Based on the unaudited financial information of Guangzhou
Kuangmao and the Company for the year ended 31 December
2021, the relevant ratio (as defined under Rule 14A.09(1) of the
Listing Rules) of Guangzhou Kuangmao exceeded 10% for the
year ended 31 December 2021, and thus Guangzhou Kuangmao
has ceased to be an insignificant subsidiary of the Company
under Rule 14A.09(1) of the Listing Rules and Xiefeng shall
become a connected person of the Company at the subsidiary
level under the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.60 of the Listing Rules, the Company is
required to comply with the applicable reporting and disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules regarding
such continuing connected transactions. As the Board has
approved the continuing connected transactions of the
Company and the Independent Non-executive Directors have
confirmed that the terms of the Kuangmao Agreement are fair
and reasonable, on normal commercial terms and in the interest
of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole, Kuangmao
Agreement is subject to annual review, reporting and
announcement requirements, but exempted from circular,
independent financial advice and Shareholders’ approval
requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.101 of the Listing Rules.

The loans provided by Guangzhou Kuangmao to Xiefeng for the

period from 1 January 2024 to 25 April 2024 under Kuangmao
Agreement were RMB931,000,000 (2023: RMB931,000,000).

The Kuangmao Agreement expired on 25 April 2024.
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A tenancy agreement dated 1 June 2022 was entered into
between Brightway Asset (a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of China Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion (a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) as the landlord

(“Tenancy Agreement 1), details of which are set out
below:
Premises . 9th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79

Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong with a GFA of
approximately 5,793 square feet
("Premises 1")

Term © two years from 1 June 2022 to 31
May 2024 (both dates inclusive)

Rent : HKS$208,548 per calendar month
(exclusive of government rates and
service, management and air-
conditioning charges)

Rent-free period : 2 months

Service, : HKS$30,702.90 per calendar month
management
and air-
conditioning
charges
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The annual caps for the rent and service, management
and air-conditioning charges payable by Brightway Asset in
respect of Tenancy Agreement | for the period from 1
June 2022 to 31 December 2022, for the year ended 31
December 2023 and for the period from 1 January 2024
to 31 May 2024 were HK$1,674,757, HK$2,871,011 and
HKS$1,196,255 respectively. As all the applicable percentage
ratios in respect of the aggregate sum of the annual rent
and service, management and air-conditioning charges
receivable by Texion under Tenancy Agreement | were less
than 5%, Tenancy Agreement | was subject to annual
review, reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempted from circular, independent financial advice and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rent and service, management
and air-conditioning charges paid by Brightway Asset to
Texion for the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 May 2024
under Tenancy Agreement | was HKS$1,196,255 (2023:
HK$2,871,011).

The Tenancy Agreement | expired on 31 May 2024.
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A tenancy agreement dated 12 July 2024 was entered into
between Brightway Asset as the tenant and Texion as the
landlord in respect of Premises | (“Tenancy Agreement "),
details of which are set out below:

Term © two years from 1 June 2024 to 31
May 2026 (both dates inclusive)

Rent : HKS$173,790 per calendar month

(exclusive of government rates and
management and air-
conditioning charges)

service,

Rent-free period 2 months

Service, HKS$33,773.19 per calendar month
management (subject to maximum 20% upward
and air- adjustment)
conditioning
charges

The annual caps for the rent and maximum service,
management and air-conditioning charges payable by
Brightway Asset in respect of Tenancy Agreement Il for the
period from 1 June 2024 to 31 December 2024, for the
year ended 31 December 2025 and for the period from 1
January 2026 to 31 May 2026 were HKS$1,500,225,
HK$2,571,814 and HKS$1,071,590 respectively. As all the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate
sum of the annual rent and maximum service,
management and air-conditioning charges receivable by
Texion under Tenancy Agreement Il were less than 5%,
Tenancy Agreement Il was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted
from circular, independent financial advice and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rent and maximum service,
management and air-conditioning charges paid by
Brightway Asset to Texion for the period from 1 June
2024 to 31 December 2024 under Tenancy Agreement I
was HK$1,294,503 (2023: N/A).

(ii)
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A tenancy agreement dated 1 June 2022 was entered into
between Minmetals Cheerglory (a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of China Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion as
the landlord (“Tenancy Agreement IlI"), details of which are
set out below:

11th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79
Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong with a GFA of

Premises

approximately 5,793 square feet
("Premises II")

Term © two years from 1 June 2022 to 31
May 2024 (both dates inclusive)

Rent : HKS$208,548 per calendar month
(exclusive of government rates and
service, management and air-
conditioning charges)

Rent-free period 2 months

Service, - HK$30,702.90 per calendar month

management
and air-
conditioning
charges

The annual caps for the rent and service, management
and air-conditioning charges payable by Minmetals
Cheerglory in respect of Tenancy Agreement lll for the
period from 1 June 2022 to 31 December 2022, for the
year ended 31 December 2023 and for the period from 1
January 2024 to 31 May 2024 were HKS$1,674,757,
HK$2,871,011 and HKS$1,196,255 respectively. As all the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate
sum of the annual rent and service, management and air-
conditioning charges receivable by Texion under Tenancy
Agreement Il were less than 5%, Tenancy Agreement Il
was subject to annual review, reporting and
announcement requirements, but exempted from circular,
independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules.

R-ZE-_—FA—H BEEMD
K(BPHEAECIIEEZENB R
B ERMEFED mﬁﬁ%}ﬁi
2HERZ(HERz=] -
ERUENE

LIES L BBNRERSERR
EEtETNASFTEE
BARE+—1E R
HEE A A5793F
FR(MmE=D

F Hf IR ZFRNA—
ARRE-_ZT_NFH
A=+—HIEW&E

(BREERMX)
e © & A208,5487 7T (R

BIEEZMERE - &

BREABR)

e - mEA

Pz 7% & A30,702.90% 7T
EER
=
=92

RERERZ= ABELCER-
E-—FARNA—HEZE-—F
+*H:+f5¢%ﬁ\@3*

T+ A=1+—RHLFE
MZZEZWFEF—-A—RBEZ=Z=
WFERA=+—HIEHEALN
ZHEeRR% EBEREHER
iﬁiﬂ?“ﬂ%1w4mﬁ%ﬁ~
2,871,011 78 7T 521,196,255 7T © M
m@%%%%%EETmm%W
ReeFEReRRYE EREE
AEAFECHEAB L EH D
Ro5w HEHZER=BETLEMR
AIEBEFERN AR EAE
RE BERCETREBE -
BYVBERRBIIRREAEZ
HIE °

089

744 3R

o=
—_=F=



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

W

090

(in

of

The aggregate sum of the rent and service, management
and air-conditioning charges paid by Minmetals Cheerglory
to Texion for the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 May
2024 under Tenancy Agreement Il was HKS$1,196,255
(2023: HKS$2,871,011).

The Tenancy Agreement Ill expired on 31 May 2024.

A tenancy agreement dated 12 July 2024 was entered into
between Minmetals Cheerglory as the tenant and Texion
as the landlord in respect of Premises Il (“Tenancy
Agreement V"), details of which are set out below:

Term © two years from 1 June 2024 to 31
May 2026 (both dates inclusive)

Rent : HK$173,790 per calendar month

(exclusive of government rates and
management and air-
conditioning charges)

service,

Rent-free period 2 months

Service, HKS$33,773.19 per calendar month
management (subject to maximum 20% upward
and air- adjustment)
conditioning
charges

The annual caps for the rent and maximum service,
management and air-conditioning charges payable by
Minmetals Cheerglory in respect of Tenancy Agreement IV
for the period from 1 June 2024 to 31 December 2024, for
the year ended 31 December 2025 and for the period
from 1 January 2026 to 31 May 2026 were HK$1,500,225,
HK$2,571,814 and HKS$1,071,590 respectively. As all the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate
sum of the annual rent and maximum service,
management and air-conditioning charges receivable by
Texion under Tenancy Agreement IV were less than 5%,
Tenancy Agreement IV was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted
from circular, independent financial advice and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules.
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The aggregate sum of the rent and maximum service,
management and air-conditioning charges paid by

Minmetals Cheerglory to Texion for the period from 1

June 2024 to 31

December 2024 under Tenancy

Agreement IV was HK$1,294,503 (2023: N/A).

A tenancy agreement dated 1 June 2022 was entered into

between Minmetals HK (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of

China Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion as the landlord
(“Tenancy Agreement V'), details of which are set out

below:

Premises

Term

Rent

Rent-free period

Service,
management
and air-
conditioning
charges

19th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79
Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong with a GFA of
approximately 5,793 square ("Premises
1)

two years from 1 June 2022 to 31
May 2024 (both dates inclusive)

HK$208,548 per calendar month
(exclusive of government rates and
service, management and air-
conditioning charges)

2 months

HK$30,702.90 per calendar month
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The annual caps for the rent and service, management
and air-conditioning charges payable by Minmetals HK in
respect of Tenancy Agreement V for the period from 1
June 2022 to 31 December 2022, for the year ended 31
December 2023 and for the period from 1 January 2024
to 31 May 2024 were HK$1,674,757, HK$2,871,011 and
HKS$1,196,255 respectively. As all the applicable percentage
ratios in respect of the aggregate sum of the annual rent
and service, management and air-conditioning charges
receivable by Texion under Tenancy Agreement V were
less than 5%, Tenancy Agreement V was subject to annual
review, reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempted from circular, independent financial advice and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rent and service, management
and air-conditioning charges paid by Minmetals HK to
Texion for the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 May 2024
under Tenancy Agreement V was HKS$1,196,255 (2023:
HK$2,871,011).

The Tenancy Agreement V expired on 31 May 2024.
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(ii)

A tenancy agreement dated 12 July 2024 was entered into
between Minmetals HK as the tenant and Texion as the
landlord in respect of Premises Ill (“Tenancy Agreement
VI"), details of which are set out below:

Term © two vyears from 1 June 2024 to 31
May 2026 (both dates inclusive)

Rent : HKS$173,790 per calendar month
(exclusive of government rates and
service, management and air-
conditioning charges)

Rent-free period 2 months

Service, : HK$33,773.19 per calendar month
management (subject to maximum 20% upward
and air- adjustment)
conditioning
charges

The annual caps for the rent and maximum service,
management and air-conditioning charges payable by
Minmetals HK in respect of Tenancy Agreement VI for the
period from 1 June 2024 to 31 December 2024, for the
year ended 31 December 2025 and for the period from 1
January 2026 to 31 May 2026 were HKS$1,500,225,
HK$2,571,814 and HKS$1,071,590 respectively. As all the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate
sum of the annual rent and maximum service,
management and air-conditioning charges receivable by
Texion under Tenancy Agreement VI were less than 5%,
Tenancy Agreement VI was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted
from circular, independent financial advice and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rent and maximum service,
management and air-conditioning charges paid by
Minmetals HK to Texion for the period from 1 June 2024
to 31 December 2024 under Tenancy Agreement VI was
HK$1,294,503 (2023: N/A).

(i)
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A tenancy agreement dated 12 July 2024 was entered into
between Minmetals Cheerglory as the tenant and Texion as the
landlord (“Tenancy Agreement VII"), details of which are set out

below:

Premises - Unit 1201 of 12th Floor, China Minmetals
Tower, 79 Chatham Road South,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong with a
GFA of approximately 1,629 square feet

Term : two years from 1 June 2024 to 31 May 2026
(both dates inclusive)

Rent : HKS$48,870 per calendar month (exclusive of

government rates and service, management
and air-conditioning charges)

Rent-free period 2 months

Service, : HK$9,497.07 per calendar month
management (subject to maximum 20% upward
and air- adjustment)
conditioning
charges

The annual caps for the rent and maximum service, management
and air-conditioning charges payable by Minmetals Cheerglory in
respect of Tenancy Agreement VIl for the period from 1 June
2024 to 31 December 2024, for the year ended 31 December
2025 and for the period from 1 January 2026 to 31 May 2026
were HK$421,866, HK$723,198 and HK$301,333 respectively. As all
the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate sum
of the annual rent and maximum service, management and air-
conditioning charges receivable by Texion under Tenancy
Agreement VIl were less than 5%, Tenancy Agreement VII was
subject to annual review, reporting and announcement
requirements, but exempted from circular, independent financial
advice and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rent and maximum service,
management and air-conditioning charges paid by Minmetals
Cheerglory to Texion for the period from 1 June 2024 to 31
December 2024 under Tenancy Agreement VIl was HK$359,699
(2023: N/A).
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A tenancy agreement dated 7 July 2023 was entered into
between MMG (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of China
Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion as the landlord (“Tenancy
Agreement VIII"), details of which are set out below:

Premises . Unit 1208 of 12th Floor, China Minmetals
Tower, 79 Chatham Road South,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong with a
GFA of approximately 1,840 square feet

Term . three years from 1 July 2023 to 30 June
2026 (both dates inclusive)

Rent : HKS$66,240 per calendar month (exclusive of
government rates and service, management
and air-conditioning charges)

Rent-free period : 2 months

Service, . HKS$9,752 per calendar month
management (subject to maximum 20% upward
and air- adjustment)
conditioning
charges

As at the date of Tenancy Agreement VIII, as all the applicable
percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate sum of the annual
rent and maximum service, management and air-conditioning
charges receivable by Texion under Tenancy Agreement VIl were
less than 0.1%, Tenancy Agreement VIII was fully exempt from all
disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.81 of the Listing Rules, the transactions
contemplated under Tenancy Agreement VIII shall be aggregated
with a series of the similar tenancy agreements. As all the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate sum of
the annual rent and maximum service, management and air-
conditioning charges receivable by Texion under a series of
tenancy agreements were less than 5%, Tenancy Agreement VI
was subject to annual review, reporting and announcement
requirements, but exempted from circular, independent financial
advice and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules.
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The annual cap for the rent and maximum service, management
and air-conditioning charges payable by MMG in respect of the
Tenancy Agreement VIII for the period from 1 July 2023 to 31
December 2023, for each of the two years ending 31 December
2024 and 2025 and for the period from 1 January 2026 to 30
June 2026 were HKS$467,655, HKS$935,309, HK$935,309 and
HKS$467,655 respectively.

The aggregate sum of the rent and maximum service,
management and air-conditioning charges paid by MMG to
Texion for the period for the year ended 31 December 2024
under Tenancy Agreement VIl was HK$857,366 (2023: N/A).

A property management services framework agreement dated 28
September 2022 was entered into between the Company and
Minmetals Properties Hunan (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, which is owned as to 51% and 49% by the
Company and 23rd Metallurgical respectively) whereby
Minmetals Properties Hunan would provide property
management services to the Group for the period from 28
September 2022 to 27 September 2025 (“Minmetals Properties
Hunan Framework Agreement”).

The annual cap for the property management services fees
payable by the Group to the Minmetals Properties Hunan in
respect of the Minmetals Properties Hunan Framework
Agreement (including but not limited to pre-delivery property
management services provided by Minmetals Properties Hunan
to the Group included in the pre-delivery property management
service contracts entered into by the Company on 31 January
2022) for the period from 28 September 2022 to 31 December
2022, for each of the two years ending 31 December 2023 and
2024 and for the period from 1 January 2025 to 27 September
2025 were RMB33,090,000, RMB29,290,000, RMB28,610,000 and
RMB17,350,000 respectively. As all the applicable percentage
ratios in respect of the property management services fees
payable by the Group under Minmetals Properties Hunan
Framework Agreement were less than 5%, Minmetals Properties
Hunan Framework Agreement was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted from
circular, independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.
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The aggregate sum of property management services fees paid
by the Group to Minmetals Properties Hunan for the year ended
31 December 2024 under Minmetals Properties Hunan
Framework Agreement was RMB25,109,426 (2023: RMB7,601,489).

A conditional construction contracting agreement dated 17 April
2023 was entered into between the Company and China
Minmetals whereby the Group may from time to time invite
member(s) of the China Minmetals Group to tender and award
construction contracts, subject to successful tender as
construction contractors in respect of the existing and future real
estate development projects of the Group in Mainland China and
Hong Kong for a term of three years from 19 April 2023 to 18
April 2026 ("Construction Framework Agreement”).

The Construction Framework Agreement and the annual caps
were approved by the independent Shareholders at the special
general meeting of the Company held on 6 June 2023 whereby
the total contract sums which may be awarded by the Group to
member(s) of the China Minmetals Group shall not exceed the
annual caps below:
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For the period from

AT

19 April 2023 to 1 January 2024 to 1 January 2025 to 1 January 2026 to
31 December 2023 31 December 2024 31 December 2025 18 April 2026

—E2-= —E-ME —ECRE —E-X
MA+HABE —HA—HBZ —A—HZ —HA—BZ
—E-= —E-NF “B-hHF —BIAF
+=—HA=+—8H +=—A=+-—H +=ZBA=+—H mA+NH
RMB6,788,510,000 RMB5,829,410,000 RMB3,792,520,000 RMB3,112,000,000
6,788,510,0007C A R #& 5,829,410,0007T A R & 3,792,520,0007C A R & 3,112,000,0007T A R #
The aggregate contract sum awarded by the Group to REEZZT-_NF+_A=+—HILHF
member(s) of the China Minmetals Group for the year ended 31 = ZIKE ERBEETIRERBEXT

December 2024 under Construction Framework Agreement was
RMB42,494,159 (2023: RMB879,860,751).
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An engineering consultancy services framework agreement dated
13 June 2023 was entered into between the Company and
Minmetals Land Holdings (an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of China Minmetals) whereby the Group would
provide engineering consultancy services to Minmetals Land
Holdings and its subsidiaries (“Minmetals Land Holdings Group”)
for the engineering and construction projects bidden and won
by Minmetals Land Holdings Group for the period from 13 June
2023 to 12 June 2026 (“Consultancy Agreement”).

The annual caps for the engineering consultancy services fees
payable by Minmetals Land Holdings Group in respect of
Consultancy Agreement for the period from 13 June 2023 to 31
December 2023, for each of the two years ending 31 December
2024 and 2025 and for the period from 1 January 2026 to 12
June 2026 were RMB15,000,000, RMB20,000,000, RMB20,000,000
and RMB5,000,000 respectively. As all the applicable percentage
ratios in respect of the engineering consultancy services fees
payable by Minmetals Land Holdings Group under the
Consultancy Agreement were less than 5%, the Consultancy
Agreement was subject to annual review, reporting and
announcement requirements, but exempted from circular,
independent financial advice and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

No engineering consultancy services fee was paid by Minmetals
Land Holdings Group to the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024 under Consultancy Agreement (2023:
RMB1,886,792).

A property management services framework agreement dated 28
September 2023 was entered into between the Company and
China Minmetals whereby the Group would provide property
management services to China Minmetals Group for the period
from 28 September 2023 to 27 September 2026 (“China
Minmetals Framework Agreement”).
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The annual caps for the property management services fees
payable by China Minmetals Group to the Group in respect of
the China Minmetals Framework Agreement for the period from
28 September 2023 to 31 December 2023, for each of the two
years ending 31 December 2024 and 2025 and for the period
from 1 January 2026 to 27 September 2026 were RMB9,000,000,
RMB48,260,000, RMB49,550,000 and RMB37,600,000 respectively.
As all the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the property
management services fees payable by China Minmetals Group
under China Minmetals Framework Agreement were less than
5%, China Minmetals Framework Agreement was subject to
annual review, reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempted from circular, independent financial advice and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under the
Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of property management services fees paid
by China Minmetals Group to the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 under China Minmetals Framework Agreement
was RMB30,653,768 (2023: RMB6,243,994).

The related party transactions except those with joint ventures,

associates and persons connected with insignificant subsidiaries as

disclosed in note 37(a) to the consolidated financial statements also fall

under the definition of connected transaction or continuing connected

transactions within the meaning of the Listing Rules, and the Company

has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the above continuing
connected transactions (“Continuing Connected Transactions”) have

been reviewed by the Independent Non-executive Directors who have

confirmed that the Continuing Connected Transactions were carried

out:

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Company
than terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent
third parties; and
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(c)  in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s independent auditor, Ernst & Young, was engaged to
report on the Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
"Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
"Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified letter containing its
findings and conclusions in respect of the Continuing Connected
Transactions disclosed by the Group on pages 82 to 99 of this Annual
Report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

The transactions set out in paragraphs 1, 8,9, 10 and 11 of the section
“Continuing Connected Transactions” above are considered as contracts
of significance under paragraph 16 of Appendix D2 of the Listing Rules.

1. Condo Hong Kong as the borrower and the Company as the
guarantor, accepted the offer from a bank (the “Bank”) for the
grant of general banking facility in an aggregate amount of
HKS$150,000,000 (“Facility 1") on 26 October 2017. Facility | is
subject to annual review of the Bank.

As one of the conditions of Facility I, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall remain
the single largest shareholder of the Company maintaining
(directly or indirectly) not less than 31% shareholding interest of
and has management control over the Company. Upon a breach
of the aforesaid condition, all amounts due under Facility | shall
be immediately due and payable and the Bank shall not be
required to make any further advances under Facility | to Condo
Hong Kong.
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The Company as the borrower and certain banks as lenders (the
“Lenders”) entered into a facility agreement for the granting by
the Lenders to the Company of a 4-year term loan facility (the
“Facility II") in an aggregate amount equal to HK$3,500,000,000
on 17 June 2022 (the “Facility Agreement II").

Pursuant to Facility Agreement I, China Minmetals, the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company, shall own beneficially
(directly or indirectly) not less than 51% of the issued shares of
the Company and have management control over the Company.
A breach of any of the aforesaid conditions would constitute an
event of default and the Lenders may (i) cancel all commitments
under Facility Agreement II; and/or (i) demand that all or part of
the loans together with accrued interest and all other amounts
accrued under Facility Il be immediately due and payable; and/or
(i) demand that all or part of the loans under Facility Il be
payable on demand.

The Company as the borrower and certain financial institutions as
lenders (the “Lenders”) entered into a facility agreement for the
granting by the Lenders to the Company of a 3-year term loan
facility (the “Facility llI") in an aggregate amount equal to
HK$970,000,000 on 3 February 2023 (the “Facility Agreement III").

As one of the conditions of Facility lll, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall, amongst
other things, beneficially (directly or indirectly) own not less than
51% of the issued shares of the Company and have control over
the Company. Upon a breach of any of the aforesaid conditions
would constitute an event of default and Lenders may (i) cancel
all commitments under Facility Agreement Ill; and/or (i) demand
that all or part of the loans together with accrued interest and all
other amounts accrued under Facility Il be immediately due and
payable; and/or (iii) demand that all or part of the loans under
Facility Ill be payable on demand; and/or (iv) exercise any or all
of its rights, remedies, powers or discretions under the Facility
Agreement llI.

The Company as the borrower accepted the offer from a bank
(the “Bank”) for a revolving loan facility in an aggregate amount
of RMB1,000,000,000 on 29 May 2023 (“Facility IV").
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As one of the conditions of Facility IV, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall maintain,
directly or indirectly, 51% of the issued share capital of the
Company and maintain control over the Company. Upon a
breach of any of the aforesaid conditions, Facility IV is repayable
in full amount on demand by the Bank.

The Company as the borrower and certain banks as lenders (the
“Lenders”) entered into a facility agreement for the granting by
the Lenders to the Company of a 2-year term loan facility (the
“Facility V") in an aggregate amount equal to HK$2,600,000,000
on 16 January 2024 (the “Facility Agreement V").

As one of the conditions of Facility V, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
beneficially owned (directly or indirectly) not less than 51% of
the issued share of the Company and have management control
over the Company. Upon a breach of any of the aforesaid
conditions would constitute an event of default and Lenders may
(i) cancel all commitments under the Facility Agreement V; and/
or (i) demand that all or part of the loans, together with accrued
interest, and all other amounts accrued under the Facility V be
immediately due and payable; and/or (i) demand that all or part
of the loans under the Facility V be payable on demand.

The Company as the borrower accepted the offer from a bank
(the "Bank”) for a revolving loan facility in an aggregate amount
of HK$700,000,000 on 16 May 2024 (the "Facility VI").

As one of the conditions of Facility VI, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall remain
the single largest shareholder of the Company, and maintain,
directly or indirectly, 51% of the issued share capital of and
control over the Company. Upon a breach of any of the
aforesaid conditions, the Facility VI is repayable in full amount on
demand by the Bank.

The Company as the borrower accepted the offer from a bank
(the "Bank”) for a revolving loan facility in an aggregate amount
of HK$1,500,000,000 on 25 July 2024 (the "Facility VII").
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As one of the conditions of Facility VI, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
beneficially owned (directly or indirectly) at least 51% interest of
and has management control over the Company. Upon a breach
of any of the aforesaid conditions, the Facility VI is repayable in
full amount on demand by the Bank.

The Company as the borrower accepted the offer from a bank
(the "Bank”) for a revolving loan facility in an aggregate amount
of HK$1,800,000,000 on 25 July 2024 (the “Facility VII").

As one of the conditions of Facility VI, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
beneficially owned (directly or indirectly) at least 51% interest of
and has management control over the Company. Upon a breach
of any of the aforesaid conditions, the Facility VIII is repayable in
full amount on demand by the Bank.

The Company as the borrower accepted the offer from a bank
(the “Bank”) for a 364-days revolving loan facility in an aggregate
amount of HK$780,000,000 on 24 December 2024 (the “Facility
[X").

As one of the conditions of Facility IX, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
beneficially owned (directly or indirectly) at least 51% interest of
and has management control over the Company. Upon a breach
of any of the aforesaid conditions, the Facility IX is repayable in
full amount on demand by the Bank.

The Company as the borrower and a bank as lender (the “Lender”)
entered into a facility agreement for the granting by the Lender
to the Company of a 3-year term loan facility (the “Facility X") in
an aggregate amount equal to RMB1,000,000,000 on 17 February
2025 (the “Facility Agreement X").

As one of the conditions of Facility Agreement X, China
Minmetals, the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company,
shall beneficially owned (directly or indirectly) not less than 51%
of the issued shares of the Company and has management
control over the Company. Upon a breach of any of the
aforesaid conditions would constitute an event of default and
Lender may (i) cancel all commitments under Facility Agreement
X; and/or (ii) demand that all or part of the loans under Facility X
be payable on demand.
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Save as disclosed above, the Company does not have other disclosure
obligations under Rules 13.18 and 13.21 of the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this Annual Report, based on the information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, the Company has maintained sufficient public float of the
issued Shares as required under Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed with the
independent auditor the audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2024 and has also discussed auditing, risk
management and internal control, and financial reporting matters
including the review of the accounting practices and principles
adopted by the Group.

Ernst & Young was appointed as the independent auditor of the Group
by Shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 27 May 2021
upon the retirement of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu at the conclusion of
the annual general meeting held on the same date. Ernst & Young
retires and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution
for re-appointment of Ernst & Young as the independent auditor of the
Group is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

The consolidated financial statements as contained in this Annual
Report have been audited by Ernst & Young.

By order of the Board
He Jianbo
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
M 3 A S e

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King's Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY::

To the shareholders of Minmetals Land Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Minmetals
Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out
on pages 115 to 283, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
T8 31 A% B

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

BREXZEE

FEREFZEE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNECNAHRARELSTRETEE

Valuation of investment properties

BEMRMEE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's investment properties
were measured at fair value amounted to HK$2,661 million.
Decrease of HK$187 million in fair value of investment
properties was recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year then ended.

RZZE-WMF+=—A=+—H ' BEEERQAAENE
Z IR E W) 2 /R2,661,000000% 7T © IR BV E R B D
187,000,000 TTERBEZ A ILFE 2 A BRRER

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a
key audit matter because the valuation process is based on
an estimation of future results, a set of assumptions and a
determination of key inputs, which are judgmental. Any
changes to these inputs may have a significant impact on
the fair value. Management determined the fair value of the
Group's investment properties as at 31 December 2024 with
the assistance of an independent external valuer.
HARREDERLEEINREREZER  REARGE
BIRETIARKREBZ 2B —EBRRNETZ2E2HA
BEAEAR  FRARZEENAEMEE - 2T ABIE
ZEMESOREH AR BENEATE - EEELES
VHNBMEERM BT BE BEREREVER_-ZE
“WFE+ZA=t+—HZzAnE"

Details of the investment properties and the related key
estimation uncertainty are set out in notes 15 and 3,
respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.
BRAREMENEBEERAFT TABRRZFED B
RERB P MRM 15 R3 -

Our procedures in relation to management's valuation of
investment properties mainly included:

B EREEHREVMELERTZCEFFERRUTE
HiZfT :

1. Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the external valuer engaged by management;
BT ERERMTENIINBEERMZER - B
REBIML

2. Obtaining a copy of the valuation report prepared by
the external valuer and discussing with the external
valuer to obtain an understanding of the basis of
determination of valuation; and
PG HI B EEMRROGERS - W
HERDB R T R ERE KR

3. Assessing, with the assistance from our internal valuation
specialists, the models and assumptions used in valuing
the investment properties and obtaining the market
evidence that the external valuer used to support the
key inputs.

EHRMOABEEZIROBE T FHEREMEM
EFTE A RA AR - WEEIN B ERD AR
FEARBABBNTISIER -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

BREXEE

FEREFZEE®@®)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BHNEZNAHERERSRETEE

Revenue from sales of properties

HEMEXBA

Revenue from sales of a property is recognised when the
completed property is transferred to the customer, being at
the point that the customer obtains the control of the
completed property and the Group has present right to
payment and collection of the consideration is probable.
HEMERATDREIMEEBREZEFK (AIEFREF
RIYEEGIER ESEEREMNKERRMNKEE 8L
WEAE 2 ) TERR ©

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recognised revenue from sales of properties of
approximately HK$9,372 million.
HE_ZT-_NF+_A=+—HILLFE B5EHER
46 ¥ 2 A 499,372,000,0007% 7T

=11

We identified the revenue from sales of properties as a key
audit matter due to the significance of the amount and
volume of sales transactions recognised during the year and
there is judgement involved in determining the appropriate
point at which to recognise revenue from sales of
properties.
HRFARRANHERZCREMBENERE - HFIK
MEHEWARTESBEREAFIE  LHAEETHER
FHERAREE KRR RS R -

Details of revenue from sales of properties are set out in
notes 5 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

BRAHEMFBRAFBHN R BERKRME M3 -
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Our procedures in relation to revenue from sales of properties
mainly included:

BFIEENEBARTZREFEZERE

1. Obtaining an understanding of, evaluating and testing
the key controls over revenue recognition on a sample
basis; and
TR B EBMENRNERABREFENEE
Y A

2. Selecting property sales transactions on a sample basis
and:

BEMEREMEHERS WA

(1) reading the signed sale and purchase agreements
to obtain an understanding of the relevant terms
of the timing of property delivery and title
transfer;

MECEBEEDRS U TRYEINERERL
FEREERNAAR G

(2)  obtaining evidence regarding the property
delivery and title transfer;

BEMERN R EEE RN B

(3)  reviewing the relevant supporting documents in
relation to the property delivery to buyers prior to
the year end, to assess whether the revenue has
been recognised in an appropriate period; and
EHFRAM BRIV XA AEREF R
AFHEWARBEHEE BREER M

(4)  reconciling the monetary amounts of recorded
transactions and related payments to those in the
signed sale and purchase agreements.
RELHIFINER B RABENRES RS

BEEmHLR -



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

BREXZEE

FEREFZEE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNECNAHRARELSTRETEE

Net realisable value of properties under development and properties held for sale

BRTUERSEHENENTERFE

Properties under development and properties held for sale
at the end of each reporting period are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value.
MREMEPRERDPYERFFELEWRIRBCRE ] &
IRFEREREE AR -

Net realisable value of properties under development is
determined by reference to estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less estimated costs to
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sales. Net realisable value of properties held for sale is
determined by reference to estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sales.
ERPYENATEZRFENZ2ERTEKBEPOMET
EERGF T IR ARETHEMFNETRAEE -
FIELEMENAISRFEN2ERAERBRIETOMG
AEBERETHEMBHNMAKARETE -

Our procedures in relation to net realisable value of properties
under development and properties held for sale mainly
included:

B BRERTPYELFELEMRAISEFERTZ
BFFeiE:

1. Obtaining an understanding of, evaluating and testing
the key controls over cost budgeting for estimated
costs to completion;

TR BV ARGEH T IKANKATEENEE
P

2. Assessing the reasonableness of estimated selling prices
by comparing the management'’s estimated selling price
to the recent average contracted selling price in the
same project or the prevailing market price of
comparable properties with similar type, size and
location;
FRBHEREGANEERAMERIEBRNETH
$ﬂﬁﬁiﬁ“@m KJ&%%M@%%%%E
AT EETHER - WA EAEERTEE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

HREXREE

FEREFZEE®@®)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RANERNMHBEREXERETEE

Net realisable value of properties under development and properties held for sale (Continued)

BRETUERFELENENTRERFEE(E)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's properties under
development and properties held for sale amounted to
HK$24,699 million. For the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group recognised impairment losses of HKS$1,741
million on properties under development and properties
held for sale.

RZZEZ_MOF+—A=+—H ' BEEENERTYHE
R 5B H & ¥ % 5 24,699,0000008 7 c BE =T _HF
TZA=+—BHILFE EXEERERDVERIFE
& W 3 RE SRR (B E5151,741,000,00078 T °

We identified the net realisable value for properties under
development and properties held for sale as a key audit
matter as a significant management estimate is required in
assessing the net realisable value.

MR AR FETEEAETEEMRE - RMEHA
BERPYERFELHENEN TR FEERBREZ
FE-

Details of net realisable value of properties under
development and properties held for sale are set out in
notes 20 and 3, respectively, to the consolidated financial
statements.

AP RERM FE20 %3 ©

3.

Assessing the reasonableness of estimated costs
necessary to make the sales by comparing with the
average historical expense rate of the Group, and
reviewing the supporting documents of the
adjustments that management made according to
historical data; and

FiEE SEEEMNBETHERETHER  FEE
THEMBOMEAKANSIEN  WEMHEEER
EREEEETAERNFEXH &

Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated costs to
completion by comparing the latest estimated costs to
completion to the budget approved by management
and examining the supporting documents such as
construction contracts, internal correspondence and
approvals.
BANRENRA T IKAREEREL ENTES
ARBEFEXH (REAR - ARBEARSE
B A EBRA T IR ARREES °



OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the
Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

HttERBRERFHRA

BERAESFAHHEMENAR - EMEHNE
BRERANER  ETEBREAMBBREREK
B BE RS

BMEGAMEREOELL TERR0E
B BN S A R B R AE AR
SEETEE

BAERMEEAMBRRNESZ  RMANE
ERMEEMER  ELURRET  TEEME
HELRGAMBHRRIRMEEZBIET
TR FEEREBLEUFFEE
REERRAANFER - ERBEMT AT TIE
MRBEMRBREMENFESAHERRL
BMBERESZFE - wEhmE - RPRBE
EEE

EERGEMBRRAEEN

B

BERAERABARBE LGS RM
BB B HREER) RBECRRERHD B
BEAETRUEEMTBENGEAMBERE
VTHERBEEEHMBRERNER I FEH
REFEREER M E BN B AR FAF A
AEEHIBE -

EREGAMBHRRE - EQREZTRAE
it BEEEFELENEN  YEBBRBERT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

BRBEHRERGRS
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STA

TEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have

compl

ied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that

may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where

applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

ZREEMBZES M RRA
ENET@®
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wong Kwok Yin.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2025

REEMBZGEES M HRRA
ENET@®
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

»‘ITIZIT i%

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-Z_F+-_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E_MmF —E=%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FEx FAT
REVENUE A 5 9,882,956 12,630,739
Cost of sales HEK A (9,277,654) (10,458,171)
Gross profit ER 605,302 2,172,568
Other income H A 6 86,147 103,892
Fair value changes on investment Txﬁ%%@ﬁ@ )
properties 15 (187,044) (2,284)
Selling and marketing expenses HERZHER (535,115) (416,249)
Administrative and other expenses TR REMAS (487,540) (588,659)
Allowance for impairment of inventories 17 & BB # 15 7 (1,741,066) (503,034)
Impairment losses recognised under TEHEEEEENIET
expected credit loss model, net R REBEFE 10 (366,246) (173,661)
Finance income Zup T ON 8 217,336 184,386
Finance costs B 75 PR AR 8 (534,689) (477416)
Share of results of associates DAGEEE R R EE 17 (823,337) (209,869)
Share of results of joint ventures DEEE R RIHEE 18 59,678 33,889
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBLAT (B51R), R F 7 (3,706,574) 123,563
Income tax expense FrEHimAx 11 (41,823) (649,249)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR rEEEE (3,748,397) (525,686)
(Loss)/profit for the year REEE (FE) B
attributable to: B :
Equity holders of the Company RRRIRERFE A (3,520,690) (1,015,518)
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR AR R AE = 41(b) (227,707) 489,832
(3,748,397) (525,686)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ZAAXARREHEAEHLZ
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE BREE - B
COMPANY, IN HK CENTS
Basic and diluted BERK#E 13 (105.19) (30.34)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
A) A)
A 18 A B At 2 v Wi AR SR
Year ended 31 December 2024 #HE-Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE
2024 2023
—E-mEF ZE=F
Notes HK$’000 HKS'000
B 5 FEx T T
LOSS FOR THE YEAR TEERE (3,748,397) (525,686)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE Hit 2 E X H
Other comprehensive expense that may REHIMAIREEF HEEE
be reclassified to profit or loss in Bms EMEEZ W -
subsequent periods:
Currency translation differences P& 5 == (350,694) (366,903)
Fair value loss on hedging instruments &R RS Hh T A
in cash flow hedges ZAREEE 26 (2,303) (28,861)
Share of other comprehensive expense 2 {h B & A A B 2 M
of associates X H 17 (26,386) (30,840)
Share of other comprehensive expense ~ A fE& & QA Al HMEME
of joint ventures X H 18 (7,174) (4,347)
(386,557) (430,951)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) {EEME T2 EHHEE
- that will not be reclassified to profit or BaRzEMmEEEA S
E loss in subsequent periods: (i) -
é Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets BB E b2 U&= I%
> at fair value through other ARBEFEZHBEE
= comprehensive income FELZ AR ERE
- (E18) 19 55,515 (222,309)
55,515 (222,309)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE FOR ZANEERFAHEMEE X H
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (331,042) (653,260)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE FOR ZAEEZ2HE X HAH
THE YEAR (4,079,439) (1,178,946)
Total comprehensive (expense)/ AEEZ@E(ZH) WA
income for the year attributable to: #AEEEBER :
a Equity holders of the Company RARIRERE A (3,678,233) (1,532,460)
E Non-controlling interests JEHEE % A% 2R A 7 (401,206) 353,514
a
= (4,079,439) (1,178,946)
9
B
=
=




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A BB IR YL A

31 December 2024 —ZE=F+=A=+—H

2024 2023
—E-E —E_=F
Notes HK$’000 HKS'000
B & FEx FAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment LE N 14 696,812 677,511
Investment properties LAY 15 2,661,098 2,806,263
Interests in associates RN ol vy 17 1,125,206 2,028,924
Interests in joint ventures REERR 2R 18 329,267 333,897
Financial assets at fair value through BWMEMEABSEALE
other comprehensive income FrECMBEE 19 234,634 179,119
Other financial assets Ho b B 75 & B 26 106 —
Other receivables H{th e Uk 5RI8 17,682 7,775
Deferred tax assets EEFIEE E 30 335,733 458,949
Total non-current assets EMENE EETE 5,400,538 6,492,438
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 20 24,699,194 33,601,789
Prepayments, trade and other receivables FBNFIE - B 5 M H b fEUR
IR 21 7,166,458 8,821,507
Prepaid income tax X NIZIE T 760,980 729,270
Contract assets BHEE 22 68,397 191,082
Contract costs CRADE:N 23 68,707 222,274
Other financial assets HAb Bt 5 & B 26 — 2,409
Cash and bank deposits, restricted X R &R & KIRTTIER 24 44,787 103,640
Cash and bank deposits, unrestricted PIEBHIR e RBITHFER 25 2,821,859 3,410,744
Total current assets MENEELRER 35,630,382 47,082,715
Total assets EEHAR 41,030,920 53,575,153
EQUITY Ex
Share capital fi& 7 27 334,691 334,691
Reserves f# 28 1,274,145 4,952,378
Equity attributable to equity holders AT REFEAELZ
of the Company s 1,608,836 5,287,069
Non-controlling interests FE IR IR R A 41(b) 7,648,133 9,060,576
Total equity B 9,256,969 14,347,645
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A RO #R
31 December 2024 —Z-FE+-A=+—H
2024 2023
—E_MF B =4
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FE T FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBAE
Borrowings B 29 5,388,587 8,093,545
Other payables H fth & A RKIE 3] 206,936 229,080
Deferred tax liabilities LR IBEE 30 156,383 204,910
Lease liabilities HEaE 16 — 2,707
Total non-current liabilities ERE B EEE 5,751,906 8,530,242
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Borrowings (EB 29 16,294,582 15,223,126
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAMEFRIA 31 7,546,508 9,114,886
Contract liabilities SN ON=R 32 1,647,646 5,706,814
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 2,649 3,720
Taxation payable FET R IE 530,660 648,720
Total current liabilities mEBERRE 26,022,045 30,697,266
3 Total liabilities LR 31,773,951 39,227,508
E
O
& Total equity and liabilities ERRkEEEE 41,030,920 53,575,153
g
=z
z Net current assets RBEEFE 9,608,337 16,385,449
Total assets less current liabilities EEHAERARBERE 15,008,875 22,877,887
He jianbo fa] &1 i Chen Xingwu FR % &
Director 25 Director %
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RV
MO MERZE R
Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE-Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE
Attributable to equity holders
of the Company
ARRIRERA ARG
Non-
Share controlling Total
capital Reserves Total interests equity
FEBRBRE
&N w8 ek s R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FET FET
(note 27) (note 28) (note 41(b))
(B &E27) (P 28) (Hi=E41(b))

At 1 January 2023 R-ZZE_=%—-H—H 334,691 6,484,838 6,819,529 9,992,569 16,812,098

(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EE),/ & H — (1,015,518) (1,015,518) 489,832 (525,686)

Other comprehensive expense for FAHMEZEXH
the year — (516,942) (516,942) (136,318) (653,260)

Total comprehensive (expense)/income & RAKRFZ2E (XH),/
for the year, net of tax WA 458 — (1,532,460) (1,532,460) 353,514 (1,178,946)

Capital reduction paid to non- B8 A R SEERIR R 2 A s
controlling shareholders of g
subsidiaries = = = (86,617) (86,617) I

Dividends distributed to fe0 fff /88 2 B FE R AR AR 2 U W
non-controlling shareholders of P 3=}
subsidiaries — — — (1,198,890) (1,198,890)

At 31 December 2023 R-T_=%F

+ZA=+—8H 334,691 4,952,378 5,287,069 9,060,576 14,347,645
I
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=
T
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=
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
AR E L
Year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZT_NF+_A=+—HItFE
Attributable to equity holders
of the Company
FARRERFE ARNL
Non-
Share controlling Total
capital Reserves Total interests equity
FERRE
(&S % e B ERAE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TERT TER TER TERT
(note 27) (note 28) (note 41(b))
(M&x27) (BHEE28) (BFEE41(b))
At 1 January 2024 R-ZF-_WF—HF—H 334,691 4,952,378 5,287,069 9,060,576 14,347,645
Loss for the year FREER —  (3,520,690) (3,520,690) (227,707)  (3,748,397)
Other comprehensive expense for FAHMEZEXH
the year — (157,543) (157,543) (173,499) (331,042)
Total comprehensive expense for FAKRTGREZEX L AE
the year, net of tax — (3,678,233)  (3,678,233) (401,206)  (4,079,439)
5 Capital reduction paid to non- ft B AR FEERR R < W E
S controlling shareholders of
g subsidiaries — — — (868,478) (868,478)
; Dividends distributed to non- BESEPNGIE S8 BN
% controlling shareholders of P 3=}
= subsidiaries — — — (142,759)  (142,759)
At 31 December 2024 RZTZWF
+=—A=+—H 334,691 1,274,145 1,608,836 7,648,133 9,256,969
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HOBeRER
Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE-Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE
2024 2023
—ENE —E-=%F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5E FEx FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHRAESRE
ACTIVITIES
Cash generated from operations KEEBMEAR S 34(a) 2,383,362 2,146,711
Income tax paid EATER (123,964) (409,323)
Interest paid EFE (1,208,242) (1,315,888)
Net cash flows generated from RETHFIEERESRE
operating activities EE 1,051,156 421,500
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZHHRETRE
ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and BEWHE  BE MEE
equipment 14 (50,154) (56,393)
Proceeds on disposals of property, plant  HEWE - HE KR EHS
and equipment IR 505 214
Additions of investment properties BB 15 (60,038) (45,457)
Investment in a joint venture R—REERAIZEE — (385)
Repayment from an associate ERE—XEE AR 20,266 3,801
- s b
Repayments from joint ventures ERBEERT 176,783 207,953 i
Repayments from non-controlling Bt B8 2 Bl FE R AR IR R AR R ‘€|[
shareholders of subsidiaries 10,584 1,006,368 f‘ﬁ
Repayment from a fellow subsidiary —XARWERRER — 2,687
Dividends from an associate REBE QRIS 53,995 —
Interest received B B 139,753 184,386
Net cash flows generated from RETBFIEERERE
investing activities R 291,694 1,303,174
I
44
=
i
el
=)
i
H
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MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BEBERER

Year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ-_WF+-_A=+—HIFE

2024 2023
—E-mEF T =F
Notes HK$’000 HKS'000
Bt 5 FEx FHT

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHRERE

ACTIVITIES
New borrowings g e K 11,383,537 7,989,714
Repayments of borrowings EEBEK (12,903,115) (8,978,736)
Repayments to fellow subsidiaries BT R R B R A 34(b) (17,477) (2,423,040)
Repayment to a joint venture BERT—XREE QA 34(b) (36,825) —
Repayments to associates e i /N 34(b) (55,039) (1,012,462)
Repayments to non-controlling BT HE R RIEERARR

shareholders of subsidiaries 34(b) (222,152) (178,459)
Dividends paid to non-controlling A BT BB A B FEIRE AR AR BR S2 A5

shareholders of subsidiaries 2B (8,466) (1,198,890)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHREaE 34(b) (3,859) (19,967)
Capital reduction from non-controlling Bt /&8 A R FE 1 IR AR SR AR

shareholders of subsidiaries B — (86,617)
Net cash flows used in financing RMEEBHMARESRETHE

activities (1,863,396) (5,908,457)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERRESEENRD FH

CASH EQUIVALENTS (520,546) (4,183,783)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FHIZBEERIBEEEY

of the year 3,410,744 7,701,361
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, [ R & Eh ) 7/ 2 %48

net (68,339) (106,834)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZBERASEEY

AT END OF THE YEAR 25 2,821,859 3,410,744
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Targ
s

LR £ &

31 December 2024 —ZE=F+=A=+—H

1.

2.1

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Minmetals Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in
real estate development, specialised construction and property
investment. The People’s Republic of China is the major market
for the Group’s businesses.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The Company is listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its immediate holding
company is June Glory International Limited (incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands) and its ultimate controlling shareholder is
China Minmetals Corporation (“China Minmetals") (incorporated
in Mainland China).

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate
Information section to the annual report.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"). In addition, these financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
investment properties, derivative financial instruments and equity
investments which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HKS" or
"HK dollar(s)") which is also the functional currency of the
Company, and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.
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31 December 2024 —Z—-E+—-A=+—H

2.1

N~ 124

BASIS OF PREPARATION (cONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e,, existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(©)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the equity holders of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (cONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill) liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the
fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate,
on the same basis as would be required if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Going Concern

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$3,748 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024. As of 31 December 2024,
the Group recorded net current assets of HK$9,608 million. The
Group's current portion of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings amounted to HK$16,295 million, while the Group’s
cash and cash equivalents amounted to HK$2,822 million.

As further disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group was in the progress of obtaining waivers
from banks for non-compliance with the financial covenants of
certain facility agreements and caused certain cross defaults of
other bank borrowings for the year ended 31 December 2024.
Taking into consideration the Group's cash flow projections
prepared by the management, the Group's financial position, the
support from China Minmetals and one of its fellow subsidiaries,
the unutilised credit facilities offered from financial institutions,
and other financial resources, as at the date of this report, the
directors of the Company are satisfied that the Group is able to
meet its financial obligations in full as and when they fall due for
the coming 12 months. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
information has been prepared on a going concern basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 1 B 25 A M

31 December 2024 —Z—-E+—-A=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 G BERBESH
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first REBRARFERNIBREKP 5P
time in the current year's financial statements. OB T BB B E R -
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and BBV BRMEERN ERAHELNHEE
Leaseback F169R 2 15F] BE
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as BB g ER| DB EBTE
Current or Non-current (the F15 2 (EF] LI E)
2020 Amendments”) ([ZE2=FF
&ET1)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with BB ER B 35 22 5 Ay
Covenants (the "2022 F1R BT FFBE &
Amendments”) (===
B85 1)
Amendments to HKAS 7 and  Supplier Finance Arrangements BRI EREIY HREZHELH
HKFRS 7 REBMBHREE

AIE75% 2 &57T

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are HARAEE BT B BN ERELE
applicable to the Group are described below: Alp M E R 2RI
(@  Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a @ BAEUNBREERFE 165 Z(EET
3 seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in HEEs — &ABAGFTEEEDHE
= a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee REMEENHERRZHETE
g does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that UREN — A AT RS
2 relates to the right of use it retains. Since the Group has FIRBEAREEHNEMNERS
o} \ N N
z no sale and leaseback transactions with variable lease Ho-BHRASEBHRAERAES
<< + S At 2} N
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate MRS 2R 65k 2 B B R
occurring from the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, TEURARIEH S LR EHE
the amendments did not have any impact on the financial NHRHERBERS  AZF
position or performance of the Group. BRI H RSB H I BRI H KR
W AR E o
o
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (conNTINUED)

(b)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting
period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability can
be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself
accounted for as an equity instrument would the terms of
a liability not impact its classification. The 2022
Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with
which an entity must comply on or before the reporting
date affect the classification of that liability as current or
non-current. Additional disclosures are required for
non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months after
the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its
liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and concluded
that the classification of its liabilities as current or
non-current remained unchanged upon initial application
of the amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not
have any impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The
disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended
to assist users of financial statements in understanding the
effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. The
amendments did not have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R 1 B 25 A M

31 December 2024 —Z—-E+—-A=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not early adopted the following new and revised

HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these
financial statements. The Group intends to adopt these new and
revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective.

HKFRS 18

HKFRS 19

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 21

Annual Improvements to

HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements’®

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures’

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?®

Lack of Exchangeability’
Amendments to HKFRS 1,

HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10
and HKAS 72

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

? Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
While a number of sections have been brought forward from
HKAS 1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18 introduces new
requirements for presentation within the statement of profit or
loss, including specified totals and subtotals. Entities are required
to classify all income and expenses within the statement of profit
or loss into one of the five categories: operating, investing,
financing, income taxes and discontinued operations and to
present two new defined subtotals. It also requires disclosures
about management-defined performance measures in a single
note and introduces enhanced requirements on the grouping
(aggregation and disaggregation) and the location of information
in both the primary financial statements and the notes. Some
requirements previously included in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS
8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors, which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation of
Financial Statements. As a consequence of the issuance of HKFRS
18, limited, but widely applicable, amendments are made to
HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share
and HKAS 34 /nterim Financial Reporting. In addition, there are
minor consequential amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 18
and the consequential amendments to other HKFRSs are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
with earlier application permitted. Retrospective application is
required. The Group is currently analysing the new requirements
and assessing the impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation and
disclosure of the Group's financial statements.

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced
disclosure requirements while still applying the recognition,
measurement and presentation requirements in other HKFRSs. To
be eligible, at the end of the reporting period, an entity must be
a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements, cannot have public accountability and must have a
parent (ultimate or intermediate) that prepares consolidated
financial statements available for public use which comply with
HKFRSs. Earlier application is permitted. As the Company is a
listed company, it is not eligible to elect to apply HKFRS 19.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 clarify the date on which
a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised and
introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise a financial
liability that is settled through an electronic payment system
before the settlement date if specified criteria are met. The
amendments clarify how to assess the contractual cash flow
characteristics of financial assets with environmental, social and
governance and other similar contingent features. Moreover, the
amendments clarify the requirements for classifying financial
assets with non-recourse features and contractually linked
instruments. The amendments also include additional disclosures
for investments in equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income and financial instruments
with contingent features. The amendments shall be applied
retrospectively with an adjustment to opening retained profits (or
other component of equity) at the initial application date. Prior
periods are not required to be restated and can only be restated
without the use of hindsight. Earlier application of either all the
amendments at the same time or only the amendments related
to the classification of financial assets is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of
assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from
the transaction is recognised in the investor's profit or loss only
to the extent of the unrelated investor's interest in that associate
or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the
HKICPA. However, the amendments are available for adoption
now.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and
how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement
date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of financial
statements to understand the impact of a currency not being
exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying the
amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative information.
Any cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall
be recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component of equity,
where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 11 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the
accompanying Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9,
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the amendments that are
expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph
B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs IG1, IG14 and IG20B of the
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 for the purpose of
simplification or achieving consistency with other
paragraphs in the standard and/or with the concepts and
terminology used in other standards. In addition, the
amendments clarify that the Guidance on implementing
HKFRS 7 does not necessarily illustrate all the
requirements in the referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor
does it create additional requirements. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

132

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify that
when a lessee has determined that a lease liability has
been extinguished in accordance with HKFRS 9, the lessee
is required to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and
recognise any resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In
addition, the amendments have updated certain wording
in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of HKFRS 9
to remove potential confusion. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described in
paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one example of various
relationships that might exist between the investor and
other parties acting as de facto agents of the investor,
which removes the inconsistency with the requirement in
paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace
the term “cost method” with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of
HKAS 7 following the prior deletion of the definition of
‘cost method”. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any impact on the
Group's financial statements.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration test, on
a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is
not a business. The concentration test is met if substantially all of
the fair values of the gross assets acquired are concentrated in a
single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The
gross assets under assessment exclude cash and cash
equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the
effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met,
the set of activities and assets is determined not to be a
business and no further assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the
individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price to the individual identifiable assets
and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date
of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or
bargain purchase gain.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss
as incurred.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EREFEE®

(CONTINUED)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable assets
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acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an
asset and a liability in the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting.
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At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

N~ 134

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair values.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in
a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period
adjustments are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

— 136

(CONTINUED)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that
do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on
how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to
fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group
obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as
appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior
to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9
would be accounted for on the same basis as would be required
if the Group had disposed directly of the previously held equity
interest.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or fair value less costs of
disposal in HKAS 36 /Impairment of Assets.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant's ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that
at initial recognition, the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as below:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.
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2.4

138

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances.

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a
joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of
the associate/joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the
Group. When the Group'’s share of losses of an associate or a
joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate or
joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint
venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of
the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained
interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the
Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest
in the associate or joint venture is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture.
In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be
required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the
relevant associate or joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of
the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in
the consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to
the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision
maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive directors of the
Company that make strategic decisions.

Foreign currencies

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional
currency”).

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of respective entities of the Group using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of
each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

—  Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings
relating to assets under construction for future productive
use, which are included in the cost of those assets when
they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on
those foreign currency borrowings; and

—  Exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or
payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or
partial disposal of the Group’s interests.

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none
of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

—  assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the end of
the reporting period;

— income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss
are translated at average exchange rates (unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint venture or
an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the equity holders of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposal
of associates or joint ventures that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets and
liabilities arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

—  the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

—  the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to
a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e.
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group's efforts or inputs to
the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the total
expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depicts the Group's performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time
value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group with
a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services
to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains a
significant financing component. A significant financing
component may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the
payment terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Existence of significant financing component (Continued)
For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of
the associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction
price for any significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the
transfer of the associated goods or services in which the Group
adjusts for the promised amount of consideration for a
significant financing component, the Group applies a discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to
a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange
for those goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e.
the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified good or service by another
party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified
good or service provided by another party before that good or
service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an
agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or
commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for
arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by
the other party.

Contract costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would
not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Contract costs (Continued)

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract (Continued)

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as an asset
if it expects to recover these costs. The asset so recognised is
subsequently amortised to profit or loss on a systematic basis
that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods
or services to which the assets relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all
incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs would
otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or loss within one
year.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application or arising
from business combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on
the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial statements
would not differ materially from individual leases within the
portfolio.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It
also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line
basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received; and

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Except for those that are classified as investment properties and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of
the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the
end of the useful life. The right-of-use assets are buildings which
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease terms of 3
to 5 years.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property or inventory in “property, plant
and equipment”, the same line item within which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they were
owned. Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment property and inventory are presented within
“investment properties” and “inventories” respectively.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
when the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for a lease
modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that
stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
and lease incentives from lessor by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the
modified contract contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a
finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Classification and measurement of leases (Continued)

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15") to allocate consideration
in a contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease
components are separated from lease component on the basis of
their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the
head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The
sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference
to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with
reference to the underlying asset.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part
of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease
modifications, including lease incentives provided through
forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to
the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.

Sale and leaseback transactions

The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15 to assess
whether sale and leaseback transaction constitutes a sale by the
Group.

The Group as a seller-lessee

For a transfer that satisfies the requirements as a sale, the Group
as a seller-lessee measures the right-of-use asset arising from the
leaseback at the proportion of the previous carrying amount of
the asset retained and recognises any gain or loss that relates to
the rights transferred to the buyer-lessor only.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the
general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on
general borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible
for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary
condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or
otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred
revenue in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable. Such grants are
included in the “other income”.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repair and maintenance costs are
expensed in the profit or loss during the period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to allocate
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings 2%-5%
Leasehold improvements Over the remaining period of

the lease
Machinery 5%-25%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15%-25%
Motor vehicles 20%-30%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Gain and loss on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in the
profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation (including properties under construction
for such purposes).

Investment properties also include leased properties which are
being recognised as right-of-use assets upon application of
HKFRS 16 and subleased by the Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
value, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating
lease income.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Investment properties (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period
in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use
has been changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation,
any differences between the carrying amount and the fair value
of that item (including the relevant leasehold land classified as
right-of-use assets) at the date of transfer is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in property revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the property,
the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to
retained earnings.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. A
leased property which is recognised as a right-of-use asset is
derecognised if the Group as intermediate lessor classifies the
sublease as a finance lease. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.

Transfer from inventories to investment properties carried
at fair value

The Group transfers a property from inventories to investment
properties when there is a change in use to hold the property to
earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation rather than for sale in
the ordinary course of business, which is evidenced by the
inception of an operating lease to another party. Any difference
between the fair value of the property at the date of transfer and
its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and contract costs

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and contract costs with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets
are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,

right-of-use assets and contract costs (Continued)
Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for assets
capitalised as contract costs under HKFRS 15, the Group assesses
and recognises any impairment loss on other assets related to
the relevant contracts in accordance with applicable standards.
Then, impairment loss, if any, for assets capitalised as contract
costs is recognised to the extent the carrying amounts exceeds
the remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects
to receive in exchange for related goods or services less the
costs which relate directly to providing those goods or services
that have not been recognised as expenses. The assets
capitalised as contract costs are then included in the carrying
amount of the cash-generating unit to which they belong for the
purpose of evaluating impairment of that cash-generating unit.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying
amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,

right-of-use assets and contract costs (Continued)
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) other than goodwill is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Inventories represent properties under development and
completed properties held for sale.

Properties under development which are intended to be sold
upon completion of development and properties for sale are
classified as current assets. Except for the leasehold land element
which is measured at cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of right-of-use assets upon the application of
HKFRS 16, properties under development/properties for sale are
carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined on a specific identification basis including allocation
of the related development expenditure incurred and where
appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for the properties less
estimated cost to completion and costs necessary to make the
sales.

Properties under development for sale are transferred to
properties for sale upon completion.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

2.4 EREFTBEE @

BT A @)
HEERMBABNSRAR B
B BREFANNE S EKRSIERE
AI TSR LR B 15K SR o I
KBTHBEERMGAGE(EBER
BARBEIENMBEERMEEER
M) BB FEAE 2 2 5 Bk AR B ¥ 4 B SR B
REBEESXMBEBEZ AALBEMARK
M (ER) - WESBERRAR
FIBRMBI S EE R S B EE RN
RSN R IBS TR

ERNEZRAENBEELIM B AR
B S P 7S I 4% A R A TR 8 0 LB A
RMBRX 2% - BREMNERZIZNB
BEXMBABZ A FHRBIEHMH
(AER) - A EEAR IR 2 WA RS FK
(B ¥ S S U B A B R 8 == 48 P
MEOMEERRIME XHNARHEM
HEXNE) ERTEEN T ERRD
AREDFEZ X -

MBEENDBREKTE
B A T G A ELAR TR M SH R AR B RO
BERE:

NEBEDBRERERBAOME
BEEZRERATHBZHE
BE &

BHBRRREERMELEZRS
MEBMAEBXNAE RAREER
BZHE e

MEATREERBEBR M E2EKSIR
RREFENFHEE :

RAEAKBRASNREREREE
BENMBEEEZEERAT
BEZHMBEE R



2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(Continued)
the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value
through profit or loss, except that at initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in
other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking;
or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or fair
value through other comprehensive income as measured at fair
value through profit or loss if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.

24 ERETEHE @

B i T B (@)
B EE ()
B EAENSEREKTE (B)

BHOGRRREERMELEZRS
MEBMAEBXNAE RAREER
EZHE e

ARG BEEERRIZEAAEAR
@At 8 HEVRBERMBEEZAR

AR E W SR ERE - IR
TEBEEVBRELENFIR(EBA
FIFMBERNER G G ERNIARR
1B - 75 3R] 1 A SH R B0 B A AR
BUESIBARE AR ENERES) -

WIS EERE THEYE - SRIERRE
EEE :

HFXrZRFENARNEHANE

=
RMPHERE  EAAKEHRR
s

a%ZTﬁﬂMﬁIﬂmAm*
55 A ABEBERNNTHE
e

¢

huj

HER I IR T RIERE B H
TEMTETE -

BESN - fis 2t BB RR SR R RL A & At 88

QRSB R AR B ENT A 1R
BEKARBERBEMEEBREARE
AEZHBEERAAEF ABRFTE -

744 3R

o=
=

HEMERRAA



ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

(i)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Investments in equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income are subsequently measured
at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in
fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve; and are
not subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on
disposal of the equity investments, and will be transferred
to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to
receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the “other income”
line item in profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss ("ECL") model on financial assets (including cash and
bank deposits and trade and other receivables), and other items
(lease receivables, contract assets and financial guarantee
contracts) which are subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment is done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables,
contract assets and lease receivables. The ECL on these assets are
assessed individually for debtors with significant increase in
credit risk or related parties and collectively for the rest using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance

160

equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since

initial recognition.

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial

recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its
debt obligations.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i)
it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group
becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is
considered to be the date of initial recognition for the
purposes of assessing impairment. In assessing whether
there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since
initial recognition of financial guarantee contracts, the
Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified
debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

N 162

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring as
the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision
matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition. For a lease receivable,
the cash flows used for determining the ECL is consistent
with the cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable
in accordance with HKFRS 16.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to
make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the present
value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder
for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or
any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the
effective interest rate cannot be determined, the Group
will apply a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks that
are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent
that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting the
discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

N 164

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward-looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are
recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss
allowance determined in accordance with HKFRS 9; and
the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over the
guarantee period.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by recognising the
corresponding adjustment through a loss allowance
account, with the exception of financial guarantee
contracts where the Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss by adjusting their carrying amount.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in
profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at fair
value through other comprehensive income, the cumulative gain
or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation
reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to
retained earnings.

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual cash
flows are renegotiated or otherwise modified.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified, the
Group assesses whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative
assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers the terms are
substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash
flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any
fees received, and discounted using the original effective interest
rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial asset,
after reducing gross carrying amount that has been written off.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

— 166

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial assets (Continued)

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that do not
result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant
financial assets will be calculated at the present value of the
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
assets’ original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees
incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial assets and are amortised over the remaining term. Any
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial asset is
recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual capital instruments, which include no contractual
obligations for the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets
or the Group has the sole discretion to defer payment of
distribution and redemption of principal amount indefinitely are
classified as equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including borrowings and trade and other
payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
effective interest method.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at
their fair values. It is subsequently measured at the higher of:

the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with HKFRS 9; and

the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.

Derecognition/substantial modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are modified,
the Group assess whether the revised terms result in a
substantial modification from original terms taking into account
all relevant facts and circumstances including qualitative factors.
If qualitative assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers
that the terms are substantially different if the discounted
present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including
any fees paid net of any fees received, and discounted using the
original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different
from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of
the original financial liability. Accordingly, such modification of
terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees
incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the
extinguishment. The exchange or modification is considered as
non-substantial modification when such difference is less than 10
per cent.

2.4 EREFTBEE @

BT A (@&
HHEERERTA(E)
BITSEIRA 4

B ERA N AT ABEIEEEBEA
KERBER T A2 KR I EE
BERHEASZIBAR  AFAAEM
BESREZ AN  WBERANEEY
SHEEAAEHE  WHERUTES
£t 8

RIBEBMBREEFREE
MEEBEEE &

MR TR (WER) R 1E
REANBER 2 RATHESH -

s B BN R IEERERNERT
AEBERAKENEEIEET Al
KEERE T R IRV BEE - A
RILERM B RENREEEE M RE
NREBZZBNIBEER -

EMBRENSOERRBIER R - A%
BeLEMAMBEENRR(BEE
MRR)  FEEEIGRRESEHY
JRIGRABERED - i E R A L B E
i AR B IERN R RE (B
ERENERINKREASRER  AE
REBEERM KRR WA RERRRY
BRENSKASREMMRAEEEE
LADZT  AIAKERSZERRE
BEXER Bt BAGRETARRS
B EREERAREBERRH
Frey s BB —& D - WEEIR
B2t BIRBEEFTRBIFEEKR
CHIE

167 —

744 3R

o=
—_=F=

HEMERRAA



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

ey

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 it A B i

31 December 2024 —Z—-E+—-A=+—H

N 168

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Derecognition/substantial modification of financial liabilities
(Continued)

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do
not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant
financial liabilities will be calculated at the present value of the
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
liabilities” original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees
incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term.
Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial liability is
recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a
hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge
relationship.

Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments
for cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedging relationship, the Group
documents the relationship between the hedging instrument
and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives
and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions.
Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing
basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument is
highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

For the purpose of determining whether a forecast transaction
(or a component thereof) is highly probable, the Group assumes
that the interest rate benchmark on which the hedged cash
flows (contractually or non-contractually specified) are based is
not altered as a result of interest rate benchmark reform.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Hedge accounting (Continued)

Assessment of hedging relationship and effectiveness

For hedge effectiveness assessment, the Group considers
whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting
changes in cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the
hedged risk, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of
the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

there is an economic relationship between the hedged item
and the hedging instrument;

the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value
changes that result from that economic relationship; and

the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as
that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that
the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the
hedging instrument that the entity actually uses to hedge
that quantity of hedged item.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness
requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management
objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the
same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging
relationship (i.e. rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the
qualifying criteria again.

In assessing the economic relationship between the hedged item
and the hedging instrument, the Group assumes that the interest
rate benchmark on which the hedged cash flows and/or the
hedged risk (contractually or non-contractually specified) are
based, or the interest rate benchmark on which the cash flows of
the hedging instrument are based, is not altered as a result of
interest rate benchmark reform.

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives
that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
under the heading of cash flow hedging reserve. The gain or loss
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Hedge accounting (Continued)

Cash flow hedges (Continued)

For the purpose of reclassifying the amount of gains and losses
accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve in order to
determine whether the hedged future cash flows are expected to
occur, the Group assumes the interest rate benchmark on which
the hedged cash flows (contractually or non-contractually
specified) are based is not altered as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in cash flow hedging reserve are reclassified to
profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit
or loss, in the same line as the recognised hedged item.

Discontinuation of hedge accounting

The Group discontinues hedge accounting prospectively only
when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof) ceases to meet
the qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This
includes instances when the hedging instrument expires or is
sold, terminated or exercised. Discontinuing hedge accounting
can either affect a hedging relationship in its entirety or only a
part of it (in which case hedge accounting continues for the
remainder of the hedging relationship).

For cash flow hedge, any gain or loss recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity at that time
remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast
transactions is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a
forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or
loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly
liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within three months
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose
of meeting short-term cash commitments.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period in the countries where the Company’s
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid
to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences arising
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
Group's consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Current and deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting periods and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting periods, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The
presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather than
through sale, except for freehold land, which is always presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied
to the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on
a net basis.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity or paternity
leaves are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

Group companies participate in various defined contribution
pension schemes. The schemes are generally funded through
payments to insurance companies or trustee-administered funds.

The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised
as employee benefit expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions and are reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the
scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash
refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated before the normal retirement date, or whenever an
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these
benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits at the earlier
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when it recognises any related restructuring costs.
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the
reporting period are discounted to present value.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be
a present obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic
resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Contingent liabilities (Continued)

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the
notes to the Group's financial statements unless the possibility of
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.
When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that
outflow is probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Critical accounting judgement

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the Directors have reviewed the Group's investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group's investment
properties located in Hong Kong are not held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over
time. Therefore, in measuring the Group's deferred taxation on
investment properties located in Hong Kong, the Directors have
determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts of
investment properties located in Hong Kong are recovered
entirely through sale is not rebutted. As a result, the Group has
not recognised any deferred taxes on changes in fair value of
investment properties located in Hong Kong as the Group is not
subject to any income taxes on the fair value changes of the
investment properties on disposal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(CONTINUED)

Critical accounting judgement (Continued)
Deferred taxation on investment properties (Continued)
With regards to the Group's investment properties located in
Mainland China, the Directors considered that they are held
under a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in these
investment properties over time. Therefore, the Directors have
determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts of
investment properties located in Mainland China are recovered
entirely through sale is rebutted. As a result, the Group
recognised deferred taxes on changes in fair value of the Group’s
investment properties located in Mainland China on the basis
that the entire carrying amounts of these properties are
recovered through use.

Key estimation uncertainty

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing uncertainty to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities are discussed below:

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the
valuation performed by independent professional valuer. The
determination of the fair value involves certain assumptions of
market conditions which are set out in note 15.

The Directors have performed internal assessment on the risks of
change in macroeconomic environment through performing
sensitivity analysis in relation to the Group’s investment
properties.

The carrying amount of investment properties as at
31 December 2024 was approximately HK$2,661,098,000 (2023:
HK$2,806,263,000). More details are set out in note 15.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(CONTINUED)

Key estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Construction contracts

The Group recognised income and cost generated from
construction contracts, which were derived from the latest
available budgets of the construction contracts with reference to
the overall performance of each construction contract and the
management’s best estimates and judgements. Estimated
construction income is determined in accordance with the terms
set out in the relevant contracts. Estimated construction costs
which mainly comprise sub-contracting charges and costs of
materials are estimated by the management on the basis of
quotations from time to time provided by the major contractors/
suppliers/vendors involved and the experience of the
management. Because of the nature of the construction industry,
the management regularly reviews the progress of the contracts
and the estimated construction income and costs.

When the actual costs incurred are significantly more or less than
expected, or changes in circumstances which result in revision of
management'’s estimates on the percentage of completion, the
effect of such change is recognised prospectively in the profit or
loss in the period of the change.

Deferred taxes

As at 31 December 2024, deferred tax assets of HK$335,733,000
(2023: HK$458,949,000) have been recognised in the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position as set out in note
30. The realisability of the deferred tax assets mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future. The Directors determine the profit
projections of the Group for coming years during which the
deferred tax assets are expected to be utilised. In cases where
the actual future profits generated are more or less than
expected, an additional recognition or a reversal of deferred tax
assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for
the period in which such a recognition or reversal takes place.

Provision of ECL for trade and other receivables and
contract assets

Trade and other receivables with significant increase in credit risk
or amounts due from related parties are assessed for ECL
individually.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(CONTINUED)

Key estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade and other receivables and
contract assets (Continued)

In addition, the Group uses provision matrix to estimate ECL for
the trade receivables and contract assets that are not assessed
individually. The provision rates are based on debtors’ aging as
groupings of various debtors that have similar loss patterns. The
provision matrix is based on the Group's historical default rates
taking into consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. At each reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group's trade and other
receivables and contract assets are disclosed in notes 40, 21 and
22 respectively.

Estimated impairment of inventories

The Group tests regularly whether inventories have suffered any
impairment based on the assessment of net realisable value.
Estimates of net realisable value are based on the most reliable
evidence available at the time the estimates are made, and the
amounts the inventories are expected to realise. Significant
management estimates are required in the estimates. Where the
actual outcome or expectation in future is different from the
original estimates, such differences will impact on the carrying
amounts of inventories and the impairment loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 1 B 25 A M

31 December 2024 —Z—FE+=-A=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, RESHER
The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the FELBEBRARECHERRIITES - H
executive directors. The executive directors review the Group's TESERASBE NI BRS - AT
BERBARDEER - NITESEBIEZ

internal financial reports in order to assess performance and

allocate resources. The executive directors have determined the EMERATE D TISLEED

operating segments based on these reports as follows:

Real estate Development and sales of residential BHEEE EEREHEEEER

development: and commercial properties SR/ E

Specialised construction: Design, installation and selling of HEEEFEE REF BER
curtain walls and aluminum HEREM
windows, doors and other fnE - PIREAM
materials Wkt

Property investment: Holding of properties to generate YERE € 78 ¥ 3 B AR
rental income and/or to gain from WA - WK
the appreciation in properties’ s BYME

values in the long-term

HWITESABREEMRENBRAEE
ZERDEEEAEITE G

No operating segments identified by the executive directors have
been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the

Group.
PaN
Segment revenue and results DB AREE
N
I Real estate development  Specialised construction Property investment Total
= . o
5 BHERR BEEg NERE #E
a
o 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
< ZB-ME —E-=f ZB-NE —T-=F ZF-WNE —T-=F ZB-NE —T-=F
o}
z HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HK$'000
< T FHT T FHT T FHT T FHT
Revenue WA
Total segment revenue BAHWA 9,832,285 12,307,637 716 271906 53,674 55541 9,886,675 12635084
Inter-segment revenue AHEBA - = - - (3,719) (4345) (3,719) (4,345)
Sales to external customers HONRPHE 9,832,285 12307637 716 271,906 49,955 5119 9,882,956 12630739
Results %5
Segment results PHEE (2,040,133) 864,377 (176,889) (28145 (216,844) (3627)  (2,433,866) 832,605
Unallocated corporate expenses, net AOROERST 38 (191,696) (240,032)
(2,625,562) 592,573
Finance income BEHA 217,336 184,386
Finance costs A (534,689) (477416)
a Share of results of associates MEBE AR EE (823,337) (209,869)
E Share of results of joint ventures PEEERAEE 59,678 33889
o
[ I
2 (Loss)/profit before tax WA (F18) /A (3,706,574) 123563
!
wv
—
<
=
w
=
=
=



OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating
segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in note 2.4. Segment results represent the (loss)/profit
before tax without allocation of unallocated corporate income
and expenses, finance income, finance costs, and share of results
of associates and joint ventures.

Inter-segment revenue is charged at prevailing market rates.

Segment assets and liabilities

4,

KEHSHER @)

DEUWARESE (&
EWRMEED T2 SETBUR M FE2.4FT

MEAASBE SRR 5 - DEEEIE

AOREERARBY - KA - 8

BRARDhHE AR REERNRELE
KB FE AT (E58), & F o

2 EBZ RHIRATRIRITIISER R

THEEREE

Real estate development  Specialised construction Property investment Total
EHERE EXEE NERE ag
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZBCmE ZZ-=F ZEBECQE -F-=F CBRC@E —ZTo=F ZECIMF -To=F
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FAL TR FAL TR FAL TR FAL
Assets A&

Segment assets PHEE 37,264,382 49,149,388 79,314 228,500 1,872,757 2053128 39,216,453 51431516
Unallocated corporate assets ROBMEEEE 1,814,467 2143637
Total assets BERR 41,030,920 53575153
Liabilities Al

Segment liabilities PHEME 30,733,975 38063573 79,262 70875 16,118 20183 30,829,355 38154631
Unallocated corporate liabilities AoECEEE 944,596 1,072,877
Total liabilities REEE 31,773,951 39227508

Segment assets consist primarily of interests in associates,
interests in joint ventures, property, plant and equipment,
investment properties, other financial assets, inventories,
receivables, contract assets, contract costs and operating cash
but exclude items such as financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income, bank deposits for corporate use
and deferred tax assets. Segment liabilities comprise all operating
liabilities but exclude items such as taxation and certain other

payables.

ﬁ%ﬁﬁ?%% (ECYNE NG $il
REZERBzEm WE BELER

(= ?xé%% CHMPBEE  FE-
EMFIR AHEE AHRAREE
Re EFMEEEREMEZEEREA
REFEZMBEE  (FEEMRE R

TERLBEEVRAEEESHER - D& A
BEREMALEAR  ETEEREARK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 0 MR
31 December 2024 —ZE—M&E+=-A=+—H
R L A\ S 32 W (e
4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REFWBER @
(CONTINUED)
Other segment information Hithn HER
Real estate development  Specialised construction Property investment Segment total Unallocated Total
BHERR BEES NERE AREE L) 3]
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZBC@E -ZFZZF -BCMF D= CBCMF ZTC=F CBCNF ZF-=F CECMF “F-ZF CBCQNF ZFC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
FEx FHL FHx T FiBx Titn FEx FHL FHx T FiBx Titn
Amounts included in the HEFADPBER
measure of segment profit AHPEE:
or loss or segmem assets:
Interests in associates REERE ZER 1125206 2008924 - - - — 1125206 200894 - — 1125206 2028924
Interests in joint ventures RAERRZIER 329,267 333897 - — - — 329,267 333897 - — 329,267 333897
Capital expenditures ERAX 108,996 96372 - 34 961 492 109,957 101,368 235 482 110,192 101,850
Depreciation recognised BRAZNE 12,900 25462 4 59 1,393 138 14,334 25659 4,052 47 18,386 30370
Fair value changes on RENELAEED
investment properties 16,750 (22474) - = 170,294 24,758 187,044 2284 - = 187,044 2284
Allowance for impairment of  FEHEREFE
inventories, net 1,741,066 503,034 - = - — 1,741,066 503,034 - - 1,741,066 503,034
Impairment losses recognised/ B EIE B BB
(reversed) under expected THZ/(B%) 2
credit loss model, net HEEBTE 265,585 177321 101,072 (2.707) (@11) (953) 366,246 173661 - — 366,246 173661
Geographical information HEER
The Group operates its businesses in two main geographical AEBEZEBFZEH R M EME L
areas: =)
-
g
= Hong Kong: Real estate development, specialised FE EHEREE -
& construction and property BEFEER
< investment MERE
=z =~
z Mainland China: Real estate development and AR A FEHEERE K
property investment YR E
In presenting geographical information, sales are presented REFHEE R - SHEZ 2T HRE
based on the geographical locations of the customers. Total FZHBUEREX - FERHEERT
non-current assets exclude financial instruments and deferred tax TEEVETIAREERIBEEE -
assets.
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
B FE A HE
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZECoNE ZRZ=F ZBINE ZE-=F ZBE-NE ZT-=F
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHAL TER FHT FTER FAT
o External sales HHMEE 3,820,868 328627 6,062,088 12302112 9,882,956 12630739
w N s,
= Total non-current assets knBEELTR 1,955,046 2125797 2,857,337 3720798 4,812,383 5,846,595
=
o
[=] o q N 5 o
z Information about major customer FRTEFEFZER
- No revenue from transaction with single external customer is REEWEE —INLELPHRMEFE 2
| = &= -
=< amounted to 10% or more of the Group's revenue for both WA B BR10%3k A £ o
s years.
=
=
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5. REVENUE 5. KA
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADHTIT -
2024 2023
—E-mEF ZE=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET AT
Revenue from contracts with customers KEEFEHBIHA 9,833,001 12,579,543
Revenue from other sources H ity R 9 A
Rental and management fee income from REKREMENHER
investment properties EEBRA 49,955 51,196
9,882,956 12,630,739
Revenue from contracts with customers REBEFSHBHIKA
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (a) WAHHEH
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—FT-_maE+—-—BA=+—8
IEFE
Real estate Specialised
Segments 2 development construction Total
EHERR BEER wE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHRT FHET FHET ﬁ
Bl
Types of goods or services E Y55 iR 7% 58 5l +‘Hl
Sales of properties SHEY 9,372,423 - 9,372,423 \I
Specialised construction services HEFERK - 716 716
Management services B RS 459,862 - 459,862
Total revenue from contracts with RERFEHM
customers @ 9,832,285 716 9,833,001
Geographical markets BiEmi5
Mainland China R A b 6,062,088 — 6,062,088
Hong Kong BB 3,770,207 716 3,770,923
Total revenue from contracts with REBRFAEHH
customers oL 9,832,285 716 9,833,001
Timing of revenue recognition WA T R
Properties transferred at a point MERE KR
in time BhREE 9,372,423 — 9,372,423
Specialised construction services BXRERGE
transferred over time FrfEeE R — 716 716 ®
Management services transferred & 12 AR 7% BE R <
over time iR 459,862 — 459,862 %:x
e
Total revenue from contracts with RERFEHHN §
customers Ot 9,832,285 716 9,833,001 H
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R 1 B 25 A M

31 December 2024 —Z—-E+—-A=+—H
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5. REVENUE (CONTINUED) 5. WA @
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHHHA @)
(Continued)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (a) WAHZEF (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 He_ 2 =F+_-_HA=+—H
IEFE
Real estate Specialised
Segments bal=il development construction Total
B EER FHEREE wmes
HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT
Types of goods or services B Y=k R 7% 28 Bl
Sales of properties HEY 11,808,005 — 11,808,005
Specialised construction services HEFERK — 271,906 271,906
Management services B 18 AR A% 499,632 — 499,632
Total revenue from contracts with REBFEHH
customers L ONCEC 12,307,637 271,906 12,579,543
Geographical markets B m 5
Mainland China B A 12,302,112 = 12,302,112
Hong Kong BE 5,525 271,906 277,431
3
o~
% Total revenue from contracts with REBFE LB
& customers N L 12,307,637 271,906 12,579,543
=
=
Z Timing of revenue recognition WA TEREE
Properties transferred at a point L EYNE S !
in time BhEEE 11,808,005 = 11,808,005
Specialised construction services B EEREHE
transferred over time iAo — 271,906 271,906
Management services transferred & T2 AR 7% e R
over time iR 499,632 — 499,632
Total revenue from contracts with REBFE LRI
customers N L 12,307,637 271,906 12,579,543
o
w
E
=
- |
o
Z
<
—
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—
<
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5. REVENUE (CONTINUED) 5. WA am)
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHHHA @)
(Continued)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (a) WAMDE# ()
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from UTAERBEFAS LKA RY
contracts with customers to the amounts disclosed in the ERE R T H BE S R R ¢
segment information:
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_Z-_NE+-_A=+—H
IEFE
Real estate Specialised
Segments 2 development construction Total
EHERRE HEEZ k]
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FERT FHET FHT
Revenue from contracts with REEFEHH
customers [ ON
External customers HINE P 9,832,285 716 9,833,001
Inter-segment sales D EBEHE — — —
9,832,285 716 9,833,001
Inter-segment adjustments and DEPE T E & #
" -
eliminations Eagi! — — _ g
%l
Total revenue from contracts with REBRFEHH '
customers oL 9,832,285 716 9,833,001
I3
44
=
g
]
e
e
H
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5.

N~ 184

REVENUE (CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

5. YA @
REEFEHHRA (&)

(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (a) UWAHZEH (4E)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from LTNAERBEEAS LB A RS
contracts with customers to the amounts disclosed in the BERMEESENEER  (8)
segment information: (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—_Z_=#%+-HA=+—H
IEFE
Real estate Specialised
Segments bai=il development construction Total
EihERRE BEEE 4z
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FET FET FHET
Revenue from contracts with REEFEHH
customers N
External customers HINE P 12,307,637 271,906 12,579,543
Inter-segment sales 7 EBEHE — — —
12,307,637 271,906 12,579,543
Inter-segment adjustments and D EPE T &
eliminations 85 — — —
Total revenue from contracts with REBRFAEHH
customers Nk 12,307,637 271,906 12,579,543
(b) Performance obligations (b) BHELF

Information about the Group's performance obligations is
summarised below:

Real estate development

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of
properties, the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with alternative use to the Group. Taking into
consideration of the relevant contract terms, the legal
environment and relevant legal precedent, the Group
concluded that the Group does not have an enforceable
right to payment prior to transfer of the relevant
properties to the customer. Revenue from sales of
properties is therefore recognised when the completed
property is transferred to customers, being at the point
that the customer obtains the control of the completed
property and the Group has present right to payment and
collection of the consideration is probable. Payment in
advance is normally required.

BERAKRBEROEETNERBM
LI

FHEZER
RERPMAI L ABYEHEDN
AR ARBHENTEIERY
AEEBEMAZNEE - &=
BRI A R ZERERM
BOAEAP > AEBERSHYLE
ARGIMITENAERTPER
BRAWEMMERN R - Btk - 2K
BYMEHENRBIRNRTYE
ERERXPE (AIXPRERTY
SR HI R RN R B A A Y ER
N EA A eI B ZB)
R BTEHEBRIEANK



5.

REVENUE (coNTINUED) 5.
Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)
(b) Performance obligations (Continued)
Specialised construction
The Group provides specialised construction services to
customers. Such services are recognised as a performance
obligation satisfied over time as the Group creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset
is created or enhanced. Revenue is recognised for these
construction services based on the stage of completion of
the contract using input method. The payment is generally
due within 90 days from the date of billing.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations of sales of properties as at
31 December 2024 was HK$3,619,245,000 (31 December
2023: HK$9,514,477,000) and is expected to be recognised
as revenue within two years.

A o)

REFEFEHHWA (&)
(b) BHRIELE ()
&3 £

AEBRATPRHETEZER
%o BRAIRTSBEE AN R BB R K
MEREFEHNEE  REE
ELSIREREARCTERNE
MEBEME - ZFRERBHKRAR
IBA K TSR BRE R AVET A
FERR o SRIA — RN AR E % H A H1
FE0H AR B AT -

R-E-_ME+—-_F=+—8B%H
REHEMERTHNBEOETN
R BB 1% 53,619,245,0007% 7T (=
ET_=ZH+ZA=+—H8H:
9,514,477,0007% 7T.) & T8 B #% 72 R

FRNERBBBA
OTHER INCOME 6. HU A
2024 2023
—E-ME —E=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Government subsidies B & B 18,172 18,088
Dividend income % 8 Wz 7,798 8,658
Management fee income from a fellow W —RERMERRZ
subsidiary EEBEIA 2,481 2,666
Consultancy fee income from fellow WER A B AR 2
subsidiaries BB WA 2,225 23,056
Others Hfb 55,471 51,424
86,147 103,892
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7.

N 186

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

7. BRBiAI (B518),EF

2024 2023

—E-NE S

HK$'000 HKS$'000

FER FHET

Cost of properties sold (i) [SA-Ey ES % N() 9,197,242 10,156,653

Cost of specialised construction BRI 63,279 283,849
Direct operating expenses incurred BERE WA 2 IRE M

for investment properties that generated EEXCsEEEERT

rental income 17,133 17,669

Depreciation e 18,386 30,370

Auditor’s remuneration i3 Gl 4,150 4,280
Employee benefit expense (including EERMNIZH (BREES

directors’ emoluments) (note 9) <) (KT 5E9) 266,969 278,993

Allowance for impairment of inventories GFERERE 1,741,066 503,034

Net exchange (gain)/loss P& 5 (W), 18 F 58 (14,701) 28,859

(i) Included in cost of properties sold are capitalised interest (i)
expenses of HK$1,170,154,000 (2023: HK$706,442,000).

B & HER AT B1E1,170,154,000
B (Z T = =F : 706,442,000/
) ZEREF B H -



8. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 8. MBWARKAE
2024 2023
—ECOF —E-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHET
Finance income B
Interest income from bank deposits RITF A B U A 44,486 66,300
Interest income from a non-controlling WER—XHBARZ
shareholder of a subsidiary —HIEERRER 2
MEMA 23,408 24,808
Interest income from joint ventures WEA & QR
A B A 149,442 93,278
217,336 184,386
Finance costs B 7% B 7R
Bank borrowings wholly repayable within ARAFANBHEEZ
five years RITIEK 799,341 1,074,181
Other borrowings wholly repayable within BNRAFERNREEEZ
five years H a5 409,446 287,618
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEBZFE 219 1213 =
il
Bl
1,209,006 1,363,012 I
Less: Amount capitalised as properties B AE b5 A W
under development (i) RHEZ () (674,317) (885,596)
534,689 477,416
()  Borrowing costs were capitalised at rates ranging from () EBRERIZRN F310%E635% (=
3.10% to 6.35% (2023: 3.30% to 7.17%) per annum. T~ = F  330%E7.17%) K F F
KT LAE R o
I
2
=
T
el
e
i3
H
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A W 5 AR B R
31 December 2024 —Z=—&E+=-A=+—H
9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE 9. EERAXH
2024 2023
—B-NEF —E=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHT
Wages, salaries and bonus I8 FaREL 345,184 375,292
Pension costs — defined contribution plans — EBRE KA — FREHER
(note 33) =t &1 (B 5E33) 47,242 49,761
392,426 425,053
Less: Amount capitalised as properties W AB b A
under development REYMEZ R (49,630) (65,454)
Less: Amount included in cost of sales W FFABEERARAZ
ok (41,939) (43,046)
Less: Amount included in selling and B ETAHE R EH
marketing expenses BRAZCHE (33,888) (37,560)
266,969 278,993
There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the WS W R AT ERNEEIEREE
3 Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of BRI A HFUKFE -
= contributions.
e
S
=z
z
8
=
=
- |
a
Z
!
4
=
o
=
=
=
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9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (conTinvep) 9. EEEA X H @)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEM2
The remuneration of each director for the year ended HE-T-_WF+=-A=+—H
31 December 2024 is set out below: IEFE Sz T

Employer’s
contribution

Salaries and Discretionary  to pension

Name of directors EEpns Fees allowances bonuses scheme Total
Bik&E
e HepER BB EEHR okl
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET T THERT THERT FExT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. He Jianbo* 1A] 8852 55 A — 315 511 73 899
Mr. Liu Bo IR k4 — 295 485 73 853
Mr. Chen Xingwu PR S A4 — 278 424 73 775
Mr. Yang Shangping BEFEEE - 454 424 77 955
Non-executive director FHTES
Ms. He Xiaoli [OHN: s — 66 88 — 154
Mr. Huang Guoping BB TEEE - 66 88 — 154
b
Independent non-executive BYEHTES g
directors M
Professor Wang Xiuli IEBHEK 400 — — — 400 Il
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy PRAR B SR A 390 — — — 390
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny BEWHF L 400 — — — 400
1,190 1,474 2,020 296 4,980
I3
44
=
g
]
=y
e
H
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9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (conTinuep) 9. EEEA X H @)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EEM2 @
The remuneration of each director for the year ended HE-_T-_=F+=-A=+—H
31 December 2023 is set out below: WFE SE2 20T :
Employer's

contribution

Salaries and  Discretionary to pension

Name of directors EEHS Fees  allowances bonuses scheme Total
RIKSEE

we FeRkER BEIEAT EEHK e

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TET TET TET TET

Executive directors BITES
Mr. He Jianbo* A 8% 55 A * = 320 1,029 70 1419
Mr. Liu Bo Bt = 299 978 70 1347
Mr. Chen Xingwu PRELR St = 281 904 70 1,255
Mr. Yang Shangping BEFEEE = 461 815 75 1351
Non-executive director FHTES
Ms. He Xiaoli fA/NEBR L = 67 = = 67
Mr. Huang Guoping BB FELE = 67 = = 67

3

= Independent non-executive BYFHTES

% directors

2 Professor Wang Xiuli FEREHEK 400 — — — 400

g Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy PR B SR A 390 — — — 390
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny BEWHF L 400 — — — 400

1,190 1,495 3,726 285 6,696

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were LA TESME P REZERA
for their services in connection with the management of RARAEBRE R EKIRMER
the affairs of the Company and the Group. 7% o
The non-executive director’s and independent FHERITEERBIIENITE
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were EME P RESEEARRRES
for their services as directors of the Company. Frig ity AR 75 -

A Discretionary bonuses were determined by the MEEABREREARESFRE

= management with regard to the performance of the NRAEBEEEXRERET °

% Directors and the Group's operating results.

e

S During the year, no directors of the Company waived or FR - WEARAREBEERERR

2 agreed to waive any emoluments (2023: Nil). EREAMHE(ZZTE == :

& ) o

=

=
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9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (continuep) 9. {EEEFI X H tm)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EEM< @
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group FA - AEEBRERTEANESEE
to the Directors as an inducement to join or as & ERRIIMAREE 2 52
compensation for loss of office (2023: Nil). B ERBEREE (T =4
).
The executive director marked "*" above is also considered EH I ZHTESTHEEARE
as the chief executive of the Group and his emoluments BoTHReHE  EREXHEEN
disclosed above include those for services rendered by him e e iEREEErTREAREMR
as the chief executive. AR H & o
(b) Five highest-paid individuals (b) EEEEFMAL
In 2024, no directors were included in five highest-paid RZZEZWF  HEESHAR
individuals in the Group (2023: three). These directors’ SEREESTHALY (ZEZ
emoluments are disclosed in (a) above. Details of the =F:=R) EEZFMEN L X
emoluments of the remaining five (2023: two) individuals @IEFIEE EfAR(ZT ==
are as follows: FWMB)ATZMEFBLT :
2024 2023
—E-@mEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
b
Salaries and allowances e KoERL 6,281 3,156 g
Discretionary bonuses BIEIEAL 907 395 M
Employer’s contributions to pension RASEEEEHK ‘|
schemes 302 158
7,490 3,709
The emoluments fell within the following bands: S &HELNT -
2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=
HK$1,000,001-HKS$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 L&
1,500,0007% 7T 4 —
HKS$1,500,001-HKS$2,000,000 1,500,001 L&
2,000,000/ 7T — 1
HK$2,000,001-HKS$2,500,000 2,000,0017& 7T &
2,500,000 7T 1 1
.
5 2 «
=
T
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group FA - -AEEBERNZZEATE g
to these individuals as an inducement to join or as & ERRIIMAREE 2 52 "
compensation for loss of office (2023: Nil). B ERBERMEE (T =4 o
).
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10.

11.

N~ 192

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES RECOGNISED
UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL,
NET

10.

RAEEFEREEIE M RER
ZBERRFHE

2024 2023
—BoNmEF “E=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Impairment losses recognised on trade and  FLE 5 & H Ath fE U GRTE &
other receivables and contract assets BREERER
EEE 366,246 173,661

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 40(a)(ii).

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong. Under the two-tiered profits tax regime, the first
HK$2,000,000 (2023: HKS$2,000,000) of the profits of qualifying
group entities established in Hong Kong have been taxed at
8.25%, and profits above that amount have been subject to the
tax rate of 16.5%. The profits of the group entities not qualifying
for the two-tiered profits tax rate regime have been continued to
be taxed at a rate of 16.5%.

The PRC enterprise income tax had been calculated on the
estimated assessable profit for the year derived in Mainland
China at the rate of 25% (2023: 25%).

Land appreciation tax is levied at progressive rates ranging from
30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the
proceeds of sales of properties less deductible expenditures
including costs of land and development and construction
expenditures.

11.

BB RT i A 1B B Y A 40(a) (i) ©

EBAX
ERFER AR BB Z G ERTE
SEAIR165% (Z B - =4 : 165%) 25t
KEHR o RIBFSH AT - REBK
MK A B S B E 88 H) 2,000,000 7T

— =T~ = £ : 2,000,000 7T ) & A %
8.25% Rt R EF - AR IB % & RE A 5 T
E165% T EETF - TAERFERFEZ
AR S]  EEE A& F EE1Z165%
B R BAR

PEACERMSHRIIUAAREZERETER
2 5T FE R B v A H225% (ZE ==
F 1 25%) 2T ERETE o

T REFRBE T HEE B R (B
EVMEMB BRI L (B1E
THIARA  BREBES L)) RERER
R 30% 2 60% UL ©



Tax charge on the Group’s (loss)/profit before tax differs from the

1. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 1. FTEHHA X @

2024 2023
—E-mEF —E-=fF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FAT

Current tax BN ERFE I8
PRC enterprise income tax B TSR 15,297 200,267
PRC land appreciation tax HR R - i 3 (B R (52,922) 120,657
Hong Kong profits tax BEAENEH 3,391 3,118
(34,234) 324,042
Deferred tax (note 30) EFEFIE (MF5E30) 76,057 325,207
41,823 649,249

AEE LR TR (Eﬂéi)/iﬁﬁ" | 2 BB

theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average Y BEREARGS & ) 2 0
tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as PR ERGESEReECEREN
follows: T @
2024 2023
—BRCOWEF —E=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHEx FHT
(Loss)/profit before tax BR&L AT (E518), 5 7 (3,706,574) 123,563
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates in the ZAERAME 2 8 1 R 5T
respective regions B2 BiE (777,679) 98,673
Land appreciation tax + b I (E B (52,922) 120,657
Tax effect of land appreciation tax iiﬂi‘ﬁmZﬁﬂ‘%%; 13,230 (30,164)
Share of results of associates DREEE QRIS 205,834 52,467
Share of results of joint ventures Pak(Sh=lWNEIE ¥ (627) (8,472)
Income not subject to tax BAERBZWA (56,460) (32,932)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes DA HF 2 A 64,128 68,636
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax B AR R ARER BT
losses Bia (25,224) (51,229)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised B AR A AER 2L
temporary differences ZH (70,670) (613)
Adjustment in respect of current tax of BB AIE S E B IEE
previous period LR AR (2,139) 3,019
Tax losses/deductible temporary differences AR WERFIGE B, A 1
not recognised Bz EeR=% 744,352 429,207
Tax charge I8 F 2 41,823 649,249

744 3R

o=
=

HEMERRAA
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N 104

DILUTED

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to equity holders of the Company divided by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year.

Since there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares, the diluted
loss per share is equal to basic loss per share.

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 1. FREHH X @
The weighted average applicable tax rate was 21.0% (2023: BRAZINEFARKE21.0%(ZF_=
79.9%). The year-on-year change is primarily caused by a change F:799%) c KB FRETIHRAEAR
in the relative profitability of the Company’s subsidiaries in the Il EPNGINAY E L2 e =l 2
respective regions. MR FT B

12. DIVIDENDS 12. KB
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for EETERRNEEZE_Z-NF+=A
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). =T —HEFENRE(ZE_=4%:

/) o
13. LOSS PER SHARE — BASIC AND 13. BRGE — EXREF

FREAEEIDIZARRRERE AR
HEBEERAFAERTE B INEF
BEREEE -

MR RA E AR 2 EE LB
WEk#gEREgRAENBRAR

2024 2023

- —B-NEF —E=F

g HK$'000 HK$'000

= = g —

S FHET T
<

% Loss attributable to equity holders of RRFRER B AEG

< the Company 18 (3,520,690) (1,015,518)

2024 2023

—E-MF —E=F

Number Number

of shares of shares

B% & fi% 1

‘000 ‘000

T T i

Weighted average number of ordinary shares FAE31TE B2

in issue during the year In#E ¥ 15 Rk 2 3,346,908 3,346,908
o
w
=
=
-
a
Z
<
-
4
=
o
=
=
=



Sl Y
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. ¥ - BERRKE
Movements in property, plant and equipment are as follows: ME - BEREZEEBHOT -
Furniture,
L hold land L hold fixtures and
and buildings”  improvements Machinery equipment  Motor vehicles Total
RELHE HE HE HER
FE WEEE e R EH ekl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FEx FEx FEx ThL ThEL
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-2-_NE
TZAZt+-BLEFE
At 1 January 2024 R-Z-mE-A—-A 663,998 104 1,897 7,431 4,081 677,511
Exchange differences ERZE (11,710) (17) (6) (170) (59) (11,962)
Additions RE 46,454 1,331 319 1,508 542 50,154
Disposals HE - - (54) (201) (250) (505)
Depreciation e (13,061) (171) (219) (3,530) (1,405) (18,386)
At 31 December 2024 RZB-NE+=A=+-H 685,681 1,247 1,937 5,038 2,909 696,812
At 31 December 2024 RZE-mE+=-A=1+—A
Cost A 824,662 8,381 3,008 40,394 18,081 894,526
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZAERRE (138,981) (7,134) (1,071) (35,356) (15172) (197,714)
Net book amount EHFE 685,681 1,247 1,937 5,038 2,909 696,812
Furniture,
Leasehold land Leasehold fixtures and
and buildings”  improvements Machinery equipment  Motor vehicles Total
MELH HE KA RER
RigFo NERE e % B fok]
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThAR ThAR ThAR ThAR ThAR ThAR
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-B-=F
TZA=t+-BLEE
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=4-A-A 644,283 65 2132 10,145 5,648 662,273
Exchange differences EXERE (7234) 0} o (139) (70) (7453)
Additions AE 52,698 1414 36 2,058 187 56393
Disposals HE (3,118) - (10) (182) 22 (3332)
Depreciation & (22631) (1374) (252) (4451) (1,662) (30370)
At 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=%+-A=1+-A 663,998 104 1897 7431 4081 677511
At 31 December 2023 RZZ-=#+-A=1+-H
Cost A 791,505 39,084 3107 40912 20442 895,050
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZEHERRE (127,507) (38,980) (1210) (33481) (16,361) (217,539)
Net book amount EHFE 663998 104 1897 7431 4081 677511
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 1 B 25 A M

31 December 2024 —Z—-E+—-A=+—H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% BEREE @

(CONTINUED)

(i) At the end of both reporting periods, the Group’s buildings
were erected on land under medium-term and long-term
leases in Hong Kong and a long-term lease in Mainland
China, respectively.

(i)  As at 31 December 2024, the Group's buildings with

carrying amounts of HK$311,989,000 (2023: HK$272,022,000)
have been pledged as collateral for bank borrowings (note

with rentals receivable monthly. The leases have an initial terms
of 1 to 13 years.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of

() REESEHKE FEEEF
SRINRBEBMRHRENEE+
10 J% R e B 9 2 B 3
I35

(ii) %:§:E$+—ﬂ:+—ﬁ
BREI{H A311,989,000/8 T (Z &2 =
=4F 1 272,022,000/ ) I FED

29(a)). BIRERRITERCER M (T

29(a)) °

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REY =X
The Group leases out various properties under operating leases REB K EHETT N HHEZ @YU

WEEARKES - HERIIE13F -

$’§II4HI?H R HE M A N R

the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the CRAEMEHERSEERSEZY
respective functional currencies of group entities. The lease bfﬁ’ﬁgxaﬂﬁ HEGHNHATBEHREE

contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s
option to purchase the property at the end of lease term.

R&/HEBARERERGBEEY X
IRTRE -

N 196

N

= 2024 2023

e —mE —E-=F

3 HK$'000 HK$'000

=z - — . —

z FET AT
At fair value REARE
At beginning of the year F4) 2,806,263 2,774,432
Additions NE 60,038 45,457
Fair value changes on investment properties R IEZR AR ZIHE W

recognised in profit or loss N EE (187,044) (2,284)

Exchange differences =R (18,159) (11,342)
At end of the year FR 2,661,098 2,806,263
As at 31 December 2024, investment properties with the fair R-ZZE-_M&E+—_A=+—H" 2k
value of HKS$317,491,000 (2023: HK$273,668,000) have been £317,491,0008 L (Z & = = F :

a pledged as collateral for bank borrowings (note 29(a)). 273,668,000/ 7T) RIE E WX D EIRIER

= RITERZERR (P 5E29)) °

a

2

=

—

4

=

i

=

=

=



5. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (cONTINUED)

The investment properties were fair-valued at 31 December 2024
by Cushman & Wakefield Limited, an independent valuer (2023:
Cushman & Wakefield Limited). The fair value of the investment
properties was arrived at by considering the income
capitalisation of the properties or, where appropriate, by
reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar
properties in the same locations and conditions as direct

15. BEWE @)
BEMER-—B-—mE+=A=+—8H
T AR ERBIIGERSERTERA
AEFGEE(CE-=F  BERTA
BAT) - BEMEGO AL BEIEEY
%zw SARL KB ERA AL EY L
EREREE AN RRTEXS -
VEREBLE - T ME AL B -

comparison. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the REAERESR RRERE -
highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

Details of the Group's investment properties and information R|MEHRB AEBEREVMERLAR
about the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting BEERERNT :

periods are as follows:

Fair value
as at
31 December

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2024

ARE

R-ZZBZMEF

+=A

£ E& e =t+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 s
THET THET THET THT g
o
In Hong Kong MR BB — 39,400 1,777,000 1,816,400 I

In Mainland China {37 70 B A 4, — 353,991 490,707 844,698

Fair value

as at

31 December

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2023

AU

R-Z—=

+=A

E— E_R E= =+—H

HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000

THETT THETT THETT THET

In Hong Kong MR ES — 44,700 1,941,000 1,985,700
&
In Mainland China iz 70 H B A 4, — 311,187 509,376 820,563 «
T
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value FR - E— &&éﬁvi RN EFTEZHE M_g
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 (2023: Nil). WEER (=% D). =
H
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108

15.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (cONTINUED)

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within

15. REVWHE @)

BERE=ROAEBRARAEFE

Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: ZEER
HKS$'000
FHET
Carrying amount at 1 January 2023 RZTEZ=F—H—Bx
FREE 2,467,006
Additions NE 4,959
Exchange differences =R (7,296)
Fair value changes on investment properties recognised in RIEEERZIREMELARLE
profit or loss 5 (14,293)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 HR-_ZE-_=F+_-_HA=+—H
R_ZE_MF-HA—HZ
FREE 2,450,376
Additions NE 774
Exchange differences MEH Z5 (10,780)
Fair value changes on investment properties recognised in RIEEERZIREMELARE
profit or loss b=k (172,663)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2024 RZEZWEF+=ZA=+—H
ZBREE 2,267,707

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of these investment properties are determined (in particular, the
valuation techniques and key inputs used), as well as the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are

TREHRIAETRENEAABZE
B (JC E 2 P P /O (i (B £ 1 b2 B i
ABR) - UERREBERREGABERER
REFENAIEREEREAAENE

categorised (Levels 2 to 3) based on the degree to which the key EARBEERTHNIBE(BEZREE=

inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

AR e



15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (cONTINUED)

Investment properties held by
the Group in the consolidated
statement of financial position

Fair value hierarchy

SRUBRRRTARAZIRENE DAEER

15. REYE @)

Valuation techniques and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs

EERNRBREARE

EATABRRZAARE

Property 1 in Hong Kong

BENF

Property 2 in Hong Kong

B

Other properties in Hong Kong

BEAMME

Le

vel 3

=R

Le

vel 3

Level 2

Income method

WA

The key inputs are:
1. Reversionary yield; and
2. Market unit rent of individual
unit
BREABER
1. ESREE R
2 fEREfummSEMLES

Income method

W%

The key inputs are:

1. Reversionary yield; and
2. Market unit rent of individual
unit
BREAEER :

1L ERkER R
2 EREuMTSELES

Direct comparison method based on
market observable transactions of
similar properties and adjusted to
reflect the conditions and locations
of the subject property

BEREBEERMEOE 2 TS E
RXHUERBARRZNE L
B R E

Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties of
3% (2023: 3%)

EHlEE ZERTELEYEZ FRENTHESRAR
BUMEEEZ%(ZEZ=F : 3%)

Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking into
account of similar characteristics, location and sizes, from
HK$36.6/5q.ft/month to HK$53.0/sq.ft/month (2023 from
HK$40.1/5qft/month to HK$53.0/5q.ft/month)

M EGES  KAEETSLREEY A ZRENSE
ERFAE  mEAGTHR66ETEB0ET(ZFZ
=F: A ABTHRI0IBTES0ET)

Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties of
3.25% to 3.5% (2023: 3.25% to 3.5%)

BEHRRE  ZEAALENEZFEENTSESRAR
BUMISEEZ325%E35% (2B =5 : 325%F35%)

Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking into
account of similar characteristics, location and sizes, from
HK$22.0/5qft/month to HK$32.5/sq.ft/month (2023: from
HK$22.3/5qft/month to HK$32.8/sq.ft/month)

mEELRE  KAEEMSLRERY A RIENFE
UERAE BEAGTIRNBTENSHEL(ZEZ
=5 hEARTHRRIBTERSET)

N/A

4

b
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15. REVWHE @)

Investment properties held by
the Group in the consolidated

statement of financial position Fair value hierarchy Valuation techniques and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs
GRUBRRARPAEBZRENE AAEER RERNRARBARE EXTABEZBAYE
Property 3 in Mainland China Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market rental

income and unit market value of the comparable properties of
2.5% (2023: 2.5%)

FEIRM %3 =R LON EHREE ZERMELEYEZ FRENTHELMAR
BUMSEEZ2L%(ZRZ=F : 25%)

The key inputs are: Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking into
1. Reversionary yield; and account of similar characteristics, location and sizes, of
2. Market unit rent of individual HK$70.2/sq.m./month (2023: HK$70.7/5q.m./month)
unit
BREABER M ELES  RAEETSLREEY A ZRENSE
1. ERRRER UERAE §AGFEHKILBL(ZZ2=F: §RE

2 (ARENMTEENES FRHK07ETT)

Property 4 in Mainland China Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties of
4.5% (2023: 4.5%)

B M) %4 E=R W% EHRREE  ZERUELBNEZ FRENTHESRAR
BUMHEEZ4%(ZBZ=F : 45%)

The key inputs are: Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking into
1. Reversionary yield; and account of similar characteristics, location and sizes, from
s 2 Market unit rent of individual HK$46.4/5q.m./month to HK$59.4/sq.m./month (2023 from
E unit HK$47.5/sq.m./month to HK$60.7/sq.m./month)
o) BREABER MEENES RAEEDSLERUBY AZRRUSE
& 1 EBkER R I ERFE - mBAEFHRK6ABTLE4BT(ZFZ
2 2 (ERIEuMTISELES =F AEAGTARISETECNTET)
2
< Property 5 in Mainland China Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties of
3.5% (2023: 3.5%)
hEABNES F=R WAE EHEREE  ZERTELBYE . FRENTHES AR
BATIHEEZ35%(ZFZ=F : 35%)
The key inputs are: Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking into
1. Reversionary yield; and account of similar characteristics, location and sizes, of
2. Market unit rent of individual HK$47.5/sq.m./month (2023: HK$47.7/sq.m./month)
unit
BREABER TEENAS  RAERTSLREEY AZRENSE
1. EHkEX R UERSE BABTARISEL(ZEZ=F:§A
2 ERBuSTHSEMES FHK477ETT)
[a]
w
E
=
=
[a]
=
<<
-
w
-
<
=
[
=
£
=




INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (cONTINUED) 15.

Investment properties held by
the Group in the consolidated
statement of financial position

Fair value hierarchy

Valuation techniques and key inputs

REWZE m)

Significant unobservable inputs

GRUBRRARPAEBMZRENE ALEER RERNRARBARE EXTABEZBAYE
Property 6 in Mainland China Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties of
6.5% (2023: 6.5%)
FEIRM %6 E=R W% BlhEEx  ZERMELBYEZ FRENTHESRAR
BUMEEEZ65%(ZTZ=F : 65%)
The key inputs are: Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking into
1. Reversionary yield; and account of similar characteristics, location and sizes, from
2. Market unit rent of individual HK$69.1/5q.m./month to HK$168.5/sq.m./month (2023:
unit HK$34 7/sq.m./month to HK$179.9/5q.m./month)
BREABER HEMES - %ﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁ%thf%{ﬁilﬂ%ﬁﬁ%w
1. ERkER R ugwm; BEABTHRIETEI685BT(ZFZ
2 [ERBumTEEMNES =F:HBABGTARMTIATEIT99ETT)
Property 7 in Mainland China Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties of
4.5% (2023: 4.5%)
RER T =R LN BEHRRE  ZEAALENEZFEENTSESRAR
BRUMHEEZ45%(ZBZ=F : 45%)
The key inputs are: Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking into
1. Reversionary yield; and account of similar characteristics, location and sizes, from
2. Market unit rent of individual HK$21.6/5q.m./month to HK$127.4/sq.m./month (2023: from
unit HK$23.1/sq.m./month to HK$101.4/sg.m./month)
BREABEA MmSENES  RAEETSLRUBY BERAUSE
1 ESWEE R ERAE  BEASTHRN6BTR 2748 (Z2=
2 ERERNSTSELES =F mMEAGTAABIATEIN4ET)
Other properties in Mainland China Level 2 Direct comparison method based on N/A
market observable transactions of
similar properties and adjusted to
reflect the conditions and locations
of the subject property
R E Y% E_R BEREIBEENMEDME TSR TEA

R HLEBBEARRZANEZ
iR E

Increase in the reversionary yield would result in a decrease in
the fair value of the investment properties. Increase in the

market unit rent or market unit rate would result in an increase

in the fair value of the investment properties, and vice versa.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the
Group uses market observable data to the extent it is available.
The management of the Group works closely with the valuer to

establish the appropriate valuation techniques and key inputs to

the model.

ERbEELS  BREVEZAAEBED
KemBENHAESMIGEEMERM
& WEVEZ ARERR R2ZIA °

Efﬁuﬂxé%ﬁﬁﬁ’wﬂﬁﬁf REEFE

REEERA™ S A BREE - $%@E’JE
EEJ%EEHETEEW%%' B AHIEEE
R ER & R E AR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 1 B 25 A M

31 December 2024 —Z—-E+—-A=+—H

16. LEASES 16. &
The Group as lessee rEBEREEA
(a) Lease liabilities (a HEER
2024 2023
—EC-NE —E-=%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FExT FAT
Lease liabilities payable JEREEBE
Within 1 year TR 2,649 3,720
1 to 2 years 1EZE25F - 2,707
2,649 6,427
Less: Amount due for settlement after B IEREBEEET
1 year shown under ZIFRERNZ
non-current liabilities &8 — (2,707)
Amount due for settlement within 1 year REEFEEAE N Z1FRN
shown under current liabilities it z&%58 2,649 3,720

ERREEaENMET LS
ERFEEE N T48%E57% (=

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied
to lease liabilities range from 4.8% to 5.7% (2023: from

-
% 4.8% to 5.7%). T_=F  48%E57%) °
<
§ (b)  Right-of-use assets (included in property, plant and (b) RARESE GIAY%E BERZ
= equipment) &)
<
Buildings
BF
HK$'000
T
As at 1 January 2023 RZEBE—_=%—H—H 22,878
Additions NE —
Exchange differences MEH Z5 (114)
Depreciation e (13,379)
Disposal & (3,118)
As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H
a —Z2-_MF—-—HF—H 6,267
E Additions EEE —
g Exchange differences bE H 2= 58 (80)
z Depreciation e (3,672)
Z’ Disposal e —
b
= As at 31 December 2024 RZZE-WOE+-_A=+—H 2,515
=



16. LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Right-of-use assets (included in property, plant and
equipment) (Continued)

The Group leases offices for its operations. Lease contracts
are entered into for fixed term of 1 to 5 years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several office buildings. The
Group is the registered owner of these property interests,
including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire these property
interests. The leasehold land components of these owned
properties are presented separately only if the payments

16. HE @)

REBERAEA @)

(b) (EAREEEGIAYE BERRF
%) (%)
AEBMAEH DS LS o B

FVHESRNEHRERIES
F-HBERER MEAZHE
PR S A o BEE AR R FF
AR REARc RER - A%

BEAGHZEEREEANA

1T ZHIR -

o AEBBEBZERREE
FoARBBREMERS

m#EE A -

BEABHEEL -

H&ﬂﬁ%%%%%ﬁ#ﬂ%ﬁ—%ﬂfi

ﬁ KB EE

I X EE Al 5 0 e

uA#QE%%Z%E iﬁjﬂ,ug

made can be allocated reliably. 7 ZL BB o
The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases () BMEERBRBERNFIALT :
are as follows:
2024 2023
—E-@mF —E=F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FHT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE 219 1213
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {# I EETEFR X 3,672 13,379
Expense relating to short-term leases B AHEEEENE R 20,930 20,639
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 825 HER K 4250 24,821 35,231
The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 34(c) (d) MHEMRESRLBEREERTS

to the financial statements.

R M FE34(0)
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ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

R 1 B 25 A M

31 December 2024 —Z—-E+—-A=+—H

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. LEASES (CONTINUED) 16.

The Group as lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) consisting

of 9 commercial properties in Mainland China and 7 commercial

and residential properties in Hong Kong under operating lease
arrangements. None of the Group's properties held for rental
purposes have been disposed of since the end of the reporting

period.

At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

HE @

AEEEAHEA
AEERECLEE TR ELREY
2 (Mi3E15) - BE B A A OTE i &
MEREBNTEREREEYE - &
5 25 95 LA SR - 7 S 0 4 1 (E A 4
MERRNYE -

R-ZBE-ME+-_A=+—8 ~&£H
BETAHENEEHEE > ALk
BUR R AR A EWFA EZEN T ¢

2024 2023

—E-IF —T-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx FHT

Within one year —F R 79,461 71,703

In the second year F_F 46,861 46,179

In the third year EFE=F 29,316 28,017

In the fourth year Ejuskes 21,489 16,275

In the fifth year FRE 15,620 11,132

After five years RAEFE 56,562 39,129

249,309 212,435

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 17. REEE AR 2=

(a) Investments (@) RE

2024 2023

—ENF —E=F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

At beginning of the year F1 2,028,924 2,269,633

Exchange differences PEH =58 (26,386) (30,840)

Dividend received B BB (53,995) —

Share of results of associates (iii) DG B & R R A (i) (823,337) (209,369)

At end of the year Fx 1,125,206 2,028,924




TR = 3¢
17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 17. REE QX F 2B )
(a) Investments (Continued) (a) BE @)
Details of the Group's associates are as follows: AEEZHE NG FBOT
Proportion of Proportion of
equity interest held  voting rights held
Place of by the Group at by the Group at
incorporation and 31 December 2024 31 December 2024
Name of entity Principal activities operation and 2023 and 2023
R-ZB-_MER R-ZB-_NER
—E=F+=ZH =—ZB=-Z=%+=A
=+—BFXKEFE =+-BEXKERSE
EREE FEEK AR 3L % A% # it 26 % 7 4 2 L Bl RERELL B
BB EEEENEREERAR Real estate development Mainland China 50% 40%
(Langfang Wanheng Shengye Property
Development Co., Ltd.)
("Langfang Wanheng”) (i)
BB EEFEEMERZEERAR BHEERE B A i
(TEREH & 1E 1) ()
IREBREREXERAA Real estate development Mainland China 51% 40%
(Beijing Minmetals Vanke Real Estate
Co,, Ltd) ("Beijing Minmetals Vanke”) (i)
IR ABRERBEEBRAR EHEEE B A i
([HERAEBER ()
REMERZEBEEBRAR Real estate development Mainland China 49% 49%
(Tianjin Yijiahe Real Estate Company
Limited) (“Tianjin Yijiahe") (ii) b
FRTEESBEARAF BHERRE o E 7 l
(TRZEZED ) i
iy
HEEN SR B EBRAR Real estate development Mainland China 50% 40% ”
(Hunan Greenland Financial City
Property Development Co., Ltd.)
(“Hunan Greenland”) (ii)
B SRR EEGR QA EHEER B A i,
(T#m &Rt 1) (i)
()  These companies are sino-foreign equity joint ()  FZFEARRBNHE A
ventures established in Mainland China with ZHIINEERE  BEHA
operating periods of 30 years. The Group accounts 304F o AN G B H R
for its investments in these companies as associates "EREEBRAESEE D
as it only exercises significant influence over the RERTEERTE N - HH
investees by minority representation in the boards of R %E R A 21 E AR
directors. Pursuant to Articles of Association, the BEERE - BREBEARE
Group has the right to cast 40% of the votes at B AEERBHEERRE
shareholders’ meetings of Langfang Wanheng, and RKEHHL400M TR EZRE - LA
40% of the votes at shareholders' meetings of kit R AEERR R RS
Beijing Minmetals Vanke. FEH40%H) IR EHE ©
I
44
=
T
]
-_g
;
H
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ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R 1 B 25 A M

31 December 2024 —Z—-E+—-A=+—H

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Investments (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(ii)

(iii)

During the year of 2020, the Group acquired 49%
equity interest in Tianjin Yijiahe and 50% equity
interest in Hunan Greenland. The Group accounts for
its investments in these companies as associates as
it can exercise significant influence over the
investees by minority representation in the boards of
directors. Pursuant to Articles of Association, the
Group has the right to cast 49% of the votes at
shareholders’ meetings of Tianjin Yijiahe, and 40% of
the votes at shareholders’ meetings of Hunan
Greenland.

The share of results of associates included the share
of allowance for impairment of inventories made by
associates (net of tax), which amounted to
HK$939,932,000 (2023: HKS$218,093,000).

Summarised financial information of
associates

Summarised financial information of associates of the
Group is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts shown in the
associates’ financial statements prepared in accordance

17. REEE DTl 2 = ®|)

(a)

(b)

BE (&)

iy R-ZE_ZTF KEBEWE
K2 E 32 A 49% ) IR HE K2 A
8 4% b 500 19 A% 4 o B R AR
EEENZWRE H @ik
EETgLERRITFEEAY
27 WEBRZZEARZ
TEARY BB E QT 1R
BARER  AEBRKZE
BERAREREHHI9%M
R - DA PR B R AR A%
HASEHI0BHIRERE

(i) DIEBERRREBREDNE
B RTMEEERERE
(IBEHR®E) 28R

939,932,000 L (=T = =
£F : 218,093,00005 7T) ©

BMEQNRZMBENBRE

AEBBERNRZHBEERBE
SIE T o THIF B ER R EIE
2INBERBNFHHRRAZ
TROREE LM M E LR

with HKFRSs. &l o

Langfang Wanheng BBL5 B 1E
2024 2023
—ENEF —T-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET T
Current assets MENEE 2,259,791 2,615,470
Non-current assets ERBEE 11,289 29,992
Current liabilities mEAE 2,090,048 2,364,520




17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(b) Summarised financial information of

17. REEE DT 2 = @)
(b) BEQNTZHEERBME

associates (Continued) (#8)

Langfang Wanheng (Continued) BBy B (4E)
2024 2023
—E-MF —ET-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET T T
Revenue for the year REFRA 275,898 —
Loss for the year KEEBE (95,276) (3,576)
Other comprehensive expense for the year ZN4F E H th 2 3 1 (4,634) (4,075)
Total comprehensive expense for the year ARG E 2 HE X 445 (99,910) (7,651)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial

AP HERREREBHEER

information to the carrying amount of the Group's interest IREMBREANMER L ANEE
in Langfang Wanheng recognised in the consolidated e IR EE 2 H R
financial statements:
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Net assets of the associate Bt NR 2 BEFRR 181,032 280,942
Proportion of the Group's interest in AEERBHEEBZ
Langfang Wanheng HE 2=t 171 50% 50%
2024 2023
—E-NmEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in  AN5E B B4 B B S
Langfang Wanheng ZHRHEE 90,516 140,471

207 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
b B R
31 December 2024 —ZZ—P&F+=A=+—H
17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 17. REE QN F 2 s )
(b) Summarised financial information of (b) BEQNTAZHKEERBE
associates (Continued) (%)
Beijing Minmetals Vanke IREEER
2024 2023
—E-E —E =4
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET T T
Current assets ENE B 1,854,199 1,895,573
Current liabilities nBaE 4,449 4,810
2024 2023
—E-NE e
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHETT
Revenue for the year AREFZRA — =
Loss for the year REEEE (585) (4,396)
.
= Other comprehensive expense for the year ZAFEH 2 M % 1 (40,428) (27,277)
= Total comprehensive expense for the year 7N € 2 X (42 58 (41,013) (31,673)
=z
<C
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial EXHBERNMERILRAES
information to the carrying amount of the Group's interest B GRE Bk AR 2 AR
in Beijing Minmetals Vanke recognised in the consolidated SERERREE HR
financial statements:
2024 2023
—E-MF —ET=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHE T
Net assets of the associate B N Rl BEFRE 1,849,750 1,890,763
@ Proportion of the Group's interest in Beijing ANEE Rt R AREES R}
s Minmetals Vanke 2 R ) 51% 51%
a
Z
!
4
=
o
=
=
=



17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 17. RBEE QAR 2= @)
(b) Summarised financial information of (b) BERATRZHBERBE
associates (Continued) (#8)
Beijing Minmetals Vanke (Continued) It RBEEER ()
2024 2023
—E-E —ET-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET T T
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in ~ ANEBER L R ARES R
Beijing Minmetals Vanke w2z REE 943,373 964,289
Tianjin Yijiahe XEEBES
2024 2023
—E-E —ET-=fF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET AT
Current assets mENEE 7,474,523 8,859,168
Non-current assets EMBEE 29,003 24,609 =
H:I,
Bl
Current liabilities mENE & 4,361,161 3,473,905 @41
I
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 3,142,365 3,906,244
2024 2023
—E-_ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FAT
Revenue for the year REFZWA 1,088,812 5,406,617
Loss for the year REFER (1,503,628) (365,569)
Other comprehensive expense for the year ANFE HE 2 M H — (24,463)
Total comprehensive expense for the year ~ ANFEE2ME X 1425 (1,503,628) (390,032)
"
44
=
T
el
=y
i
H




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W 5 AR B R
31 December 2024 —Z=—&E+=-A=+—H
17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 17. REE QN F 2 s )
(b) Summarised financial information of (b) BEQNTAZHKEERBE
associates (Continued) (#&)
Tianjin Yijiahe (Continued) XEEES (5B)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial EXHBERBERREERZS
information to the carrying amount of the Group's interest REFEMBMRANTER 2 AE
in Tianjin Yijiahe recognised in the consolidated financial I 1 = AR TED (B2 396 -
statements:
2024 2023
=111 - 3 —E-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHETT
Net assets of the associate BN Al 2 BEFRE — 1,503,628
Proportion of the Group's interest in AEERKERES
Tianjin Yijiahe e Eayn ] 49% 49%
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
- FHET T
=
o Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in ~ AREERKEEZ S #E
< Tianjin Yijiahe w2 BREE — 736,778
>
z
Hunan Greenland W AR
2024 2023
—E-ME —_=E=_=
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET T
Current assets MENEE 534,074 848,468
Non-current assets FERBEE 62,659 57,801
Current liabilities mEaff 395,318 462,825
o
= .
s Non-current liabilities EmEBBE 18,780 68,671
a
Z
!
4
=
m
=
=
=



17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(b) Summarised financial information of

17. REEE DT 2 = @)
(b) BEQNTZHEERBME

associates (Continued) (%)

Hunan Greenland (Continued) AR (4B
2024 2023
—E-MF —E_=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FHT
Revenue for the year REFZ WA 143,100 54,829
Loss for the year KEZEE (77,247) (53,421)
Other comprehensive expense for the year NG H fh 2 7 (6,901) (5,810)
Total comprehensive expense for the year AT &2 M S 4258 (84,148) (59,231)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the Group's interest

EXHBERYE B AR
REMBRERAMERZASKE

in Hunan Greenland recognised in the consolidated e IR EE 2 H R
financial statements:
2024 2023
—E-mEF T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T T
Net assets of the associate RN A 2 BEFHE 182,635 374,773
Proportion of the Group’s interest in Hunan 7N 52 [ 1A A 78 4% 3 2
Greenland g bl 50% 50%
2024 2023
—E2-MF —ET-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHExT T T
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in N5 B A R 4R 0 AE 25
Hunan Greenland ZBRHEAE 91,317 187,386
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R 1 B 25 A M

31 December 2024 —Z—-E+—-A=+—H

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(c) The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of (c)
losses of an associate because the share of losses of the
associate exceeded the Group’s interests in the associate
and the Group has no obligation to take up further losses.
The amounts of the Group’s unrecognised share of losses

17. REEE DTl 2 = ®|)

AFHEB -

AEED R ILHER

1l — R Bt &
R Z Db % &
RANBERZNAEERZB S
REWED MARELEEE
EEE—BER AKEEAFE

of the associate for the current year and cumulatively were R EZFRERDIEZHE R RE
as follows: BOSELT :
2024
—E-ME
HK$’000
FHERT
Unrecognised share of losses of the associate for FRARERD G E R REE
the year 1,641,755
Accumulated unrecognised share of losses of RZZEZWMFEF+=ZA=+—8
the associate as at 31 December 2024 RETARER DG E R R EE 1,641,755
18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. REERF 2w
(a) Investments (@) BE
2024 2023
—EC-NE —E =45
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHER T
At beginning of the year F9) 333,897 341,852
Additions NE — 385
Exchange differences ME = 5R (7,174) (4,347)
Share of results of joint ventures (i) DIhEE R REE) 59,678 33,889
Reversal of the deferred income generated 85 T 5% & #2357 3% Fl R
from the elimination of downstream IR E R D MG
unrealised profits in excess of HYIEE A B
the investment (57,134) —
Dividends [¥s) — (37,882)
At end of the year FHR 329,267 333,897




18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Investments (Continued)

Details of the Group's joint ventures are as follows:

Name of entity

Principal activities

18. REE AT 2 HEXH )

(a) ®E @)
AEEZ AL ATERBHT -

Place of incorporation
and operation

Proportion of equity interest
held by the Group

EREE FEXK o 11 AR L % AR it RE REBIHE R ARz LA
2024 2023
—EB-oMEF —T_=
BREMNEREMERZEERAR Real estate development Mainland China 34.1% 34.1%
(Gekuangli Nanjing Property
Development Co., Ltd.) (“Gekuangli”)
BREANEREHERERRAR FiEERE R A3,
(T8mwAl)
FARENEEMERZEERAR Real estate development Mainland China 39.8% 39.8%
(Nanjing Kuanglijin Property
Development Co., Ltd.) (“Kuanglijin”) (c)
FRBENEEERERRAR FiEERE R A3,
(M2 1)
BMNZEEMERZEERAR Real estate development Mainland China 10% 10%
(Guangzhou Anhe Real Estate
Development Co,, Ltd.)
(“Guangzhou Anhe”) (c)
BMNZ&EthEREERAR EHEER B A i,
(TEMZE D (©
HEESEXEREBRAA Real estate development Mainland China 50% 50%
(Hunan Kuangmeng Property
Development Co., Ltd.)
("Hunan Kuangmeng")
MBS EXRAEERAA EHEERE R B A b
(DHrE&E )
I RERNEEBRAR Real estate development Mainland China 40% 40%
(Beijing Kuangrongcheng Real
Estate Co., Ltd.) (c)
I RBERIKEEERAA (O EHEERE R B A i
B R A IR B EE A PR A A Real estate development Mainland China 34.1% 34.1%

(Nanjing Yuexin Decoration
Management Co., Ltd.)

MRUEMREMHERFTRAR

These companies are joint ventures established by the
Group and other investors in Mainland China. The Group
accounts for its investments in these companies as joint
ventures as it exercises joint control over the investees
through its voting rights, as unanimous consent is required

for the relevant activities.

B ERR

PEAM

ZERAR/ANEERHEAME
MIREERILZEZERTR - AR
AEBBEREEMRETT
ERRZEH (RAREREEEAE—
HRAE) MESRZFRRZE

BEARINBEERT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 1 B 25 A M

31 December 2024 —Z—-E+—-A=+—H

18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. REERTZER @)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Investments (Continued) (a) #®E (@)
() The share of results of joint ventures included the () DEELERARIEEBED(N

AENRFTETEERERE
(B T IE) 21,274,00078 TT

share of allowance for impairment of inventories
made by joint ventures (net of tax), which

amounted to HK$21,274,000 (2023: HKS$46,021,000). (ZZFZ =% : 46,021,000/8
JT) °
(b) Summarised financial information of joint (b) ARZHMBEERBE
ventures
As at 31 December 2024, none of Group's joint ventures RZEZWNE+=ZA=+—H -

were individually material.

AEBEYEMBBINEERNAE

NA] e
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=4F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FHT
The Group's share of profit for the year AEE B AEE G 2,544 33,889
- The Group's share of other comprehensive N5 B & (A4 & E A
g expense for the year ZEX (7,174) (4,347)
5
§ The Group's share of total comprehensive A= B (G AF[E 2 M
= (expense)/income for the year () WA4EzE (4,630) 29,542
<
(c) The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of (c) =5£E E%JJ:TJE?J NEETES
losses of certain joint ventures because the share of losses NAEIREE - T hZEE
of those joint ventures exceeded the Group's interests in “NTRRER yﬁ’\$’§ ERZE
those joint ventures and the Group has no obligation to EEANAMNER  MASEEE
take up further losses. The amounts of the Group's BEEEREE—DTEE AEER
unrecognised share of losses of those joint ventures for the FERRFARERDEZEEE
current year and cumulatively were as follows: NEIEENSERAT
2024 2023
—E-ME B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHT
8
E Unrecognised share of losses of ilﬁiﬁﬁﬁu” DEEE
é joint ventures for the year NG SE = — 40,558
!
wv
= Accumulated unrecognised share of losses W+ —H=+—HZ5t
E of joint ventures as at 31 December RERDIEEE D F]
E EE — 56,046




19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

19. ZBHEMEEKSEEQAE
STBCHMBEE

2024 2023
—E-EF —ZT_=
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET T
Listed equity securities in Hong Kong REB L2 IRARF?
At beginning of the year F4) 179,119 401,428
Fair value gain/(loss) recognised in other P E A 2 T W s T 7R
comprehensive income DB (BE) 55,515 (222,309)
At end of the year FIR 234,634 179,119

The Group's equity securities investment is measured at fair value

at the end of the reporting period:

AEBERBERRBANRAEZESFRER

AR EE -

Fair value as at

[ARE

31 December

31 December Valuation technique

Financial assets 2024 2023 Fair value hierarchy and key input
—E-mE —E-= BEETREZE A
MBEE +=A=+—-8 +=ZA=+—H 2AAEHRSH &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Financial assets at fair value through other 234,634 179,119 Level 1 Quoted prices in an

comprehensive income — Listed equity
securities

FREMEARREAAENE 2B
BE — FRAES

The equity securities investment has been designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income, which, in the
opinion of the Directors, resulting more relevant information for
the Group's financial instruments based on how the Group
manages its equity instruments. Dividend income recognised
during the year related to those investments held at end of the
year was HK$7,798,000 (2023: HK$8,658,000). There was no
transfer of the cumulative gain or loss within equity during both

years.

active market

TR BB T 45 By Hh h
BAE

BRABLHRECHEEAEREMEE
WRIBEAARBEFE  MEERAEEH
AEERBEEEERATANAHR @
EFE BN T ARBER - FAME
REFRAFAENZEREFBHR
B WA R7,7980008 T (Z T Z=4F !
8,658,000/ 7T ° A M8 F E - #Em F #E
EmER 2Tk E R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B T R B R
31 December 2024 —Z=—&E+=-A=+—H
20. INVENTORIES 20. 78
2024 2023
—EZMEF —T=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHET
Properties under development located in (758 AR B A Y B R AR
Mainland China (i) () 10,079,451 17,106,899
Properties held for sale — RELENmE —
located in Mainland China LR HR B A 10,188,165 8,194,647
Properties held for sale — FIERENYE —
located in Hong Kong R EB 4,431,578 8,300,243
14,619,743 16,494,890
24,699,194 33,601,789
(i) Properties under development (i) BEEAPYWE
2024 2023
5 =111 - 3 —E-=F
= HK$'000 HK$'000
g FHET T
S
E Land use rights 3 {E R 6,096,942 11,345,397
Construction costs FREERA 3,982,509 5,761,502
10,079,451 17,106,899
As at 31 December 2024, inventories held by subsidiaries R_ZE_NWFE+_A=+—H "
with carrying amounts of HK$4,264,846,000 (2023: WMEBRARMBEESERTMEA
HKS$13,514,995,000) have been pledged as collateral for 4,264,846,0008 L (Z T = =
bank borrowings (note 29(a)). 13,514,995,0007% 7T ) K7 & B & 1§
ERBRITERZER R (M &F
29(a)) °
o
w
=
=
-
)
=
!
4
=
G
=
=
=




21. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER 21. ERRIE - EZREMEW
RECEIVABLES g
2024 2023
—E-mF “E=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHET
Trade receivables, net (b) B S REWGRIA - FR () 157,224 188,061
Deposits Ze 112,502 129,074
Prepayments (c) FERT A () 504,582 542,416
Prepayments for land cost (d) SN N ) 138,784 141,817
Amounts due from associates (note 37(b)) i N Pl
(53700 ) 897,814 938,144
Amounts due from joint ventures (note 37(b)) FEURA & A RIFIA
(MFEE37(0)) 1,961,830 2,365,977
Amounts due from non-controlling FEU IS B 2 R EIZE AR AR R
shareholders of subsidiaries (note 37(b)) RIE (B EE37(b)) 3,099,609 4,163,243
Others Hth 294,113 352,775
7,166,458 8,821,507
@  The carrying amounts of prepayments, trade and other @ TERE E%&ET@F&CWM %
receivables are denominated in the following currencies: ZEEETETJJ«{T@J 5 71| BR g
I
iy
2024 2023 I
—E-mEF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
HKS AT 23,110 54,460
Renminbi (“RMB”) ARB(TARE]) 7,143,348 8,767,047
7,166,458 8,821,507
I3
&
=
i
el
e
i3
H




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B T R B R

31 December 2024 —Z=—&E+=-A=+—H

21. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER 21. ANRIE - EZREMELW

RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) IE (@)

(b)  The aging analysis of trade receivables based on due date b) EEWRBEEINHB MWEINLT
for rental receivables, date of properties delivered to BEXMBBARERBREEREH
purchasers and billing date of construction services RERHES 2B S ERKRIEZ
certified is as follows: BRER DTN T :

2024 2023
—BoNmEF “E=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER T
Within 90 days 90 H A 79,844 131,902
91 to 180 days 91HZ=180H 13,986 13,621
181 days to 1 year EEESE:S 23,025 8,505
1 to 2 years 1FE2F 39,745 24,935
Over 2 years 2F A E 55,033 49,020
211,633 227,983
Less: Allowance for impairment B B ERE (54,409) (39,922)
157,224 188,061
N
= Movements in the allowance for impairment of trade PE B EWRIBIEL 2 B EEE
g receivables are as follows: ST
S
2 2024 2023
= —E-mE —E=-=
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHET
At beginning of the year F1 39,922 43,677
Exchange differences bE H ZERE (431) (209)
Allowance/(reversal of allowance) for REBE,
impairment, net (BERE) - F5 14,918 (3,274)
Written-off &5 — (272)
At end of the year Fx 54,409 39,922
A Details of impairment assessment of trade and other B 5 I H e Y RIB 2 R (B BT A
= receivables are set out in note 40(a)(ii). 1B A BT 5E40()(i) °
=
-
2 (©  As at 31 December 2024, prepayments included prepaid © RZZEZ@EF+=—A=+—8"
E other taxes and other charges of approximately FENFIBRERMNEMBIERE
F-" HK$429,705,000 (2023: HK$447,862,000). ftbh & FA £9429,705,0008 7T (Z T =
w =4F : 447,862,000 ) °
=
s




21. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER 21. ANRIE - EZREMEW
RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) MIE (®)
(d)  Prepayments for land cost represented payments to Bureau d)  TER A A8 R A B A b U B
of Planning and Natural Resources of PRC for the THAE N THREREREAER
acquisition of land in Mainland China and the amount will RBZHRIE - Mt BN ER
be reclassified to inventory upon issuance of land use right B AEBGRENIEAT
certificates. =4
(e)  The other items within trade and other receivables do not e HBIHRAMEKRKIERNHMIE
contain past due or impaired assets. BT EEAfKEREEE -
22. CONTRACT ASSETS 22. EHEE
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Contract assets arising from: RENTEENEGNEE
Construction services RER 120,734 140,913
Retention receivables FEUUR E & 48,949 50,169
Total k] 169,683 191,082 -
Impairment B (101,286) = g
I
g i
Net carrying amount REFE 68,397 191,082 i
As at 1 January 2023, contract assets amounted to approximately RZZEZ=%—H—H 6HEEZLS
HK$144,360,000. &8 /5 #%9144,360,00078 T °
The contract assets from construction services primarily relate to BERBHNENEETESRASER
the Group's right to consideration for work completed and not B ITRBBREZERN(BEERE
billed because the rights are conditioned on the Group's future FARERAR R BB R IRBA AR - W
performance. The contract assets are transferred to trade REHRE) SHNEERENKAE
receivables when the rights become unconditional, typically IRER GRS AEHIRE V) EBREE
upon the issuance of billing certificates. S W FIE -
Retention receivables are included in contract assets until the FEWRESFAEGNEE  EEREH
end of the retention period as the Group's entitlement to this HERIE - BANEBEWIGZREN D
final payment is conditioned on the Group’s fulfillment of its EAMAREEERHEERIBEERK
quality warranty obligation. As at 31 December 2024, the amount H-RZZFE-_MF+-_A=+—H" &
of retention receivables expected to be recovered after twelve B RS B R+ (B A & 4B /9 g
months from the end of the reporting period was nil (2023: WrBeAEAET(ZEZ= i
s — 2
HK$33,223,000). 33,223,000/ 7T) © g
T
The Group classifies these contract assets as current because the REBBZEENEESERMIDE E
Group expects to realise them in its normal operating cycle. E REAAEEEHENEERELE o
REAKZEEEZS - H
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31 December 2024 —Z—-E+—-A=+—H

23. CONTRACT COSTS

23. 8B

2024 2023
—E-OE —E-o=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET TAT

Sales commissions HEME 68,707 222274

Contract costs relate to the incremental sales commissions paid/
payable to property agents whose selling activities resulted in
customers entering into sale and purchase agreements for the
Group's properties. Contract costs are recognised as part of
selling and marketing expenses in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss in the period in which revenue from the related
property sales is recognised.

24. CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS,

BRRTSRENBRYERENE
HEEME ZFRENHELHEE
HEFPIVABAKRENENEE W
& ARRATIREBEYMEHEEMSR
SERPEEFSBERAERIHE
MEHER—RED -

24, IRHFBEERBITER

RESTRICTED
2024 2023
—E-NEF —EZ=F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FAET
Restricted cash SR HIIR e 44,787 103,640

The carrying amounts of restricted cash are denominated in the
following currencies:

XRHIRE 2 BREETIA T TSR

2024 2023
—ENF —E-=4F

HK$'000 HKS$'000

FET FET

HKS BT 34,117 94,074
RMB AR 10,670 9,566
44,787 103,640

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day and three months depending on
the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest
at the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank
balances and pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.

RITRERBEARTERNEEEZ
BRI - I EREUR B - AEEIZRA
IR & F 2R RHRNEHENF
FoNF-—RE=EA IERIEHE
HIF SN R EREUR B - SRITAE SR AR
FREAROY BENCHEAEEERY
ZARTT ©



24,

25.

CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS, RESTRICTED

(CONTINUED)
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting
period is the carrying amount of cash and bank deposits.

The restricted cash represents (i) regulated pre-sales proceeds of
properties, which will be released according to the completion
stage of the related properties; (ii) performance deposits for
construction projects; and (i) guarantee deposits for the benefit
of mortgage loan facilities granted by banks to the purchasers of
the Group's properties.

24, SRFBPERBITER @

RBERRBEAR &K
Be RRITHERZEHEE -

=R B3R & 35 x%ﬁ%Hﬂ%%,\mm
R HEBRAMEATERBERER  (
BEFERZBORESR  RiiNE féf#ﬁ%
RITERAKEMEER ZRBER

B2 BRER -

25. AEZREIRE R RITFK

;EJ—L AA%

CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS,
UNRESTRICTED
2024 2023
—E-IME ZT==F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAT
Cash at banks RTR % 2,821,841 3,410,733
Cash on hand FHERE 18 11
Cash and bank deposits R RIBITHFR 2,821,859 3,410,744
The carrying amounts of cash and bank deposits are ReRBPITERZEREBETIATIIEE
denominated in the following currencies: 5B -
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E==F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TAT
HKS BT 540,203 200,539
RMB ARKE 2,169,162 3,195,413
uss ETT 112,494 14,792
2,821,859 3,410,744
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting RBERRBEARSIZZSEERR A

period is the carrying amount of cash and bank deposits.

Re RBITHERZEEE -

21—

744 3R

o=
=
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26. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

26. Htt Bt EE

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=4F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET T T
Derivatives under hedge accounting EITHPEHEEN
TETA
Other financial assets Bt BsEE
Cash flow hedges — Interest rate swap (a) RemEEHh —
FE=EH @)
Matured within twelve months R+ =18 A A E B — 2,409
Matured after twelve months R+ =& A 1% %) B 106 —
106 2,409
(a) Cash flow hedges: (a) REREBEHM :

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the
following interest rate swap contract designated as highly
effective hedging instruments in order to manage the
Group's interest rate exposure in relation to the bank
borrowings on a floating interest rate basis. The Group
entered into interest rate swap contract in which the
Group would receive interest of one-month HIBOR and pay
monthly interest at a fixed rate based on the notional
amount of HK$0.8 billion (2023: HKS$1.0 billion).

There is an economic relationship between the hedged
item and the hedging instrument as the terms of the
interest rate swap contract match the terms of the
expected highly probable forecast transaction (expected
payment date of the bank interests). The Group has
established a hedge ratio of 1:1 for the hedging
relationships as the underlying risks of the swap contract is
identical to the hedged risk components.

RBEHR AEEH AT
ERFEFERZEHTAMNF X
EHAH NEEAKREZEY
A R 5T B A ER1T 18 S PT E &Y R
KRR - RBEAN KRBT LA F =X
BEHEK AREBR—EAEE
RITRFRHFE WA E - WARIE
HETHMEABT(ZT_=F:
10878 7T) 8 A B H = E 7
8 o

W R B B R T B2 R
EEBIE RATRBEHAHN
R BRI T A 2 T
22 5 ) R (4RFT I B O TR
F#0) FBF = I AE EA A K90
AREEERERESHER &
SEORERBERRE  10H
L o



26. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 26. HMWEBEEE @

(a) Cash flow hedges: (Continued) (a) BEREBEM™ © (5
31 December 2024 —E-lNFEF+=HA=+—H
Notional amount Maturity Swap
EREH EH A =1
Other financial assets
Hb Bt 15 & B
HK$800,000,000 July 2026 From floating rates to fixed interest rates
800,000,000/ 7T ZEZRFLERA ¥ B A X = [ F A X
31 December 2023 —E-=F+-HA=+—-H
Notional amount Maturity Swap
EREH 8 A =8
Other financial assets
HAth B 75 & B
HK$1,000,000,000 January 2024 From floating rates to fixed interest rates
1,000,000,0007% 7T —ZEMFE—HA H¥ B A R = B TE | &
During the vyear, fair value loss of HK$2,303,000 (2023 fair RAREE - A EEE2,303,000%8
value loss of HK$28,861,000) has been recognised in other T(ZE_=ZF 2L EEBE -
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity. 28,861,000/ 7T ) B, 1A E fib & EH I g
HATER - WRERZRET - I
i
I
27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. B
2024 2023
—E-EF —T-=F
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
IR & Kok | fig 21 B
‘000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$'000
TR FERT T A% THET
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary shares of BREEI AT
HKS0.1 each LR 10,000,000 1,000,000 10,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETREH
Ordinary shares of BREEI BT
HK$0.1 each Rl I
Balance at beginning and FUREFRERR «
end of the year 3,346,908 334,691 3,346,908 334,691 %é
il
E=
e
H




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W 5 AR B R
31 December 2024 —ZTZm4+=-F=+—H
28. RESERVES 28. @
Capital Investment  Cash flow
Share Contributed redempti reval hedging Revaluation Other  Exchange  Retained
premillm Surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
BARE REER ReRE
RHEE EHERH 1] R HWEE ERRE HERE EXRE  RERA #E
HKSOOD  HKSO0D  HKSO00 KGO0 HKSOD  HKSODD  HKSOD  HKSOOD  HKS0MD  HKSO0
T T T T T T T T T THET
(@) (b) (©
(@ (b) (©
Balance as at 1 January 2023 RZZ==%-f-H2
B8 T sis% (84D 30 46509 (096140 (1316173 34174 6484838
Fair value loss of financial assets at fair BREMRENGEEAR
value through other comprehensive ErE BB EENE
income EZRRERR = - - 2309 = = = = - (239
Fair value loss on hedging instruments in -~ B REHRHHAHTE
cash flow hedges ZAREEE - - - - (28,861) = = = = (28,861)
Currency translation adjustments EHAE — — — — — — — (265,772) — (265,772)
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - - - = (1015518 (1,015518)
Balance as at 31 December 2023 RZFZ=%
+ZA=+-HzEH 4275172 515336 769 (406,956) 2409 46509 (296,142) (1581945 2397226 4952378
Fair value gain of financial assets at fair ~ BBEMREREEZAL
value through other comprehensive fﬁﬁizﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁ
income 7 R fEkE - - - 55,515 - - - - - 55,515
Fair value loss on hedging instruments in &AL HRTA
cash flow hedges ZRAREEE - - - - (2,303) - - - - (2,303)
5 Currency translation adjustments ERRE - - - - - - - (210,755) - (210,755)
5 Loss for the year FEER - - - - - - - —  (3,520,690) (3,520,690)
=
e
e Balance as at 31 December 2024 RZZZ
2 +oRSt-BzER 452 5153% 769 (351441) 106 46500  (206,142) (1792700) (1,123464) 1,274,145
2
Z
(@)  Contributed surplus mainly represents the excess of the fair @ EBRBEITEEALARKE
value of shares in Minmetals Land Investments Limited Minmetals Land Investments
acquired by the Company over the nominal value of the Limited i 3 2 A 72 B A A &
new shares of the Company issued pursuant to the share BER O R & TR,
exchange agreement. IRDEE 2 ZFE -
Under the Companies Act of Bermuda, contributed surplus BREBREQDE  BHAKT]
is distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition HARTRE BETINERLT
that the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or NRN B EEE R 30K 25 A% B 3k
make a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) it is, or IRE AR () WARARRE IR
would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as 1B 9 Ik 18 H—r REZNEBHE
they become due, or (i) the realisable value of its assets B RARAEEZ]ERE
would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities, EXEMEREGE B8TK
2 issued share capital and share premium account. R KRR 5 (B Bk < 480 o
-
=
a (b)  Other reserve represents the differences between the () HivFEEREIFERRRER
% amount by which non-controlling interests are adjusted @%Eﬁi$§ 3] 1y B e %fﬁﬁﬁﬁ
v and the fair value of consideration paid or received when BARM My EREENKE K
= 4 . o .
= the Group acquired or disposed of partial interests in WREBHNARBECENZERE -
E existing subsidiaries.
=



28. RESERVES (CONTINUED) 28. &1 @
(0 As stipulated by regulations in Mainland China, the © HE Wiﬁﬁﬁm BE  ARRRIRA
Company’s subsidiaries established and operated in B b Bk 3 R =8 2 B A RIE
Mainland China are required to appropriate a portion of BRI RF (ERETEFEE
their after-tax profit (after offsetting prior year losses) to BRIBALZEREBE XA
the statutory reserves at the rate of 10%. The appropriation 10%c RZFE_MNE+—_A="+—
as at 31 December 2024, amounting to approximately B - BB A 51,221,790,0007%
HK$1,211,790,000 (2023: HKS$1,228,217,000), was included in JL (=& = =4 :1,228,217,000/8
retained earnings as at 31 December 2024. JT) E@EE"*? ME+= A
=+—HWORBRAZA -
29. BORROWINGS 29. fERK
2024 2023
—BRCOWF —E=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHER T
Non-current FEME
Bank borrowings, secured (a) RITER - BEMR@) 926,986 924,678
Bank borrowings, unsecured (a) RITER - FEER ) 380,665 1,794,175
Guaranteed bonds, unsecured (b) EREZ - BEH(b) 2,325,828 2,339,862
Bonds, unsecured (c) B - BT (0 — 2,203,356
Loan from the ultimate controlling PAN/NIIR S $2 S20 Hxﬂﬁiz ﬁ
shareholder of the Company, unsecured B mEA \Ell
(note 37(b)) (M4 5E37(0)) 1,254,218 — &
Loans from non-controlling shareholders of ~ —ZRB{ B A Al FE4ZAZ A '
a subsidiary, unsecured (note 37(b)) RZEM - EmEH
(Mt 3E37(0)) 500,890 831,474
5,388,587 8,093,545
Current R ED
Bank borrowings, secured (a) RITER - BER@) 870,140 1,824,752
Bank borrowings, unsecured (a) |ITER - EER ) 11,920,603 10,953,783
Guaranteed bonds, unsecured (b) EREZR  BEHD) 51,341 —
Bonds, unsecured (c) B EIEF () 3,300,346 45911
Loan from an intermediate holding —%Eﬁﬂ H“’“TZ
company, unsecured (note 37b)) 3K - IR
(WEIW ) — 2,346,710
Loans from non-controlling shareholders of — — SR} B A &) FE4E A% A%
a subsidiary, unsecured (note 37(b)) R2ER  EER
(Kt 5E37(0)) 152,152 51,970 .
44
=
16,294,582 15,223,126 T
el
=)
21,683,169 23,316,671 %
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 1 B 25 A M

31 December 2024 —Z—-E+—-A=+—H

29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 29. &R (@0
(a) Banking facilities (a) RITHE
The Group'’s aggregate banking facilities, including bank RZZE-_NE+=A=+—8H "
borrowings, as at 31 December 2024 amounted to REEZRITRVE 25 (BIERTT
approximately HK$18,217,395,000 (2023: HK$22,535,313,000), f& 5 # £18,217,395,0007%8 7T (=
of which approximately HK$4,088,625,000 (2023: T = =4 :22535313,000% 7T) °
HK$6,996,467,000) was unutilised. As at 31 December 2024, Hrp KRB A RLE 49 /34,088,625,000
the collateral for the banking facilities was as follows: BIL (ZZ =% 1 6,996,467,0007

L) RZF-WMEFT—A=1—
B AREERELSMERITHR

BEzHEBmAT -
()  Inventories held by subsidiaries with carrying () BRI {E 494,264,846,00078 JC
amounts of approximately HK$4,264,846,000 (2023: (ZZF = =% :13,514,995,000
HK$13,514,995,000); BLTIZHBRARFEZTF
157 9
(i)  Property, plant and equipment with carrying (i) BRI {E #49311,989,0007% 7T
amounts of approximately HK$311,989,000 (2023: ZE =14 : 272,022,000/
HK$272,022,000); TL) 2 BB KRR
(i) Investment properties with the fair value of (i) AN AMEAE317,491,0007 T
HK$317,491,000 (2023: HKS$273,668,000); and ZE T =14 1 273,668,000
= TL) ZIEME R
=
e (iv)  Corporate guarantees given by the Company. (iv) ANABFEZRRIER -
<
o}
=z
z
o
w
=
=
—
o
Z
!
4
=
G
=
=
=




29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
(b) Guaranteed bonds

0]

On 22 July 2021, the Group issued the guaranteed
bonds (“2021 Guaranteed Bonds") with a principal
amount of US$300,000,000 bearing interest at the
coupon rate of 4.95% per annum. The 2021
Guaranteed Bonds will mature on 22 July 2026. The
2021 Guaranteed Bonds are guaranteed by the
Company and have the benefit of a keep well deed
from China Minmetals, the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company. Upon the occurrence
of a change of control triggering event, the
bondholders will have the right, at the bondholders’
option, to require the Group to redeem all, but not
some only, of the outstanding 2021 Guaranteed
Bonds at 101% of their principal amounts, together
with accrued interest. If the Group would be obliged
to pay additional tax amounts in respect of the
2021 Guaranteed Bonds as a result of any change in,
or amendment to, specified tax laws or regulations,
all outstanding 2021 Guaranteed Bonds may be
redeemed at the Group's option, in whole but not in
part, at their principal amounts together with
interest accrued up to but excluding the
redemption date.

The effective interest rate of the 2021 Guaranteed
Bonds was 5.10% as at 31 December 2024 and
2023.

29. & FX (@)

(b) EREZ

(i)

RZE-_—FLA=-+=
B AEBEZETERES
([Z2=—FBREFH]) -
K & & %8 £300,000,0003%
JC  EHEF FE 54.95% -
T —FEREHFBRZ
E-_RNEFtA=-+=RH3
B — T —FERESHTD
AARRER @ WZERA
INGIES S i ey IEELTJE
R R 4T HE - RAR
%i%ﬂﬁ“kﬁ%Z%#
% EBEHFEABRERELE
BERRAAEBED2T
(MIEHD) REEN_F=
—FRRESF Z101% A B &
EEETFIE o 8 E % E B 5
ERSOEREFNEET - &
BAEEER T —F5E
REFZFREIHINGIA %%
(EEMmMIEBD) KEED
?_*E%ﬁﬁﬁTgmﬁ
BzEEWED  EONSEE
AACERBEZETEEE
B HHZZFFE -

REZZEZNEFRZF_=F
+-A=+—08 —T——
FREREFNEEINEXA
5.10% °

227 —/
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(c)

29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Bonds

0]

On 8 June 2022, the Group made an application to
Market
Institutional Investors, for the issuance of domestic
directional debt financing instruments that were
applied for non-public issuance to specific investors.
On 16 August 2022, the application had been
approved. On 21 September 2022, the Group issued
this unguaranteed bonds (2022 Bonds”) with a
principal amount of RMB800,000,000 bearing interest
at the coupon rate of 4.6% per annum. The 2022
Bonds will mature on 19 September 2025.

the National Association of Financial

The effective interest rate of the 2022 Bonds was
4.71% as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

On 24 February 2023,
application to the Shanghai Stock Exchange for the
issuance of non-publicly traded corporate bonds for
domestic professional investors. On 4 April 2023, the
application was approved. On 15 June 2023, the
Group issued unguaranteed bonds with a principal
amount of RMB1,200,000,000 (the “2023 Bonds”) at a
coupon rate of 4.6% per annum with a maturity
date on 15 June 2027. The 2023 Bonds included an
option for the issuer to adjust the coupon rate and
an option for the investors to sell the bonds back to
the issuer at the end of the second year. The 2023

the Group made an

Bonds have been reclassified to current liabilities as
at 31 December 2024.

The effective interest rate of the 2023 Bonds was
4.66% as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

29, &K @)

(c)

(=t
()

RZZE_—_FANB 'K
SERFEEBITRATSR S
A EREER  BITERN
EREEMETR  BEM
BEREEERFAET - R
:;::iAH+AE &
HECE A - =
FNA=-+—8 AKNEHEZH
17 N & £800,000,0007T A R
EHEERES (2T ==
iﬁ#ﬂ fﬁiﬂfﬁ
46%° — T - —FEHFBR

—E-AFAA+AAE
/Hﬂ °

=__

RIE_NER—_FT_=F
+=—A=+—H8 —T=-_—
FEFNERFEE471% °

RZEZ=F-_F=+N©
B AEERLEEESFRS
FriR RS - ARANEER
BEETIFERAAEENRT]

B - RZE_=FMAHM
B ZBE0EME - R
T_=F,A+HB  Xx&E
B 3 17 AN & 41,200,000,000
TAREHEERES (=
T =—FEFK]) ZEFF
KE46% BB R=-ZT=
tiﬁﬁ+£ao:;:z
iﬁ%ﬂ E%”%HA
%E%*E*%Fﬁﬁﬁﬁ
TAEEES - F_g_

FE+ZHA=+—8"
—FEAECENOEAERE
BfE-

= _

RZBE_WNER_ETE-_=4F
+=—A=+-—8 —FT=_=
FEFNERFIEE466% °



29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Bonds (Continued)

(c)

(ii)

On 18 March 2024, the Group issued unguaranteed
bonds with a principal amount of RMB600,000,000
("2024 Original Bonds") bearing interest at a coupon
rate of 4.6% per annum. The 2024 Original Bonds
will mature on 19 March 2025.

The effective interest rate of the 2024 Original Bonds
was 4.92% as at 31 December 2024.

On 25 April 2024, the Group issued unguaranteed
bonds with a principal amount of RMB400,000,000
("2024 Additional Bonds”) bearing interest at a
coupon rate of 4.6% per annum. The 2024
Additional Bonds will mature on 19 March 2025.

The effective interest rate of the 2024 Additional
Bonds was 4.98% as at 31 December 2024.

29. & @)

(c)

&% (80

(ii)

R-_ZE-WmE=ZA+\H -
ARE[EEE1TRE A600,000,000
TARBHERERES (=
T_NFRERES]) - EA
FERNEF46% o —F—UE
REBSBR=_Z_RF=
A+hABEH-

RZB-_WNF+—_A=+—
B —S_NFREEHH
BEBRFE5492% °

RZZE-_MWEFNA=-—+H
H AEEEHTAE A
400,000,0007T A R ¥ B £ 2
RES ([T - EEIME
%) BEFHEARL6% °
T NFBEIMEF R =
E_RFE=ZA+ABEH-

RZE-_WNFE+_A=+—
H > —Z _NFEEIMEED
BT E 5498% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fo B A A B
31 December 2024 —ZZME+-F=+—H
29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 29. fER @
(d) The maturity of the Group’s borrowings is as follows: (d) XEBERZEHBRWOT :
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
THET FHET
Bank and other borrowings HRIT R H M E K
Within one year —FR 12,942,895 15,177,215
In more than one year but no more —FEMEF
than two years 1,989,878 1,195,873
In more than two years but no more MEZERF
than five years 742,972 2,354,454
In more than five years AEE 329,909 —
16,005,654 18,727,542
Guaranteed bonds and bonds EREFRES
Within one year —FR 3,351,687 45911
In more than one year but no more —FEMF
than two years 2,325,828 881,343
- In more than two years but no more MEERF
g than five years — 3,661,875
S
> 5,677,515 4,589,129
z
=z
<
o
w
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=
-
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29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 29. & (&0
(e) Bank and other borrowings totalling HK$12,734,267,000 (e) 127342670008 L (ZE=_=F
(2023: HK$17,890,009,000) are interest-bearing on a floating 17,890,009,0007%8 7T ) Z $R17 Fe H A,
interest rate basis. The weighted average effective interest BFIRZ BT L5 B o AR B
rates at the end of the reporting period were as follows: BB ZNEFHEREFELT
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$ RMB Us$ HKS RMB Uss
BT AR EY o AR e
Non-current k)]
Bank borrowings RITER N/A N/A N/A N/A
TER 3.61% TEA TEA 4.06% @A
Loan from the ultimate AR ABREERBRE
controlling shareholder of ZER N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
the Company TEHR 3.24% TEH TER TER i
Loans from non-controlling —RWB AR EER N/A N/A N/A N/A
shareholders of a subsidiary RRZER TER 6.18% TER TER 6.18% i
Current mE
Bank borrowings BITIER N/A N/A
6.2% 4.11% AERA 7.05% 430% NiEA
Loan from an intermediate —FEEERARZ N/A N/A N/A N/A
holding company =5 TEA TEAR 7.49% TEA TERA 7.49% &
Loans from non-controlling —RMBARFEER N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A g
shareholders of a subsidiary BREZER TEA 6.18% TER TER TERA TEA I
i
(f)  The fair values of borrowings approximate to their carrying (f) ERZAREEEREMERS -
amounts. The fair values are determined based on AABENEERBSREET -
discounted cash flows.
(g) The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are (9) AEEBRZEEBENATIE
denominated in the following currencies: BB BR
2024 2023
—ECOEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FAT
HKS BT 8,785,371 11,271,120
RMB AR 10,520,630 7,358,979
uss ETT 2,377,168 4,686,572
21,683,169 23,316,671 "(E
m
T
el
=y
i
H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A W 5 AR B R

31 December 2024 —ZZME+-F=+—H

29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 29. &R @0

(h) Certain secured bank loans were advanced to the subsidiary (h) XRARZFRRIHEBMAERES
of the Company, Hunan Kuangxiang Real Estate Co, Ltd, RAFIE TEEBERRITER
amounting to HK$701,935,000 with maturity dates from $©FA/5701,935000787C © ZIEAH A
21 September 2027 to 31 October 2027 are subject to ZEtFNAZ+—RHEZZT
certain covenants that require its debt-to-asset ratio not to Zt+tF+RA=+—H " #EESF
exceed 75%, its current ratio not fall below 1.0, and its s THRFE: HAEEELX
long-term investment amount not exceed 30% of its net MR 75% « HREEETEE
assets. The Group considers there are no indications that it R0 UERERBKESENSE
will have difficulties in complying with these covenants. BREEEFEN30% - NEER

RITEPRERNEEETZER
hEE R R -
A secured bank loan was advanced to the subsidiary of the RRATFZFRAESHE BEM)
Company, Kuangjin Property Development (Suzhou) Co,, ERAR—FEFEERRITER -
Ltd., amounting to HK$225,051,000 with a maturity date of ©FA/5225,051,0005%87C © BIHAR A
6 April 2027 is subject to certain covenants that require its ZE_LFMANE - EEEST
debt-to-asset ratio not to exceed 70% and its current ratio TlE TH#E: HAEEELLE
not fall below 1.0. The Group considers there are no TEER70% « AR ERE L R
indications that it will have difficulties in complying with BIERI0 REBRBIEIT R
these covenants. BRETETZELRAITAER
R 2 o
An unsecured bank loan was advanced to the subsidiary of ARl Z FRBHEEREHE
5 the Company, Hunan Kuangdai Property Development Co.,, MEARAR —E/EFRTE
S Ltd., amounting to HK$380,665,000 with a maturity date of 3K £%85380,66500078 7T © EIH
% 8 January 2044 is subject to certain covenants that require HAR-ZMME—AN\R - EA
> its debt-to-asset ratio not to exceed 75%, its current ratio BFTETRE: HEEEE
= not to fall bellow 1.0, and its long-term investment LSRR T75% « HmE b &N
< amount not exceed 30% of its net assets. The Group BERI10 ARERBIEESE
considers there are no indications that it will have TMSHEBBEEEFER0% o RE
difficulties in complying with these covenants. ERAEWENRBRLMEETZ
ERHETHEFRE -

(i)  The Group was in the progress of obtaining waivers from (i) AEEEHKEETE TRE D
banks for non-compliance with the financial covenants of ER B MM RITERGRH
certain facility agreements with bank borrowings R ZTERBELSRRITER
amounting to HK$9,878 million, which also caused cross 9878188 T » WEHI76218F T
defaults to other bank borrowings amounting to HK$1,762 B EMBRITERN T ZMF
million as at 31 December 2024. Non-compliance with the ZA=T—HHEBEXXEL A
financial covenants and causing cross defaults give the RAREEE T BB W ERZX
banks the unconditional right to demand repayment at B RITERERERERGEK
any time. In accordance with HKAS 1, the non-current B RERABSTERE 1%

@ portion of the aforementioned borrowings, which have not FAERFES 74EE TR IER
S been given waivers before 31 December 2024, amounting RN -_NF+=_A=+
a to HK$8,174 million have been reclassified to current —BAITMARERE  ZERED
% liabilities as at 31 December 2024. As at the reporting RZE-_NE+=-_HA=+—H=&
v date, the Company has not received any loan repayment FoBARBMEE NBEAH
E notice from banks to repay the aforementioned B ARRE W EERERITERE
= borrowings. B EMERNERRLD -

=



30. DEFERRED TAX

30. IRERE

2024 2023

—E-ME —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FER FHET

Deferred tax assets RETIEE E 335,733 458,949
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIRBE (156,383) (204,910)

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the
year are as follows:

FREERAEENBENEHWT :

Deferred tax assets EEMBEE
2024 2023
g1 ;5 —ET-=fF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TR FHT
Tax losses MIEEE
At beginning of the year F4 28,156 24,637
Exchange differences e N ZE5 (337) —
Recognised in the profit or loss RiER R (4,775) 3,519
At end of the year Far 23,044 28,156
Temporary difference on accruals and contract JEEFEBRMAHBEEZ
liabilities W B = ¥R
At beginning of the year F9 372,634 633,114
Exchange differences PE W =% (6,376) (7,304)
Recognised in the profit or loss MBS TR (110,484) (253,176)
At end of the year Fiax 255,774 372,634
Others Hth
At beginning of the year F9 58,159 97,056
Exchange differences I+ ZE5E (1,244) (1,126)
Recognised in the profit or loss N B — (37,771)
At end of the year FIR 56,915 58,159
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B T R B R
31 December 2024 —Z=—&E+=-A=+—H
30. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 30. &L IR (@)
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEEE
2024 2023
—BEoNEF —E=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER T
Fair value gain AR &
At beginning of the year F4 111,670 119,390
Exchange differences E 5 EF (1,889) (1,591)
Recognised in the profit or loss MBS TR (28,018) (6,129)
At end of the year FIR 81,763 111,670
Accelerated tax depreciation IR IBITE
At beginning of the year F4 33,563 32,119
Recognised in the profit or loss RIB R 2,926 1,444
At end of the year FIR 36,489 33,563
Undistributed retained earnings RO IRIREB BT
g At beginning of the year F4 17,238 94,664
e Payment during the year FRZA (6,706) (146,954)
% Recognised in the profit or loss M8 R (1,786) 69,528
<
2
z At end of the year Far 8,746 17,238
Others Hfb
At beginning of the year F19 42,439 70,322
Exchange differences ME H ZERE (730) (819)
Recognised in the profit or loss Rz ER (12,324) (27,064)
At end of the year FIR 29,385 42,439
In respect of HK$492,753,000 (2023: HK$787,033,000) temporary AODEKRBBEMNOBERERAR
difference associated with undistributed retained earnings, the 492,753,000 L (Z & = =
Group has not recognised deferred tax liabilities of 787,033,000/7T) - ARNESHRIEE
HK$24,638,000 (2023: HK$39,352,000), as the Directors currently AT R ARG RE B F 5k H + B A
a intend not to distribute the retained earnings outside Mainland BON - BN S B 4 Ut R AR R RE A IR
E China in the foreseeable future. B 124,638,000 L (ZE =% :
= 39,352,000/ L) ©
Z
<
-
]
=
o
=
=
=




30.

31.

DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward
to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefits through
future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group had unrecognised tax losses in Hong Kong of
approximately HK$3,386,157,000 (2023: HK$2,208,948,000) which
can be carried forward against future taxable income and have
no expiry date, and unrecognised tax losses in Mainland China of
approximately HK$1,864,399,000 (2023: HK$1,232,145,000) which
will expire at various dates up to and including 2029.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of HK$3,071,198,000 (2023: HKS$1,773,407,000)
that have not been recognised as deferred tax assets as it is not
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

30. IEFE BT ()

MEEB RS EEERZEEHBEET)
LAE BT F 2 1R B 1) fE 35 1B 7R 2K FE =R
MaRFER 7 ERAR R UF
T-A=1+—8 AEEREEA LS
LASE $H R 2R FE SR R UM A 2 R MR TR 75 IS
1B 49 53,386,157,0008 L (ZE =4 :
2,208,948,000/8 L) * W EER|EIR «
BN ES 2 RIERB B EIELO A
1,864,399,000 T (=& = = F
1,232,145000%87T) ' REZE=ZT_NF
(BEZF) L2 TR BRI -

RBEER  AEBEHAERBELER
TE & 72 /Y 0] H0 R BR R 22 %8 5 3,071,198,000
BT (DB =4 :1,773,407,00057T) -
A & K R]REH FE R B m A1) al 8) BB AT +0
R E = BN o

BZRHEMENRIE

2024 2023
—ENEF —E=%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET AT
Trade, bills and contract payables (b) B5  FEBRRAEXHENKIE®D) 1,854,384 2,012,465
Retention payables FEIRE £ 5,740 27,941
Accrued construction costs, other accruals FEETERER - EMETER
and other payables &ﬁmﬁﬁﬁm 4,424,053 5,451,350
Rental deposits received B EEe 12,291 14,149
Amounts due to a fellow subsidiary FERT — R A KB A R FIE
(note 37(b)) (M EE37(b)) 132,641 153,399
Amounts due to non-controlling FE AT BT /8 2 R JEFE AR AR SR FR IR
shareholders of subsidiaries (note 37(b))  (FI#E37(b)) 175,492 398,764
Amounts due to associates (note 37(b))  FEfTEEE A A FIE (FiFE37(b)) 903,952 979,949
Amount due to a joint venture JEIS —RE &R AIFKIA
(note 37(b)) (B EE37(b)) 18,375 56,406
Deferred revenue (c) EIEWA () 226,516 249,543
7,753,444 9,343,966
Less: Deferred revenue, amortise after B IERBAEBEERETZ
1 year shown under non-current VR E I RTEHA
liabilities (206,936) (229,080)
Amounts due for settlement within 1 year BN BEE N 2 1FRER 2
shown under current liabilities iy 7,546,508 9,114,886
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ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 1 B 25 A M

31 December 2024 —Z—-E+—-A=+—H

31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continvep) 31. B 2 & H b B TR 1E ()

(@) The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are (a) BZREAMENRIEZREMETD
denominated in the following currencies: INTHEESIER -
2024 2023
—E-MF “E=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER T
HKS 77T 518,901 756,792
RMB AR 7,234,543 8,535,690
uss$ ET — 51,484
7,753,444 9,343,966
(b) The aging analysis of trade, bills and contract payables of (b) *&£BEZZ EBERAENENK
the Group based on invoice date is as follows: HEREZHHZBRESTHT
2024 2023
—B-NmEF —E=F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FHT
Within 90 days 908 A 887,832 1,161,379
91 to 180 days 91HE180H 87,377 210,182
181 days to 1 year 181HEIF 349,378 202,729
1 year to 2 years TFZE26F 169,758 261,710
Over 2 years 29F LA E 360,039 176,465
1,854,384 2,012,465
(c) Deferred revenue () EZEWA

RZEBEZWNFE+=ZA=+—H -
SABRERARN GRS EEE
R Ak AN B9 & B224,180,00078 TT
T =4 : 246,701,000/ 7T ) °
EEMEERKEAR  ERE
THRRESEEEER T H i
N

As at 31 December 2024, included in deferred revenue was
a government subsidy of HK$224,180,000 (2023:
HK$246,701,000) towards the cost of construction of its
assets. It transferred to other income on a systematic basis
over certain period when the related assets commence to
use.




32.

33.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

32. BB E

2024 2023

—E-ME —E=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHBT

Sales of properties HEW % 1,647,646 5,706,314

As at 1 January 2023, contract liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$11,415,551,000.

The Group receives the considerations in advance from sales of
properties to customers. The advance receipts result in contract
liabilities being recognised until the customer obtains control of
the completed property.

During the year, HKS$5,504,374,000 (2023: HK$8,862,389,000) of
revenue recognised relates to brought-forward contract liabilities.

PENSION OBLIGATIONS

The Group participates in a defined contribution pension scheme
and a Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF") scheme for the eligible
employees in Hong Kong. Before 1 December 2000, a defined
contribution pension scheme was provided to certain eligible
employees employed by the Group. The Group ceased the
contributions since 1 December 2000, upon introduction of the
MPF scheme.

Under the MPF scheme, the Company and each of the Hong
Kong subsidiaries of the Company make monthly contributions
to the MPF at 5% of the employees’ cash income as defined
under the MPF legislation. Contributions by both the Company/
Hong Kong subsidiaries and their employees are subject to a
maximum of HK$1,500 per month per employee and thereafter
contributions are voluntary. The Group’s contributions to the
pension scheme and MPF scheme are expensed as incurred.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China, the
Group contributes to a state-sponsored retirement plan for its
employees in Mainland China as determined by the local
government. The Group is required to contribute to the plan at a
certain percentage of its employees’ salaries as specified by the
local government, and the Group has no further obligations for
the actual payment of the pensions or post-retirement benefits
beyond the annual contributions made.

R-ZE-_=F—H—H &¥aEzse
8 A#4)11,415,551,00078 JC °

AEBERATEFHEMEARRE - B
WHRIBREHERANEE BEETPN
BEEKDERES

F R BRI A A 5,504,374,00078 T
ZE =4 1 8,862,389,000i8 7T ) I K A&
EERHNANEE-

33. EkE&EE
AEEALEEAEIRES 2 ETHEM
HERSHBRGHEAES (B
¢D8l-—TTEE+=-f A2
A AEEARREYETARKES
Rt AR A SRR S B - 738
BESIBE  AEEA-—TTTE+
A BREELARER-

BIERESE - ARREREARFEE
BB ARIEE AREERERESE
fﬁuiﬁzfﬁéuﬁzAZS%{’Euﬂ?ﬁ%%fﬁ

o KRR,/ BENBRARIREEEZ
tﬂﬁii KR BBAEE 11,5008 T
Bl SE o BIMERBEREMEY - $
SEZRRESFHEI RARBSEIHIR
EAERHY -

RIBFEAMOERRE  AEEAE
TEAMESREMBRAFRERBRRE
BRIRFT BIMEH R - REEAZM )T
B2 REE—ELLHIE T TERZ
AEIER  AREHERBNNERS
SRR T AER L FREHTE
—FERG
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MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 1 B 25 A M

31 December 2024 —Z—-E+—-A=+—H

(a)

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

34.

GERERERWE

Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before tax to cash generated () BFA(EBER), SEFELEEER
from operations: FIEAR 28K :
2024 2023
—E-ME S
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FHETT
(Loss)/profit before tax BrFiAT (B518),am F (3,706,574) 123,563
Finance income RGN (217,336) (184,386)
Finance costs B TS B AR 534,689 477416
Depreciation e 18,386 30,370
Fair value changes on investment WEMEQRBEEE
properties 187,044 2,284
Impairment losses recognised under TBHEEEEERET
expected credit loss model R 2R EEE 366,246 173,661
Allowance for impairment of inventories 17 & 5, {8 % 1,741,066 503,034
Share of results of associates DREEE N R A 823,337 209,869
Share of results of joint ventures DG ERRFEE (59,678) (33,889)
Operating (loss)/profit before working EEEREHH K
capital changes (EB8),&H (312,820) 1,301,922
Decrease in inventories FERD 7,294,735 6,463,832
Decrease in prepayments, trade and other FEfI7XIE « B 5 R HAb
receivables FEWGRIR R 98,410 37,892
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets BHEBERD (M) 21,613 (46,722)
Decrease in contract costs & R AS R 151,846 12,641
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 Rk H A B IR
A (950,884) (644,806)
Decrease in contract liabilities and BB ERELERA
deferred revenue e (3,991,576) (5,564,556)
Decrease in cash and bank deposits, ZRHIIRE RIRITER
restricted o 58,853 620,674
Exchange adjustments PE W R 13,185 (34,166)
Cash generated from operations KEEBELRS 2,383,362 2,146,711




34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 3. MEBEMERMTE @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (cONTINUED)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) MEITHFELEABZHE
financing activities
Non-cash changes
FREED
1 January Financing Exchange Other Interest 31 December
2024 cash flows (i) adjustments  changes (ii) expense 2024
“Z-mE BERS —BomE
-A-8 RE) ERAE He256) AEMX +=A=+-8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FHx TH#R FHx TH#R FHx T#x
Guaranteed bonds ERES 2,339,862 — (15,849) 1,815 51,341 2,377,169
Bonds =t 2,249,267 1,098,449 (69,689) 3,958 18,361 3,300,346
Bank and other loans RAREMER 18,727,542  (2,618,027)  (100,766) 14,026 (17,121) 16,005,654
Amounts due to a fellow Bt —RFZHEB
subsidiary NGIFS2] 153,399 (17,477) (3,281) - - 132,641
Amounts due to associates  FEFTEEE A RIFUE 979,949 (55,039) (20,958) — — 903,952
Amounts due to non- AL INGE 3
controlling shareholders RAR R IR
of subsidiaries 398,764 (222,152) (8,528) 7,408 - 175,492
Amount due to a joint ER—RE&ERF
venture HE 56,406 (36,825) (1,206) - - 18,375 b
Lease liabllities RERE 6,427 (3,859) (138) - 219 2,649 g
24,911,616  (1,854,930)  (220,415) 27,207 52,800 22,916,278 I
IS
<
=
g
]
=y
-
H




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 B B R R PR
31 December 2024 —ZE—M&E+=-A=+—H
34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 3. MEBERERMET @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (cONTINUED)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) MEETBRELEEBZYHER
financing activities (Continued) (#&)
Non-cash changes
FRLEH
1 January Financing Exchange Other Interest 31 December
2023 cash flows () adjustments  changes (ii) expense 2023
—T-=F BRERS —E-=F
—F—H RE ERAZ  EtEEi) FEHY +ZA=+—-H
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
THT TET THT TET THT THT
Guaranteed bonds ERES 3,306,199 (981,000) 14,663 = = 2,339,862
Bonds =t 893,197 1,333,080 (22,921) = 45911 2,249,267
Bank and other loans RITRAMER 20,109,371 (1341,102) (63,705) 2978 — 18,727,542
Amounts due to fellow EARZHEAR
subsidiaries FAE 2,613,562 (2,423,040) (37,123) — — 153,399
Amounts due to associates  ENEEE A RIFUR 2,021,119 (1012462) (28,708) = — 979,949
Amounts due to non- ARLEINGE 2
controlling shareholders FRAR R IR
of subsidiaries 585,540 (178,459) (8317) — — 398,764
Amount due to a joint ER—X&ERF
g venture WA 57,219 = (813) = — 56,406
= Lease liabilities HEAR 28914 (19967) 62 3651) 1213 6427
(@]
=z 29,615,121 (4,622,950) (147,006) 19,327 47,124 24911616
(i)  The cash flows from bank loans and other borrowings (i) KEFRTERNREMERZ
make up the net amount of proceeds from REMEBREEGHRSRE
borrowings and repayments to borrowings in the KPR ERMERBEREESE
consolidated statement of cash flows. FRZFHE o
(i) Other changes include amortisation of front-end fee () HibEFHBEGTS|RITER
of interest-bearing bank borrowings. Alm B R 2 B o
Q
w
E
=
- |
Q
Z
<
—
4
-
i
=
=
=




34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the

34. MEBRERERM = @)

() HERSRHLAE
RERSRBRANEERSR

consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: MARREAT ¢
2024 2023
—E-MF T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Within operating activities EEEA 20,930 20,639
Within financing activities BEEEN 3,859 19,967
24,789 40,606

35. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

As at 31 December 2024, guarantees given to banks for
mortgage facilities granted to certain purchasers of the Group's
properties amounted to HK$4,681,307,000 (2023: HK$7,051,266,000).
Such guarantees will terminate upon the earlier of (i) the
issuance of the property ownership certificate which will
generally be available within one year after the purchasers take
the possession of the relevant properties; or (i) the repayment of
mortgage loans by the purchasers. After taking into account the
net realisable value of the related properties and the low default
rate, the Directors consider that the fair values of the financial
guarantee contracts at initial recognition and subsequently at the
end of each reporting period are not significant.

35. B TR

R-ZB-mME+-—A=+—8 #FET
AEBWMEER ZIZBRE MG TRT
2 YE1R 1#4,681,307,0008 T (ZE = =
F 1 7,051,266,00078 70) ° Z ZERER
YR EBAERRIL  (VEZMERNE
BERREXEEREAWEELE —F
WIERRL) & k(i EREIRBR - EEE
ZEMENS R FERBENOLEX &
ERBMBERENREARBES R
HEHRHAREBELTERX ©
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A 25 it A B i

31 December 2024 —Z—-E+—-A=+—H

36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 36. EAEIE
The Group had capital commitments as follows: REEBFERAENT :
2024 2023
=111 - 3 —E-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHET
Contracted but not provided for: EHENEES T
Expenditure in respect of property, plant @M= - WEK
and equipment Bl 140,942 196,061
Expenditure in respect of investment BRREMELRX
properties 133,454 167,667
274,396 363,728

Capital commitments mainly include contractual obligations to
purchase, construct or develop property, plant and equipment
and investment property or for repairs, maintenance or
enhancements.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's certain
inventories transferred to property, plant and equipment and
investment properties when there was evidence of a change in
use. Therefore, the corresponding capital commitments
decreased accordingly.

EXAEETECREER BEXFREY
X BEMRELEE  RERUCER
BWMENBHET -

BT -_WNE+-_A=+—HILF
B EREBEXRBAEEMRER &
EEMNETEEEREYE  BEMRK
BARKEEEE - Bt - HEHNE
RAEFEINEME R °



37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under
China Minmetals, which is controlled by the PRC government.
Apart from the transactions with the parent company and its
subsidiaries which have been disclosed below or in other notes
to the consolidated financial statements, the Group also
conducts businesses with entities directly or indirectly owned or
controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by the
PRC government (‘government-related entities”) in the ordinary
course of business. In establishing its pricing strategies and
approval process for transactions with other government related
entities, the Group does not differentiate whether the
counter-party is a government-related entity or not. The Group is
of the opinion that it has provided, in the best of its knowledge,
adequate and appropriate disclosure of related party transactions
in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group has entered into various transactions, including sales,
purchases, borrowings and other operating expenses with other
government-related entities during the year in which the
Directors are of the opinion that it is impracticable to ascertain
the identity of the counterparties and accordingly whether the
counterparties are government-related entities.

37. BB A R F

AEBEAXRG T RTEAREGZARBT
BB AR S)) T — REK B AR A4
FREB Y © BRIATT MR & B 7% SR H A Bt
AEFTIFE M B N B R ELB B R R AT
MR ZI  AEBETRESXBBIET
H R ERREEEE T - K
FEH R EATZENE R ([RAFHERH
EEDETEBER - AREREEM
BT EEET R 5 E B8 LEL
BIEFWESRHT RS RBNRED
X -AKRERR  BEMAM D4R
BMBHRRANBET R B ELTRE
EHWE -

AEEENFRERMBFHEBERER]
VZER 5 (BEHEE  BE - (ERAE
MELER) MEEFRS HEHT
ME D EZERXSHEE RERMBTE
FAREETIITIER °

744 3R

o=
—_=F=

HEMERRAA



N 244

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W 5 AR B R
31 December 2024 —ZT_F+_A=+—AH
37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. BEE AR 5 @)
(CONTINUED)
In addition to the transactions and balances detailed in notes 8, BRBA RS SRR P EES « 9 21 R 31FTRFHLAY
9, 21 and 31 to the financial statements, the Group had the R RERIN - A& B EHEER SR A&
following material transactions and balances with related parties, EHER—MEBGHRETIEAR G R
which were carried out in the ordinary and normal course of EERIT
business of the Group:
(a) Transactions with related parties (a) BB A 2R 5
2024 2023
—E-mEF —T=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Construction costs to fellow subsidiaries 48 T R &K B A&l 2
for real estate development projects (i) FEHbE S RIE B B
BN (i) 1,107,977 2,002,688
Management fee income from a fellow — YHR— R B KM B A A)
subsidiary (i) ZEB B WA 2,481 2,666
Consultancy fee income from fellow WA R B AR Z
subsidiaries (ii) 7 o B WA (i) 2,225 23,056
Rental and management fee income from WERE ZHIE R A2
§ fellow subsidiaries (iii) e R ERE WA 42,277 38,089
& Interest expenses on lease liabilities with a  [A] — %X [@] Z KT B A A
& fellow subsidiary (iv) Yz HEEBERNE
S X Hi(iv) 214 376
% Interest expenses to a fellow subsidiary (v) [ —ZK A R K& A 7
XAt Z MBS H W) — 3,791
Interest expenses to an intermediate \— XK EBZERA A
holding company (v) X AT 2 A B3 H (v) 103,173 1,967
Interest expenses to the ultimate AR Bl E ARIE AR AR R
controlling shareholder of ST ZFEZH V)
the Company (v) 4,678 —
Interest expenses to non-controlling ElEYNEIE
shareholders of subsidiaries (v) T ZF BT W) 47,969 68,917
Interest income from a fellow W —ZK R 2K B A 7
subsidiary (viii) 2 T B (viii) 8,496 27,288
Interest income from joint ventures (x) WELE & QR ZFIE
WA ) 149,442 93,278
Interest income from a non-controlling WEBR—RMTE AR 2
@ shareholder of a subsidiary (vii) —RIFERBR 2
= F B (v 23,408 24,808
a
Z
!
4
B
=
=



37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)
(b) Balances with related parties

37. BB AR Z )
(b) EREFEET 2 &tk

2024 2023
—E-mEF —T=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&T FHT
Construction payable to fellow ERRZMERRZ
subsidiaries for real estate development — FEiiEZEFEIEH EZE
projects (i) FRIA () 2,298,235 2,602,368
Lease liabilities with a fellow H-—XERMEARZ
subsidiary (iv) HEA R 2,649 6,171
Amounts due to a fellow subsidiary (vi) B —REZHE QA
FRIA(vI) 132,641 153,399
Amounts due to non-controlling FE A B BB A B FE IR AR
shareholders of subsidiaries (vi) % B 2k 78 (vi) 175,492 398,764
Amounts due to associates (vi) JFE - BEG % 2N &) FRIE (vi) 903,952 979,949
Amount due to a joint venture (vi) BN —XREE QR
FRIE (vi) 18,375 56,406
Amounts due from non-controlling FE BT B A B FEE AR
shareholders of subsidiaries (vii) P& BR 3R IA (vi) 3,099,609 4,163,243
Amounts due from associates (ix) JRE Wi Bt X A ?{—klﬁ (i) 897,814 938,144
Amounts due from joint ventures (x) FEUR & &N Al FUE (X) 1,961,830 2,365,977
Current deposits placed in a fellow TEEQ—%KH%W%
subsidiary (viii) N a2 & B TF 5K (vii) 1,417,612 1,524,472
Loans from non-controlling shareholders ~ —ZR {8 A RIFEIZE J&
of a subsidiary (xi) A& R 2 B3 (x) 653,042 883,444
Loan from an intermediate holding —RERERARZ
company (xii) B FR (xii) — 2,346,710
Loan from the ultimate controlling R B EREEER AR R 2
shareholder of the Company (xiii) B 3R (xiii) 1,254,218 —

(ii)

(iif)

Construction costs to fellow subsidiaries for real
estate development projects were based on terms
mutually agreed by both parties.

Management fee income and consultancy fee
income and receivables from fellow subsidiaries of
the Company were based on the terms in the
agreements entered into between the parties
involved.

Rental and management fee income received from
fellow subsidiaries of the Company was based on
the terms in the agreements entered into between
the parties involved.

() HEHEFRBEGTRZE
WE Bl BEKATIRE
KR E 2 RKREE °

(i) RUEARFRRMEBARLZ
ERBRANEAERAT
RIEBRERI XIS PRI SLZ TR
ek Z (RREEE ©

(i)  MARE R R B A FULER
HEREEBRATRES
EHER I NE2N
EREE -
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)
(b) Balances with related parties (Continued)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

The Group has entered into a lease agreement for
the use of an office with a fellow subsidiary for three
years in 2022, based on terms mutually agreed by
both parties.

Interest expenses to fellow subsidiaries, an
intermediate holding company and non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries were based on terms in
the agreements entered into between both parties.

The amounts due to a fellow subsidiary,
non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

Except for the balances of HK$572,541,000
(31 December 2023: HK$655,347,000) bearing
interest at 3.85% per annum, the amounts due from
non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries are
interest-free as at 31 December 2024. The balances
are unsecured and repayable on demand.

The interest rate of the current deposits placed in a
fellow subsidiary which is a non-banking financial
institution ranges from 0.35% to 1.15% per annum.
The balance of current deposits was included in
cash and bank deposits.

The amounts due from associates and a fellow
subsidiary are interest-free. The balances are
unsecured and repayable on demand.

Except for the balances of HKS$1,412,611,000
(comprising a principal of HK$1,762,905,000 and an
impairment allowance of HK$350,294,000) bearing
interest at 8.8% per annum (31 December 2023:
HKS$1,649,842,000 (comprising a principal of
HKS$1,814,674,000 and an impairment allowance of
HK$164,832,000) bore interest at 8.8% per annum),
the amounts due from joint ventures are
interest-free at 31 December 2024. The balances are
unsecured and repayable on demand.

37. BBt A R B )

(b) EERAEER &8k (@)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

AEBE-RERHBEAF
REZZZZFHFET A=
EZRAEHEWNS - E
REH BT Z R -

ARZRKBAR - —REH
IR A A K Y B A R FEHE AR
PR ZA 2 F BT TR R
BRI DRI M 2 A %
ZIERETE -

BN —RFAXKBAR - K
BT ERBCR - B E R
AINBERRIZHRRTIER
W RERBRERESR -

RZEZWHF+=—A=1+—
B - B & £2572,541,00078 7T
R =F+=ZR=+—
H : 655,347,000/ 7T ) ¥ 4 Fl|
F3.85%F B AN - JE UK B B
RAEFEIERBRERIE AR
B o R AEKENARE

FER—XRARKBERF
GERTTLmERE) < EHF
HIREBRFEMNEISNE
1.15%5T B o & BT R4 58
AR ® RIBITER o

FE U B = N B & — R R Z it
BRABZFERRE B
REEMNAREREE -

RZEBE-_WFE+—_A=+—
B - &4 £21,412,611,00058
JC (B IE AR £ 1,762,905,00078
TT N R (B B #5.350,294,000 7
T0) FREF K8 8%t BN =
T =—F+-_FA=+—H:
1,649,842,0007 7T (B IEA &
1,814,674,0007% 7T N & (B
#5164,832,0007%8 JT ) 1% 4 7|
E88%aT B) ' EAEE R
BIRIEARE  HHAER
BRBREREE -



37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)
(b) Balances with related parties (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

At 31 December 2024, the loans from
non-controlling shareholders of a subsidiary were
unsecured, bearing interest at 6.2% per annum
(31 December 2023: 6.2%) and repayable within 1
year to 3 years.

At 31 December 2023, the loan from an intermediate
holding company was unsecured, bearing interest at
7.5% per annual and repayable within 1 year.

At 31 December 2024, the loan from the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company was
unsecured, bearing interest at 3.24% per annual and
repayable within 2 year.

Key management compensation

37. BEE AR 5 )

(b) EEREAEE S 248k (@)
(xi) E’\_:’_EE‘F A=+—
» — KM B A Al FEFE R AR
%Zf% KRB - FF K
B62%(ZE_=ZF+ =1
=t+—H8 :62%) RBERIF
E3IFNEE -

(xi) E’\\_?__i—i— A=+—

—RERERARZE

*”%ﬂ}fﬁﬁ ¢*UT7,%75%
MARIFAEE

iy RZE_WFE+-_A=+—

EI RABRSIERBR 2

HBERE FAHEXE
3.24%&,/\5’\2¢W1a@

() EEEBAEZHM

2024 2023

—E-IE ZE=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT T

Salaries and short-term employee benefits & & 52 HA{E B 12 4,684 6,411
Pension costs — defined contribution RIKEKA — TH8E

plans HEFRETE 296 285

4,980 6,696

The Guaranteed Bonds were guaranteed by the Company
and have the benefit of a keep well deed from China

Minmetals, the ultimate controlling shareholder of the
Company.

(d) EREFHAQBER LXE
RARBREZEBBERPE LR
TR LA 4 0 Wk

744 3R

o=
=

HEMERRAA
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 38. WERE ST MWEETA

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REBEER - BB TABARREESR
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T~

As at 31 December 2024

Financial assets

N-ZE—

maE = A=+

MBEE

Financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive

income
ZBEMZEKRR
BAREFERZ
BkEE
Financial assets at
fair value through Equity Financial assets at
profit or loss investments amortised cost Total
ERBREARE REBHERAIIE
SEZHMBEE BA®RE BikEE e
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FTER TER TER FTET
% Financial assets at fair value BREMPEKEE
& through other comprehensive RREFEZ
g income B s E E — 234,634 — 234,634
Z Other financial assets HuysEE 106 - — 106
- Trade receivables B 5 EWHKRIA — — 157,224 157,224
Amounts due from associates JE Wi 2 R B IR — — 897,814 897,814
Amounts due from joint ventures FEUA & 1A B FHIB — — 1,961,830 1,961,830
Amounts due from non- NGB 22
controlling shareholders of IR ER A
subsidiaries — — 3,099,609 3,099,609
Financial assets included in BIERBERTRIER
prepayments and other H At FE Y R IE A Y
receivables MBEE — — 308,140 308,140
Deposits e — — 112,502 112,502
Cash and bank deposits, R RRT
restricted TR — — 44,787 44,787
Cash and bank deposits, MR &R & RRIT
unrestricted 3 — — 2,821,859 2,821,859
106 234,634 9,403,765 9,638,505




38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 38. RERS2HWHMBLTE @
CATEGORY (CONTINUED)
As at 31 December 2024 RZTEZNE+=—HA=+—H
Financial liabilities MEaE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
28 A A B BR
ZHBaE
HK$’000
FHERT
Borrowings BN 21,683,169
Trade, bills and contract payables B EBEREANENRIEA 1,854,384
Amounts due to a fellow subsidiary R —RBERKE A RFHIE 132,641
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of FE AT B A B JE R R AR 3R R IE
subsidiaries 175,492
Amounts due to associates AL NI B 903,952
Amount due to a joint venture B —RE& & QB HIE 18,375
Financial liabilities included in other payables BIEREMENRIEAL
MEaE 4,238,621
b
H,
29,006,634 5
iy
I
I3
&
=
i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W 5 AR B R
31 December 2024 —Z=—&E+=-A=+—H
3 aN e
38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 38. RERE WK T A @
CATEGORY (CONTINUED)
As at 31 December 2023 R—_E_=F+-_A=+—H
Financial assets HMKEE
Financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive
income
BREMEERE
BAREEZ
_ WBAE
Financial assets at fair
value through profit Equity  Financial assets at
or loss investments amortised cost Total
FREREALE REHR AT R 2
STECHBEE RAIRE MBEE HE
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FHAT FHAT FHT
Financial assets at fair value BREMEARGE
through other comprehensive NAEFEZ
g income MBEE — 179119 — 179119
E Other financial assets Hi I EE 2,409 — — 2,409
g Trade receivables ELL 16N = = 188,061 188,061
; Amounts due from associates JE e Bt & A R R0 = — 938,144 938,144
% Amounts due from joint ventures  [EUXA & A Rl FIE = = 2,365,977 2,365,977
< Amounts due from non- JE W Bf B A B FEE AR
controlling shareholders of MR IE
subsidiaries — — 4,163,243 4,163,243
Financial assets included in BERBMAFEK
prepayments and other H At FEYGRIB AR
receivables MBEE = = 356,583 356,583
Deposits "e = - 129,074 120,074
Cash and bank deposits, ZREIRE R
restricted RITFER = = 103,640 103,640
Cash and bank deposits, TR HIHRE R
unrestricted RITFER = = 3,410,744 3,410,744
2,409 179,119 11,655,466 11,836,994
o)
w
=
=
- |
=)
2
<
—
]
<
[
w
=
=
=



38.

39.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY (CONTINUED)
As at 31 December 2023

38. WEH BB TEm

Financial liabilities MEaE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
2 SH K AR B BR
ZHBER
HK$'000
FHT
Borrowings BN 23,316,671
Trade, bills and contract payables Z5 EERANEMNTIE 2,012,465
Amounts due to a fellow subsidiary FE — KB KB A FIFRIA 153,399
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of FE AT B A B JE R R AR 3R R IE
subsidiaries 398,764
Amounts due to associates FE T B8 2 A R FRIR 979,949
Amount due to a joint venture B —REERRIHIA 56,406
Financial liabilities included in other payables B E At FE ST RIB A Y
MEaE 5,268,031
32,185,685

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised costs
approximate their fair values. The fair values are estimated using
generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash
flows.

The financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income represent equity securities listed in Hong Kong. As at
31 December 2024, equity securities amounting to
HK$234,634,000 (2023: HK$179,119,000) was measured at fair
value and based on quoted market prices of an active market
(Level 1) at the end of the reporting period.

9. W TAZARERARE

& &%

EERRILBHENATENYHEER
MHEBENERERELARERE -2
AEDERAREEBEURIZEHRRA S
miGET

FEBREMEERBZE AR BFEZHE
BETEBREREB LT ZRAFES

RZZZWMFE+A=+—H ' ’RAXZE
% 55234,634,0008 T (=T = = F :
179,119,000/ 70 ) TH AR A (EIR R & HAAR
RIER™MIS (F—H) 2 TIHRETE -
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39.

40.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Other financial assets represent interest rate swap contract
designated as highly effective hedging instrument in order to
manage the Group's interest rate exposure in relation to the
bank borrowings on a floating interest rate basis. As at
31 December 2024, fair value of other financial assets amounting
to HK$106,000 (2023: HK$2,409,000) was measured at the present
value of future cash flows estimated based on the applicable
yield curves derived from quoted interest rates at the end of the
reporting period and contracted interest rate discounted at a rate
that reflects the credit risk of various counterparties and
categorised in Level 2.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2023: Nil).

FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT

(@) Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow
interest-rate risk, fair value interest-rate risk and equity
securities price risk for financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income), credit risk and liquidity risk.
These risks are managed by the Group’s financial
management policies and practices as described below to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

(i) Market risk

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities.
Majority of the subsidiaries of the Group operate in
Mainland China, with most of their transactions
denominated in RMB, functional currency of the
respective group entities. The Group is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from the exposure of
RMB against USS. It has not hedged its foreign
exchange rate risk.

40.

9. URMTRAZARERANE
E n& (#8)

Htm S EEREEREEREAIA
MAEBHE4  HEMNEREEASEE
FEFEBITERZAERRAR - KT
—ME+=-—A=+—H HtMEEE
ZRAREEI0600BTL(ZE-=4F:
2,409,000/ 7T) + E TR E R E A s X
HAR (B MEH RO R REH) iz
AIRMZEZR S5 (= ER BRI KA

BOa M= (D %EF%% R JFHE R
KRG RGAREFE
AEE BEMBEELMBABRIA

B ERE-RRFE_F2EEE B
BESAIBHE=R(ZT_=F:
&) o

MHRREERER

B 7% 3 B B =

REE BT AT SBUH
[BLBg - T35 R B (B 45 SN EE R B -
BEREFERR - A AEME
bR A REREMEENREA
REFECHBEE ZRAES
BEER)  FEERBERDHES
(0N TR R T R S =B
BEREEHREBELFEAR - LUK
1EEEI;T$%@H7W%IEZ/ TEEAD
M2

(a)

(i) TEER
S| BEE R
kEEHeELIMNERR o
AEBEAZHHMERRES
BRI 2 5&E - REBD RSN
AR (HESEERNI
BEEBEH -AEEAR
ZIMNERBRIRE AR
XTT o ARE W EE I E SN
e ZE R o



40. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

In addition, the conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the exchange rate, and rules
and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government.

Cash flow interest-rate risk

The Group's cash flow interest-rate risk arises from
the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate
on restricted and unrestricted bank deposits and
borrowings issued at variable rates. Other than the
concentration of interest rate risk related to the
movements in Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
and the loan interest published by the People’s Bank
of China, the Group has no significant concentration
of interest rate risk.

The Group maintains a close relationship and
communicates regularly with its finance providers to
explore financing alternatives to monitor and
mitigate interest-rate risk. The Group has entered
into interest rate swaps to hedge against its
exposures to changes in cash flows of its certain
interest payments of borrowings (see note 29).

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for
non-derivative instruments at the end of the
reporting period. No sensitivity analysis has been
presented for bank balances as the Directors
consider that the fluctuation in interest rates on
bank balances is minimal.

0. ¥HEBEEZEREE w0

(a)

B Rk EE E)

(i)

5 E g (&)

S BE LB (48)

AN - AR R B SNE R
X R BT AR 2 T R A K%
SNEE B B AR A ROR AR BT AR
MR -

e E A % 2 By
AEEZBESREFNERR
RE ﬁﬁﬁﬁTxﬁﬁfE TER
RIZZBHEGF R ZERLZ

E.?ﬁﬁﬁiaﬂfv)iiﬂ PrEE
BRITRAZEFRERTBEAR
RITAMNERNXEEHE

RS M R E R IN - A
EREERNEDAMEER o

AEEHEAEREREERET
YRR LR SR AR
@ﬁﬁ§’uﬁﬁ L ES T

BB o AREBEE T FE
ﬁ%uﬁ#ﬁ%*ﬁ*%ﬂ
ENRESREH 2ER
(R HIEE29) »

ATERMED T RENRE
HIRIEOTE TEMFIXE R
BT EFRRARNRTE
FREVR R B E AN - H Utk
I\ IRITEAR 2T BN
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40. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

Cash flow interest-rate risk (Continued)

If interest rates on HK dollar-denominated
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower
with all other variables held constant, (i) post-tax
profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 would
have been HKS$3,616,000 (2023: HKS$16,683,000)
lower/higher in respect of the finance cost charged
to the profit or loss; and (i) properties under
development would have been increased/decreased
by approximately HK$63,261,000 (2023:
HK$77,808,000) for finance cost capitalised into
properties under development.

If interest rates on RMB-denominated borrowings
had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, (i) post-tax profit for
the year ended 31 December 2024 would have
been HKS$17,112,000 (2023: HK$19,207,000) lower/
higher in respect of the finance cost charged to the
profit or loss; and (i) properties under development
would have been increased/decreased by
approximately HK$18,493,000 (2023: HK$12,462,000)
for finance cost capitalised into properties under
development.

If interest rates on US dollar-denominated
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower
with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit
for the year ended 31 December 2024 would have
been Nil (2023: HK$19,579,000) lower/higher in
respect of the finance cost charged to the profit or
loss.

0. ¥HEBEEZEREE w0

(a)

B L B R & ()

(i)

5B e ()
Eﬁiuw%ﬂtﬂﬁﬁwﬁ)
fisi A TLRHE 2 {8 502 FI| &
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40. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

Fair value interest-rate risk

The Group's fair value interest rate risk relates
primarily to the guaranteed bonds issued at fixed
rate.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of
the financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of
financial position approximate their respective fair
values at the end of each reporting period.

Equity securities price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk
because of investments held by the Group and
carried at fair value on the consolidated statement
of financial position. The Group's equity securities
price risk is concentrated on equity instruments
operating in property development industry sector
quoted in the Stock Exchange. The Group will
consider hedging the risk exposure should the need
arise.

If the market value of the equity securities held by
the Group increased or decreased by 10% and all
other variables were held constant, the Group's
equity would increase or decrease by approximately
HKS$23,463,000 (2023: HKS$17,912,000)
31 December 2024.

as at

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group's credit risk primarily arises from deposits
with banks, trade and other receivables, contract
assets and guarantees provided in respect of
mortgage facilities (note 35).

The credit risk on deposits with banks is limited
because the counterparties are banks with sound
credit ratings assigned by credit-rating agencies.
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MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 1 B 25 A M

31 December 2024 —Z—-E+—-A=+—H

40. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

In respect of trade and other receivables and
contract assets, individual credit evaluations are
performed for those debtors with significant
increase in credit risk or related parties. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s financial
position, past history of making payments and take
into account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customer operates. For the rest which
consist of a number of customers with common risk
characteristics, the Group uses aging to assess the
impairment. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers. Monitoring procedures
have been implemented to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual trade and other receivables and contract
assets at the end of the reporting period to ensure
adequate provision for impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts.

Trade receivables are collectively assessed based on
provision matrix as at 31 December 2024 and 2023
within lifetime ECL, except for those with significant
increase in credit risk which are further assessed
individually. As at 31 December 2024, the gross
carrying amount of trade receivables assessed
collectively was HK$129,084,000 based on provision
matrix.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group provided
HK$9,118,000 (2023: HK$14,966,000) and Nil (2023:
Nil) impairment allowance for trade receivables and
contract assets respectively, based on the provision
matrix. In addition, as at 31 December 2024, the
Group provided HKS$45,291,000 (2023:
HK$24,956,000) and HK$101,286,000 (2023: Nil)
impairment allowance for trade receivables and
contract assets, respectively, with significant increase
in credit risk which were assessed individually.

Except some certain related parties with significant
increase in credit risk which were assessed
individually, the credit risk on other receivables is
limited because most of the counterparties are
related parties with sound credit. For other debtors
or related parties, the impairment allowance was
immaterial for both years.

The Group has assisted in arranging bank financing
for certain purchasers of property units and
provided guarantees to secure obligations of such
purchasers for repayments. If a purchaser defaults on
the payment of its mortgage during the term of the
guarantee, the Group is able to retain the property
sales proceeds received from the purchasers and sell
the property to recover any amounts paid by the
Group to the bank. The management considers the
credit risk exposure to financial guarantees provided
to property purchasers is limited because the
facilities are secured by the properties and the
market prices of the properties are higher than the
guaranteed amounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W 5 AR B R
31 December 2024 —ZZ—MF+=-A=+—H
40. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND 40. Br %5 B B 3= B B ()
MANAGEMENT (cCONTINUED)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) BBEREEZ @
(i)  Credit risk and impairment assessment (i) 1EE/E R BEFS (E)
(Continued)
The Group has concentration of credit risk on loans RNEEGER T BT RE
to related parties and amounts due from related W AR 5 RIB R EEE SR
parties, but the exposure is considered limited as Bz - tER R AR -
most of the counterparties are at a good financial REREBD BTN - REH
position except some certain related parties. R 577 B IR R AT »
The Group has no significant concentration of credit REEWEBE F K& HAbfE
risk on trade and other receivables and contract WHRIEREHNEEREEAN
assets, with exposure spread over a number of EEETEE  BAEHER
customers. RN GNEEZE Y S
The Group has concentration of credit risk on liquid RAEBBRERNE TR
funds which are deposited with several banks, which (FZERBBRTRNA
are mainly state-owned banks and with high credit Wi kBB EETRSHR
ratings in Mainland China and Hong Kong. THRBESREEES
AR e o
Maximum exposure and year-end staging B = B B K AR AR R
g The tables below show the credit quality and the TERETREAZBE(EER
= maximum exposure to credit risk based on the FNEEERREREER
% Group's credit policy, which is mainly based on past - HXrZERBHER
2 due information unless other information is available (RIFBEMBANE L
% without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging ERANE AR BB E
classification as at 31 December. ERTZA=+T—88
FIRF R o
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts Ty B AMBEENRE
for financial assets. M -
o
w
=
=
—
a
Z
!
4
=
o
=
=
=




40. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

40. I EEBEEZRERE @)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) BI#EKEEZE @)
(ii)  Credit risk and impairment assessment (i) 15E/E LR BEFE (E)
(Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging = B R FRRR (B)
(Continued)
As at 31 December 2024 RZEZWNF+=—A=1+—
H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 B B
FEFR ZHENEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
£-% ] EZR (R (473 kel
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER
Trade receivables* B JEKFE — - — 211,633 211,633
Amounts due from associates JE MBS = R R FE
— Normal** = MEH™ 897,814 — — - 897,814
Amounts due from joint ventures  JEURA & A AIFIE
— Normal** — [EE* 255,699 - - - 255,699
— Doubtful** — REE* — 2,128,349 — — 2,128,349
Amounts due from non-controlling  F& R i B 22 A1 FE 12 A%
shareholders of subsidiaries R HE
— Normal** — EE= 3,099,609 — — — 3,099,609
Financial assets included in BEREMATEK
prepayments and other H o B I RIE A K
receivables MBEE
— Normal** — [Emt 308,140 - — - 308,140
— Doubtful** — REH — - 15,887 - 15,887
Deposits ik
— Normal** — [Emt 112,502 - — - 112,502
Contract assets* BHEE - - — 169,683 169,683
Cash and bank deposits, restricted R #IR & RBITER
— Not yet past due — KB H 44,787 - — - 44,787
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEN
— Not yet past due — K@ 2,821,859 - - — 2,821,859
7,540,410 2,128,349 15,887 381,316 10,065,962
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W 5 AR B R
31 December 2024 —ZT_F+_A=+—AH
== e
40. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND 40. BIBEREEZEREE @w
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) MERBREZX @)
(ii)  Credit risk and impairment assessment (i) 1EE/E R BEFS (E)
(Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging = B R F LR (E)
(Continued)
As at 31 December 2023 RIEBE-_=F+-A=+—
H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12181 A 78 58
EEFE 2HEHEEFE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E—5 FH E=8 K9z ekl
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAET THET FTAET THET TAET
Trade receivables* B J KB = = = 227,983 227983
Amounts due from associates e AN
— Normal** — [EE* 938,144 = = = 938,144
Amounts due from joint ventures  JEWRA A AIFIE
— Normal** — R 396,669 — — — 396,669
— Doubtful** — R = 2,144,59% = = 2,144,59%
- Amounts due from non-controlling  F& i B 722 A1 FE 2 A%
§ shareholders of subsidiaries RE A
= — Normal** — FE= 4,163,243 — — — 4,163,243
g Financial assets included in BEREMTEK
= prepayments and other H{th B KRB A K
;( receivables MBEE
Z — Normal* —E&E™ 364,069 — — — 364,069
— Doubtful** — RE* = = 15,887 = 15,887
Deposits Re
— Normal** — [Em# 129,074 = = = 129,074
Contract assets* BHNEE = — — 191,082 191,082
Cash and bank deposits, restricted R &3 & RBITER
— Not yet past due — KB H 103,640 = = = 103,640
Cash and cash equivalents ReRAEEED
— Not yet past due — R@H 3410,744 = = = 3410,744
9,505,583 2,144,596 15,887 419,065 12,085,131
o For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies @ HESEBKRERENE
the simplified approach for impairment. B AEEFEREEFE
HAE
a e The credit quality of the financial assets included in o fish 51 A FE A R I8 B EL At 8 Uk
e prepayments and other receivables is considered to be RERMIEEERBE AN
= ‘normal’ when they are not past due and there is no BENKRTUMBEES NG
a' information indicating that the financial assets had a HEREEREEMN - BEEE
<Z= significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. EEERIEF] BRI B
a Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is BEEFEEZRAIR
= considered to be “doubtful”. Bl -
i
=
=
=




40. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a)

Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii)  Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of
funding through an adequate amount of credit
facilities. Management aims to maintain flexibility in
funding by keeping credit lines available.
Management monitors the rolling forecasts of the
Group's liquidity reserve (comprising undrawn
borrowing facilities (note 29(a)) and cash and bank
balances (note 25) on the basis of expected cash
flow.

The table below analyses the Group's financial
liabilities at amortised cost into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period at the
end of the reporting period to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows
(including both principal and interest). To the extent
that interest rates are at variable rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at
the end of each reporting period.

In addition, the following table details the Group's
liquidity analysis for its derivative financial
instruments. The tables have been drawn up based
on the undiscounted contractual net cash (inflows)
and outflows on derivative instruments that settle on
a net basis. When the amount payable is not fixed,
the amount disclosed has been determined by
reference to the projected interest rates as
illustrated by the yield curves existing at the end of
the reporting period. The liquidity analysis for the
Group's derivative financial instruments is prepared
based on the contractual maturities as the
management consider that the contractual
maturities are essential for an understanding of the
timing of the cash flows of derivatives.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 1 B 25 A M

31 December 2024 —Z—FE+=-A=+—H

40. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND 40. HBEEBEZRERE @
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) BIFREMEREZE (&)
(iii)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (i) EE=/E R (E)
Between Between Total
Within 1and 2 2and 5 Over undiscounted Carrying
1 year years years 5years  cash flows amount
RER

- -EmE WEIF  IENL REREAE R
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER

As at 31 December 2024 R-ZB-mE

+ZB=1-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities 35748175 & &
Borrowings Ep 17,353,313 4,776,842 619,102 485113 23,234,370 21,683,169
Trade and other payables B RAENTE 6,093,005 - - — 6093005 6,093,005
Amounts due to a fellow ER—FRZNEAA
subsidiary HE 132,641 - - - 132,641 132,641
Amounts due to non-controlling  FEfS i B A AIFE IR
shareholders of subsidiaries REZE 175,492 - - - 175,492 175,492
Amounts due to associates JEfSH & AR A 903,952 - - - 903,952 903,952
Amount due to a joint venture B —RAERFERE 18,375 - - - 18375 18,375
Financial quarantee contracts ST ERAH 4,681,307 - - — 4,681,307 4,681,307
§ 29,358,085 4,776,842 619,102 485113 35,239,142 33,687,941
a
5
e Between Between Total
g Within Tand?2 2and 5 undiscounted Carrying
Z 1 year years years cash flows amount
< REER
—£R —EMF MERLF Henels REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAT TET FAT AT
As at 31 December 2023 RZB=Z=%
+=ZA=+—-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ 3EATA B & &
Borrowings 5 16,279,460 2,445,626 6334855 25059941 23,316,671
Trade and other payables BHREMERNRIE 7,280,496 — — 7,280,496 7,280,496
Amounts due to a fellow EN—RRAZHBLRE
subsidiary B 153,399 — — 153,399 153,399
Amounts due to non-controlling  FETHIB A A1 FEHE AR
shareholders of subsidiaries R FIE 398,764 = = 398,764 398,764
Amounts due to associates FERTEE & N R FR0R 979,949 — — 979,949 979,949
a Amount due to a joint venture BN—RA %’& AFA 56,406 — — 56,406 56,406
"|:‘ Financial guarantee contracts ﬁﬂ%?ﬁé =X| 7,051,266 — — 7,051,266 7,051,266
=
g 32,199,740 2,445,626 6,334,855 40,980,221 39,236,951
3
|
<
G
-
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40. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(iii)  Liquidity risk (Continued)
The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group
could be required to settle under the arrangement
for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is
claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based
on expectations at the end of the reporting period,
the Group considers that it is more likely than not
that no amount will be payable under the
arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to
change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is
a function of the likelihood that the financial
receivables held by the counterparty which are
guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest
rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities
are subject to change if changes in variable interest
rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safequard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The total equity and borrowings of the Group represents
the capital structure of the Group. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net debt divided by total equity. Net debt is
calculated as total borrowings (including current and
non-current borrowings as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position) less cash and bank
deposits.
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ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R 1 B 25 A M

31 December 2024 —Z—-E+—-A=+—H

40. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (conTINUED)
(b) Capital risk management (Continued)
The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are

40. I ERAEBEEZRERE @)

(b) EXREREE @)
RZE_WER T _=F+=

as follows: A=+—Bz&a@ErxRmT:
2024 2023
—E-ME —_F-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FHET
Total borrowings &R 21,683,169 23,316,671
Less: Cash and bank deposits B IRE MERITIER (2,866,646) (3,514,384)
Net debt B EE 18,816,523 19,802,287
Total equity WS 9,256,969 14,347,645
Gearing ratio BELX 203% 138%

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES

(@) List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024

Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued share capital/
Name of subsidiary operation paid-up capital (note (i)

41. T EMMBE L RFHIE

() W—ZE—_mM&E+-_/F=+—8"
FERBRAFIEK

Percentage of equity interest
BAREAA L
2024 2023
—ZoME —3==f
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
held by held by held by held by

the Company the Company  the Company  the Company Principal activity

EiA Bis E#h iEed:

KWEARER HMAL/E%E BRORA/BERARE (W) 40858 A0FEE AREKE AREHE XEEE
Best Pearl Development Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 100 - 100 Property investment
1,000 shares with no par value
BHRERARAR ) 10007 NERS
100REAE
BREZERNEREARAR Mainland China RMB778013,150 - 100 - 100 Real estate development

(Boluo County Bihua Property Development
Company Limited ‘Boluo County Bihua') (iii)

BEEZZRHERZARAR (BERE) () HERL 778013150 AR %

IREERE OLR)ERAR Mainland China RMB12,001,000,000
(Minmetals Shengshi Guangye (Beijing) Co, Ltd)

IREERE OLR)ERAT PERL 120010000007 AR %

Bright Circle Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000

10,000 shares with no par value

BRARAR &R 100007 7T

10000B% 1

Eastrend (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HKS2

2 shares with no par value

RE(BE)ERAF &R WET

WREAEE

FHERR

Provision of management service

|
3
=3

|
=
s

and investment holding

REERRBERRARR

- 100 - 100 Property investment
PESIE
- 100 - 100 Property investment

NERE



41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

(Continued)

List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024:

4. TEMBLAAFE @

(a)
FEBMEBRRYIR : (B)

Percentage of equity interest

R-ZF-_N&E+=-A=+—8"

BRAEEAEDL
2024 2023
k- S 114 kSl 2
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued share capital/ held by held by held by held by
Name of subsidiary operation paid-up capital (note (i) the Company the Company  the Company  the Company Principal activity
B Bim B i3
KEARER EMAL/E%Y ERTRA/MERARE (W) L0355 ALTBE  AREHRE AREHAE IBEE
BUTREEHEREARAR Mainland China RMB520,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Foshan Kuangsheng Property Development
Co, Ltd)
BUTBRERBERSERAR PR 5200000007 A BHERR
Excel Capital Global Ltd. British Virgin Islands Usst 100 - 100 — Fund raising
1 share of USS1 each
Excel Capital Global Ltd. KBERES EI &5
\kBRAREIET
Expand Lead Limited British Virgin Islands Usst 100 - 100 — Fund raising
1 share of USS1 each
AHERAR ABRLES 1R &%
\kBRAREIET
Great Way Properties Limited Hong Kong/Mainland HKS2 - 100 - 100 Property investment
China 2 shares with no par value
BREXERAR Bt/ RENL W NER?
WRERE
ENTHREEMEREBRAR Mainland China RMB120,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Guangzhou Kuangyue Property Development
Co, Ltd)
EMTREEHERSERAR TR 120000000T AR BHERR
B EERERAR Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Kuangjin Property Development Nanjing Co, Ltd)
RHLERRBRAR RERY 100000000TC AR ¥ FHERR
BEHEBRERAR Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Kuangmei Property Development Nanjing Co, Ltd)
BRHERRERARA R 1000000007 AR B BHERR
BBt EERHEREERLA Mainland China 1S$55,000000 - 50 - 50 Real estate development
(Langfang Kuangshi Jiye Property Development
Co, Ltd. "Kuangshi Jiye") (i) & (iv)
BYBHEZXEHERRERAR (BEER]) HEAL 550000005 7T BHERR
(i) B i)
Linkcheer Limited Hong Kong HKS2 - 100 - 100 Property investment
2 shares with no par value
REERAR & VET NER?
WRERE
Luck Achieve Limited British Virgin Islands/ Us$2 - 100 7 100 Securities Investment
Hong Kong 2 shares of US91 each
ERERAA RBRRER/ ET BHRE
R WEREEIZT
Massive Leader Limited Hong Kong HKS1 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
1 share with no par value
ERARAR 3 1% BHRERR
RERE
Minmetals Condo (Hong Kong) Engineering Hong Kong HKS1 - 100 7 100 Design and installation of curtain
Company Limited 1 share with no par value walls
ABHA (FE) IRERAR B3 1% Rt RREHE
\RERE
Minmetals Land Capital Limited British Virgin Islands US$10 100 - 100 — Fund raising
10 shares of US31 each
ABEREAERAR ARELER 10X %

WREREEIXT

265 —

744 3R

o=
=

HEMERRAA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024 —ZZ—MF+=-A=+—H
AY
41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41. TEMB Q2R FHE @
SUBSIDIARIES (cONTINUED)
(a) List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 (a) RP=ZE-_WF+=-_A=+—8 "
(Continued) FTEMBRRYIR : (B)
Percentage of equity interest
BRAERESL
2024 2023
-gopf —B_=f
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued share capital/ held by held by held by held by
Name of subsidiary operation paid-up capital (note (i) the Company the Company  the Company  the Company Principal activity
Bl Bia & Fifk e
WEAAER EMAL/E%Y ERTRA/MERARE (W) L0385 ALTBE  AREHRE ARAHAE IBEE
Minmetals Land Investments Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$990 100 - 100 — Investment holding
Hong Kong 99 shares of US$10 each
Minmetals Land Investments Limited KERLES/ 90ET RERR
& WESRAEI0XT
IRERREER LR ERAA Mainland China RMB3,261,072609 - 100 - 100 Provision of management service
(Minmetals Land Investment Management (Beijing) and investment holding
(o, Ltd)
IRRARATE AR ERAA PR 3261072609 AR REEBRBERRELR
At E (RE) REERAA Mainland China RMB280,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Minmetals Land (Wuhan) Development Co, Ltd)
afRbE (RE) REERAT HERH 280000000TEA R % FHERR
ARER (BN BEEXARAA Mainland China 155100000000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Minmetals Land (Yingkou) Hengfu Properties
Co, Ltd) (i)
afRER(20) BREXERARN PERL 1000000005 7T FHERR
<+ HERAEHERSERAR Mainland China RMBG00,000,000 - 100 = 100 Real estate development
§ (Hunan Kuangdai Property Development Co, Ltd)
= HERREHERRERAR R 6000000007 A 1 BHERR
g ONFEM Finance Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1,000 100 - 100 — Provision of financing for group
& Hong Kong 1,000 shares of US$1 each companies
g ONFEM Finance Linited RERTHE/ 10005672 BEBRAREBE
z o 1005 ERAEIXT
<ZE Oriental Dragon Construction Limited Hong Kong/Hong HK$10,000 - n - 71 Investment holding
Kong and 10,000 shares with no par value
Mainland China
RAERRARAR Bt/ BARHE 1000070 RERR
At 10000 EE(E
Texion Development Limited Hong Kong HK$50,000,000 - 100 - 100 Property investment
50,000,000 shares with no par value
PRERERAR o 500000007 7T VES'E
50000000 EE (B
Top Gain Properties Limited Hong Kong/Mainland HKS2 - 100 - 100 Property investment
China 2 shares with no par value
HREFERAR B/ PERL T NER?
WRERE
Virtyre Limited Hong Kong HKS20 - 100 - 100 Property investment
2 shares with no par value
Virtyre Limited X WET NER
WRERE
RERERNERZERAR Mainland China RMB350,000,000 - 100 — 100 Real estate development
(Wuhan Runling Property Development Co, Ltd)
a RERGRHERRERAR PR 3500000007 A BHERR
e BENEEEHEREARAR Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 51 - 51 Real estate development
E (Guangzhou Kuangrong Property Development
o (o, Ltd) (‘Guangzhou Kuangrong’) (i) & (vii)
g EMBEREHEREARAR (EMBR]) PR 100000007 A BHERR
< (i) B (vii)
: BRHEERERAF Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
E' (Kuangzhong Property Development Nanjing
5 (o, Ltd)
= BhERRERAR HERL 1000000007 AR H FHERR
£ HEBRNEZERAR Mainland China 15545,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
= (Hunan Kuangxiang Real Estate Co, Ltd) (i
HEBAEXERAR () PR 4500000057 BHERR




41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

(Continued)

List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024:

4. TEMBLAAFE @

(a)
FEBMEBRRYIR : (B)

Percentage of equity interest

R-ZF-_N&E+=-A=+—8"

BRAERESL
2024 2023
it Sl 13 ke S 2
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued share capital/ held by held by held by held by
Name of subsidiary operation paid-up capital (note (i)) the Company the Company  the Company  the Company Principal activity
Bl Bid B itk
WEARER EMAL/EXY ERTRA/MERARE (W) A035F ALTEE  AREHRE ARAHE IBEE
ENTREEHEREBRAR Mainland China RMB1,851,000,000 - 51 - 51 Real estate development
(Guangzhou Kuangmao Property Development
(o, Ltd) (Guangzhou Kuangmao”) (iil) & (vi)
EMTBXEERSERAR R 1851,000000C AR ¥ FHERR
(TERMmT D) i) R v
FITEERGEREBRARA Mainland China RMB900,000,000 - 51 - 51 Real estate development
(Shenzhen Kuangrun Property Development
Co, Ltd) (“Shenzhen Kuangrun') (iii) & (ix)
RTREELERSERAR ((RIEE]) PR 9000000007 A BHEERR
(i) B (1x)
ENTHEREAERAR Mainland China RMB2,275,086,151 - 51 - 51 Real estate development
(Guangzhou Kuangyu Investment Co, Ltd)
(‘Guangzhou Kuangyu") (i) & (vii)
ENTRERABRAR (EMBE) MEV)  PERL 2275086151 TAR % FHERR
ENTRARMEREBRARA Mainland China RMB2,181,280,000 - 459 - 459 Real estate development
(Guangzhou Pincheng Real Estate Development
(o, Ltd) (Guangzhou Pincheng’) (ii)
EMTRAEBERLERAR (EMGA)H  HEAL 2181280000 AR RRELE
KBEREEERAF Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 100 e 100 Real estate development
(Chengdu Shengkuang Real Estate Development
Co, Ltd)
RBEBEXERAR TR 50000000TC AR K RRELE
KBRS EEERAF Mainland China RMB200,000,000 - 100 e 100 Real estate development
(Chengdu Kuangyi Real Estate Development
Co, Ltd)
RBREEXERAA PR 2000000007 AR RHELE
ARMEREREERARA Mainland China RMB612,244,900 - 51 = 51 Real estate development
(Minmetals Land Hunan Development Co, Ltd)
AREERRREERARA HEA 612244900 T AR BHERR
AEHE OFE) AEERAR Mainland China RMB8,000,000 - 51 — 51 Real estate development
(Minmetals Land (Xiangtan) Development Co, Ltd)
TRHE (R RRERAT PR 8000000 AR FHERR
AWHE FR) HEERAR Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 51 = 51 Real estate development
(Minmetals Land (Taian) Development Co, Ltd)
TBBE (FZ)REZERAR FERL 100000007 AR FHERR
RERERNERZERAR Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 51 - 51 Real estate development
(Taian Runling Property Development Co,, Ltd)
FRAREHERRBRAA PR 100000007 A R FHERR
BHE BN BERAR Mainland China RMB2,197,250,000 - 55 = 55 Real estate development
(Kuangjin Property Development (Suzhou) Co, Ltd)
(‘Kuangjin”)
BYHEGMHERAR(TRY) TR 2197250000 AR % BHERR
NEREEHEREARRE Mainland China RMB400,000,000 - 51 - 51 Real estate development
(Hunan Kuangya Real Estate Development Co, Ltd)
(*Kuangya')
HRREELERSERAR (BE)) PR 4000000007 A BHEERER
KBEREEERAF Mainland China RMB20,408,200 - 51 e 51 Real estate development
(Chengdu Xiangkuang Real Estate Co, Ltd)
(*Xiangkuang") (v)
RBEREXERARA(FR)W PR 20408200T AR FHERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024:
(Continued)

(a)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,

in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the
results or assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

i)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise
stated. None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital
in issue at any time during the year ended
31 December 2024.

These are BB RIAANBE B E established in
Mainland China with operating periods ranging from
15 years to 40 years.

These are NG BB % established in Mainland
China with operating periods ranging from 20 years
to 30 years.

Although the Group owns 50% equity interest in
Kuangshi Jiye, it has control over Kuangshi Jiye by
holding 60% of the voting power over the board of
directors of Kuangshi Jiye and the board of directors
is the highest authority, which require simple
majority votes of the directors on making decision
on relevant activities.

On 11 January 2022, the Group acquired 51%
interest in Xiangkuang, with approximately
HK$65,623,000 paid by cash at the acquisition date.
On 16 January 2022, the Group and non-controlling
shareholder had agreed to convert their loans into
investment cost in Xiangkuang which amounted to
HK$875,726,000 (including HK$429,106,000
contributed from non-controlling shareholder) in
accordance with the respective shareholding.

4. TERBLAAFE @

(a)

R-ZE-_WWFE+—_A=+—8 -
FTEMBRRYIR : (B)

EERALERIRZAEENE
AREEYEAEENEARE
E-EERABIINEMIER
AR HEBRTE -

(ii)

(iiff)

(iv)

BRAERBIN - FHRE
BB ERER - BE-F=
mET=A=t+—ALFEE
AEREE - SHBARL
BT 1 O

ZEBRTRRAMKS 2 E
BIRAANBERE  EEH
BISFERTAFERE o

ZEBRF R AN 2 F
INEERE  EEHA20F
FEI0FENE o

BEAEEEABEEREE
S0%AHE - KB BR ARt
HEEEEZo0n2RERY
HBEEEGE MEFER
R - AEREE

HIRRFEZEBBYRES
R o

RZZF-_=—F—H+—H "
A& B U BE B AES1% 0 25
RUEE B IR & X4
65,623,000 T c R ZE =
—F—A+~8 KAEEAR
EEBRREERERES S
FRR L 48 BB SR g A
BENREXNE 8 A
875,726,000/ 7T (8 ¥& JE#5
% A% 3R A9 H & 429,106,000
JT) °



41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024:
(Continued)

(a)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

During 2024, Guangzhou Kuangmao implemented a
capital reduction amounting to RMB450,000,000, of
which RMB220,500,000 was paid to a non-controlling
shareholder according to the portion of shares.

During 2024, Guangzhou Kuangyu implemented a
capital reduction amounting to RMB171,671,049 of
which RMB84,118,814 was paid to a non-controlling
shareholder according to the portion of shares.

During 2024, Guangzhou Kuangrong implemented a
capital reduction amounting to RMB990,000,000 of
which RMB485,100,000 was paid to a non-controlling
shareholder according to the portion of shares.

During 2024, Minmetals Land Investment
Management (Beijing) Co., Ltd. implemented a capital
reduction amounting to RMB1,710,580,000 pursuant
to the resolution adopted at the shareholders’

meeting.

4. TEMBLAAFE @

(a)

R-ZZE_WWFE+—_A=+—8 -
FEBMEBRRYIR : (B)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

RZZTZOF - EIMNER R
% 450,000,0007T A R - E
FR IR BR AR {7 10 BB A — & FE 4%
P& A% 3R 37 1+ 220,500,000 7T A

RZZZWOF - BINEER
E171671,0497C AR H
AR BR AR {7 10 BB A — & FE 4%
P& B B Sk 15484,118,8147T A

RZZTZOF - EIMNTERR
% 990,000,0007T A R - E&
AR BR AR {7 10 BB A — & FE 4%
P& A% B 37 154485,100,0007T A

R-Z—0F - AEELRE
AERE (bR) BRARRE
BERARE EFRMNARZERE
1,710,580,0007C A R ¥ o
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31 December 2024 —Z—-E+—-A=+—H

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
that have material non-controlling interests
The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material
non-controlling interests:

Place of incorporation Proportion of equity interest

and principal place of  held by non-controlling  Proportion of voting rights held

4. TERBLAAFE @

(b)

AERBEAFERRREZHN
FEEMBARZHE

TREINAEEABERFEK
BRESZIFZEMBRARZF

E

Profit/(loss) allocated to Accumulated non-controlling

Name of subsidiary business interests by non-controlling interests non-controlling interests interests
HEMALR FERRRESMSRE FERRRERAE BEERRRERDE 2
i) PNCE-L TEEEBY BHEAAL REEEDL wH/ (E58) 2t FRRRRES
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
CRCRE —B-=F CZ¥-MFE —F-=F ZBCmE —T-=F
+=A T=A t=A = +=A =4
=t+-8 =t-A =+-8 =t—A Z%¥-RmE =—F-=F =t-8 =t-A
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FEx TERT TER FiET
Kuangshi Jiye Mainland China 50% 50% 40% 40% 16 (1,497) 384,164 392,543
Wt % FE At
Beijing Wanhu Mainland China 49% 49% 40% 40% (17,479) (13,677) 1,453,637 1,503,008
EREM FE At
Guangzhou Kuangrong (i) Mainland China 49% 49% 49% 49% 792 7,202 27,392 588456
EMBRG FE At
Guangzhou Kuangmao (ii) Mainland China 49% 49% 49% 49% 4,597 238,641 1,024,048 1,324,051
M () FERL
Shenzhen Kuangrun (iii) Mainland China 49% 49% 49% 49% (29,638) 246,281 657,083 766,177
R R Gi) FE At
Minmetals Land Hunan Mainland China 49% 49% 49% 49% (58,660) 56,731 1,328,260 1416364
ARBENS B At
Guangzhou Kuangyu Mainland China 49% 49% 49% 49% (24,383) 8282 1,420,612 1,569,073
EMER FE At
Kuangjin Mainland China 45% 45% 45% 45% (71,140) (7,226) 983,498 1,076,638
BY FE At
Xiangkuang Mainland China 49% 49% 49% 49% (33,363) (43314) 347,824 389,772
BB FE At
Individually immaterial subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests 1,551 (1,591) 21,615 34,494
ARFRRBRREEOERFEANE
N
(227,707) 489,832 7,648,133 9,060,576

(i) During 2024, Guangzhou Kuangrong made dividends
distribution with total amount of RMB48,000,000, of
which RMB23,520,000 was paid to a non-controlling
shareholder according to the portion of shares.
These dividends had approved by the shareholders’
meeting.

() M-ZE-_NE - BMERER
B 48 BF /548,000,0007C A R
BERE - ERZBRRGO M
M — B IEERIR R AT
23,520,000 A R ¥ - 2 &
f& B EEREARGHAE -



41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
that have material non-controlling interests
(Continued)

(ii)

(iif)

During 2024, Guangzhou Kuangmao made dividends
distribution with total amount of RMB72,000,000, of
which RMB35,280,000 was paid to a non-controlling
shareholder according to the portion of shares.
These dividends had approved by the shareholders’
meeting.

During 2024, Shenzhen Kuangrun made dividends
distribution with total amount of RMB120,000,000, of
which RMB58,800,000 was paid to a non-controlling
shareholder according to the parties of shares. These
dividends had approved by the shareholders’
meeting.

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the

Company's subsidiaries that has material non-controlling

interests is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts before intragroup

4. TEMBLAAFE @

(b)

BEERFERRRERN
F2ENBLEZFRE (@)

(ii)

(iii)

RZZZOF - BINEXIE
B 48 FH 572 000,000 A R
R B - IR G D
A — BIEE R E A
35,280,000 A R - 2%
&S EERE ARG I -

RZZEZWF - RIIEER
B 4B A 5120,000,0007C A R
Bk e - ERiERROH%
M —ZIEERBERZAN
58,800,000 A R - 2 &
f% BB B RS HE ©

FARASEEEEEAFEBRK
RiEzm 2 WEB AR Z M B ERR
ZHENWT - L THBERHE
RTNEBANHERI SR -

eliminations.

Kuangshi Jiye It B ¥
2024 2023
—ENEF —T-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAT
Current assets MENVE E 1,599,708 1,640,794
Non-current assets ERBEE — 1
Current liabilities mEN B & 831,380 855,709
Total equity BT 768,328 785,086
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31 December 2024 —Z—-E+—-A=+—H

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
that have material non-controlling interests
(Continued)

4. TERBLAAFE @

(b) EBEEARFERKRRERM
FEEMBARZHE @

Kuangshi Jiye (Continued) Bt B ¥ ()
2024 2023
—BoNmEF “E=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER T
Revenue for the year REFRA 46 —
Cost and expenses for the year ARE KA RS H 14 2,994
Profit/(loss) for the year REERF,(EE) 32 (2,994)
Other comprehensive expense for the year ZN4F & H 2@ % (16,790) (11,336)
Total comprehensive expense for the year N4 € 2 M X 4258 (16,758) (14,330)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating AL & /EBE LIRS
activities WA G ) 88 214 (20,777)
Net cash outflow from investing activities &% & EEEAIR SR
R — =
Net cash inflow from financing activities — BIE EESNEAIRESTA
=] — =
Net cash inflow/(outflow) BemA/ ORi)F
EE] 214 (20,777)




41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41, TEMEREFE @
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b) EEERFERBRRERM
that have material non-controlling interests F2EMBE QR ZFHE @
(Continued)
Beijing Wanhu It TEH
2024 2023
—E-MF “E=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER T
Current assets mEEE 3,121,029 3,208917
Non-current assets EMBNEE 2,195 2,243
Current liabilities nBEE 156,618 143,796
Total equity Wt A EE 2,966,606 3,067,364
2024 2023
—E-mEF T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000 il
FTET FHET ‘Ell
iy
I
Revenue for the year REZIWA (7,019) —
Cost and expenses for the year A E AR R 28,653 27913
Loss for the year KEEEBE (35,672) (27,913)
Other comprehensive expense for the year N E E fth 2 2 H (65,086) (58,010)
Total comprehensive expense for the year AN JE 2 M S 42 %8 (100,758) (85,923)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating &L & /EENEEIR &
activities Omi),/mAFEE (138) 1,772,975
Net cash inflow from investing activities ~ REEBEEIRERA
FEE — _
I3
s . «
Net cash outflow from financing activities REEEBELIRSHH =
FE — (1,777,440) E
e
Net cash outflow WEME T (138) (4,465) ﬁ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
that have material non-controlling interests
(Continued)

4. TERBLAAFE @

(b) EBEEARFERKRRERM
FEEMBARZHE @

Guangzhou Kuangrong -k £

2024 2023
—E-MF “E=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER T
Current assets MEEE 88,139 1,236,366
Non-current assets EMBEE 10 28
Current liabilities mBaE 32,247 35,463
Total equity R iR 55,902 1,200,931
2024 2023
—E-NmEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Revenue for the year REZIWA 3,745 23,139
Cost and expenses for the year A E AR RS 2,129 8,441
Profit for the year AN i A 1,616 14,698
Other comprehensive expense for the year N E E {th 2 2 (2,655) (23,269)
Total comprehensive expense for the year AN JE 2 5 ) 42 58 (1,039) (8,571)

Net cash outflow from operating activities &L EBELIRSHH
R (11,732) (1,185)

Net cash outflow from investing activities & EHELIRSHH
FEE — =

Net cash outflow from financing activities REEEBNELIRSHH
F 5 — _
Net cash outflow WEME TR (11,732) (1,185)




41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 4. TEMBRAIFE @
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b) EEERFERBRRERM
that have material non-controlling interests F2EMBE QR ZFHE @
(Continued)
Guangzhou Kuangmao BEMNEE
2024 2023
—B-oNEF “E=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER T
Current assets mEEE 2,330,476 3,061,409
Non-current assets ERBEE 40,929 45338
Current liabilities mBaE 281,511 404,602
Total equity Wt A EE 2,089,894 2,702,145
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000 il
FER FHET \Ell
iy
I
Revenue for the year REZIWA 167,579 2,840,395
Cost and expenses for the year A E AR R 158,197 2,353,373
Profit for the year N [ A 9,382 487,022
Other comprehensive expense for the year N E E fth 2 2 H (49,351) (147,913)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for AFE 2@ (X H),/
the year WA B (39,969) 339,109
Net cash inflow from operating activities A& EBEEIRERA
HEE 46,438 5,993
Net cash outflow from investing activities & EHELIRETH
HER (6) (14) I
44
=
Net cash outflow from financing activities BI& EENELIRE T ﬁ
R (17,278) (448,804) B
i3
_ H
Net cash inflow/(outflow) RemA/ Ont)$HE 29,154 (442,825)

275 —/
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41.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

4. TERBLAAFE @

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b) EEEXRFERREERDN
that have material non-controlling interests FEEMB LR ZFE @
(Continued)

Shenzhen Kuangrun B A
2024 2023
—EZMEF —ZT_=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Current assets MENEE 1,479,449 1,756,357
Non-current assets ERBEE 310 597
Current liabilities mEAE 138,774 187,435
Non-current liabilities E =N — 5,892
Total equity REmiaER 1,340,985 1,563,627
2024 2023
—E-mEF —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Revenue for the year KEEZWA — 3,860,034
Cost and expenses for the year NEZRRA R H 60,485 3,357,420
(Loss)/profit for the year RNEE (B18), % F (60,485) 502,614
Other comprehensive expense for the year N4 & H 2@ 2 (30,636) (18,684)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for AFE 2@ (X H),/
the year U ONL (91,121) 483,930
Net cash outflow from operating activities A& EENEALIR SR H
R (54,589) (165,404)
Net cash inflow from investing activities & & EENEERSTEA
R 60,857 134,850
Net cash outflow from financing activities EEESEENELEIR SR
R R — _
Net cash inflow/(outflow) BeRA/(RL) F58 6,268 (30,554)




41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41, TEMEREFE @
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b) EEEXRFERREERDN
that have material non-controlling interests FEEME A R ZF1E @)
(Continued)
Minmetals Land Hunan B E R
2024 2023
—EME —_E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current assets mEEE 3,176,459 4,355,625
Non-current assets ERBEE 680,428 788,196
Current liabilities nBaE 861,887 1,828,750
Non-current liabilities EmEBBE 284,266 424,532
Total equity AR 2,710,734 2,890,539
2024 2023
—E-mEF —EZ=F P
HK$’000 HK$'000 Hg[*
FET FHET N
iy
I
Revenue for the year REFRA 739,469 1,388,551
Cost and expenses for the year NELRRA R H 859,183 1,272,774
(Loss)/profit for the year NEE (E18), % F (119,714) 115,777
Other comprehensive expense for the year ZANFEE b 2H X H (60,091) (40,764)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for AFE 2@ (X H),/
the year WA B (179,805) 75,013
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating &2 /E8EALIR S
activities () mAFE (253,424) 6,569
Net cash inflow from investing activities & & EENEERSTHA
R 144,914 11,993
-
s . “
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing ~ B & & BN E £ &R X
activities A O ) #4E 9,121 (128,307) T
e
=y
Net cash outflow Wemb FEE (99,389) (109,745) ﬁ
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31 December 2024 —ZE—M&E+=-A=+—H
41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 4. TEMBRATFE @
SUBSIDIARIES (coNTINUED)
(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b) EEEXRFERREERDN
that have material non-controlling interests FEEMB LR ZFE @
(Continued)
Guangzhou Kuangyu BN EE
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E=-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Current assets MENE B 4,944,164 5,856,582
Non-current assets FRBEE 19,921 28,280
Current liabilities mEBAE 1,824,242 1,425,623
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 500,890 1,536,920
Total equity AR 2,638,953 2,922,319
% Equity attributable to owners of the NAEHE ANELE
= Company 1,218,341 1,353,246
% Non-controlling interests of Guangzhou &N A JE4R AR A% 3R
= Kuangyu W m 1,170,563 1,313,885
z Non-controlling interests of Guangzhou  EMEEHE A & FEHE
Kuangyu’s subsidiary AR A% PR A 2 250,049 255,188
[a)
=
=
a
2
S
4
<
i
s
=
s




41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 4. TEMBRAIFE @
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b) EEEXRFERREERDN

that have material non-controlling interests FEEMB LR ZFE @

(Continued)

Guangzhou Kuangyu (Continued) EMWEE (&)

2024 2023
—ECE = =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
(Loss)/profit for the period attributable to: BAR A LR
(E518)wFl
The owners of the Company PINNEIE/ F N (25,488) (11,419)
Non-controlling interests of Guangzhou  J& N 5% 22 3F 2 B A% 51
Kuangyu M (24,489) 3616
Non-controlling interests of Guangzhou  FEJNAEEHI B A =) FEHE
Kuangyu’s subsidiary P& AR R 2 106 4,666

Other comprehensive expense for the year ZN4F & E b 2 H (45,404) (101,730)

Total comprehensive expense for the year ZNF € 2 X (4258 (95,275) (104,867)

b

(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive PATR A FEAG B

(expense)/income attributable to: (BB, /&AM k2E ‘E|[
(X)W A% - W
The owners of the Company KRARER A (45,969) (61,381)
Non-controlling interests of Guangzhou &N AEE IE4E AR A% R
Kuangyu s (44,167) (44,511)
Non-controlling interests of Guangzhou  EEJMTEE KB RQ =) FEHE
Kuangyu’s subsidiary P& B 3R 2 (5,139) 1,025
Net cash inflow from operating activities A& & ESHELRETA
R 420,615 717,397
Net cash outflow from investing activities & & EEEER S
R (13) 4)
Net cash outflow from financing activities BI& EENEAIR & H
R (478,346) (878,916)

Net cash outflow WML FE (57,744) (161,523) B
44
=
T
el
=y
i3
H
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MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

R 1 B 25 A M

31 December 2024 —Z—-E+—-A=+—H

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

4. TERBLAAFE @

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b) EEEXRFERREERDN
that have material non-controlling interests FEEMB LR ZFE @
(Continued)

Kuangjin 1% 5
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHT
Current assets MENE E 2,833,025 4,340,037
Non-current assets FERBEE 479 53,882
Current liabilities nBaE 422,902 1,598,945
Non-current liabilities FERBERE 225,051 402,446
Total equity e e 2,185,551 2,392,528
2024 2023
—E-MEF T =F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Loss for the year RERFEE (158,089) (16,058)
Other comprehensive expense for the year ZN4F & H i 2 % (48,888) (34,596)
Total comprehensive expense for the year N4 € 2 M X 4258 (206,977) (50,654)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating £ & /& B)E 4 IH S
activities WA G ) 7 88 53,344 (81,739)
Net cash outflow from investing activities & & EEEAIR S M
R (52) (54)
Net cash outflow from financing activities BI& EENEAIR SR H
R (63,323) (84,142)
Net cash outflow WM FE (10,031) (165,935)




41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 4. TEMBRATFR @
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b) EEEXRFERREERDN
that have material non-controlling interests FEEME A R ZF1E @)
(Continued)
Xiangkuang =
2024 2023
—E-mEF ZE=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FHET
Current assets MEEE 1,745,167 3,125,459
Non-current assets EMBEE 103 82
Current liabilities mEBAE 1,035,425 2,302,225
Non-current liabilities EMBBEE — 27,863
Total equity G ey e 709,845 795,453
2024 2023 il
—E-ME —E-=F Ell
\
HK$’000 HK$'000 iy
FRT Tt :
Loss for the year/period KEFE HARE 518 (68,088) (88,396)
Other comprehensive expense for the AEE /HEEMEE
year/period X (17,520) (12,139)
Total comprehensive expense for the REE /B2 H
year/period k] (85,608) (100,535)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating #&&&/EEELIR S
activities O )/ mA R (145,097) 647,151
Net cash outflow from investing activities & EBELIRETH
FER — =
I
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing EEE/EENELIR & :\é
activities OR),/ mAFE (73,431) 20,793 Ir
W_ﬂ}’i
Net cash (outflow)/inflow Be CRt),/ RmAFE (218,528) 667,944 P
H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A o B R R PR
31 December 2024 —Z-FE+-A=+—H
42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 42, KPR T Z BB R R #ER
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY =
(a) Statement of financial position of the (@) A&7 ZMBARRE
Company
2024 2023
—E_-_ME —_ T =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RETB AR 2R E 820,096 820,040
Other financial asset HEi B & E 106 —
820,202 820,040
Current assets MEEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE UG B B A &) FR I8 8,645,369 9,623,070
Loans to subsidiaries BEXFH BRG] 10,973,673 9,674,307
Other receivables H b fE W FRIE 6,524 5,597
Cash and bank deposits, unrestricted TZBRFIRE RIRTT
TR 244,804 675618
19,870,370 19,978,592
g Total assets BERT 20,690,572 20,798,632
o
% e Nz
& EQUITY Rz
2 Share capital A& A 334,691 334,691
z Reserves & 5,094,646 5,124,508
<C
Total equity R iBEE 5,429,337 5,459,199
LIABILITIES =L
Current liabilities mENBE
Borrowings & 10,973,673 9,674,307
Amount due to an intermediate holding BN —REREZERA
company AlRIE 228 77
Amounts due to subsidiaries R ENGIE ] 4,233,816 5611,914
Accruals and other payables FEETFRIE K H i FE AT
IR 53,518 53,135
15,261,235 15,339,433
A Non-current liabilities FERBFAERE
o Borrowings &; — =
S
- |
9 Total liabilities BERT 15,261,235 15,339,433
j
g Total equity and liabilities HEwm Rk EERE 20,690,572 20,798,632
&
E Net current assets B EEFE 4,609,135 4,639,159
=
Total assets less current liabilities BEMAERASARG 5,429,337 5,459,199




42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 42, DT 2 B R S R

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY =30 )
(CONTINUED)
(b) Statement of reserves of the Company (b) AR ZFERK
Capital
Share Contributed redemption Retained
premium surplus reserve earnings Total
=&
BROEE BHEH HEREE KREERF e

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET
(note 28(a))
(BH%E28(a))

Balance at 1 January 2023 WZZZ=%5—-A—H
P> 4,275,172 491,773 769 442,033 5,209,747
Loss for the year FEEBE = = — (85,239) (85,239)
Balance at 31 December 2023 R-ZZE-_=F+—H
=t+—Bz&H% 4,275,172 491,773 769 356,794 5,124,508
Fair value change of other Hitn B EEZ
financial asset RNAEEE - 106 - - 106
Loss for the year FEER - — —  (29968)  (29,968) il
Bl
Balance at 31 December 2024 RZTZWFE+=A +‘Hl
=t+—BZ&H% 4,275,172 491,879 769 326,826 5,094,646 '
43, APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 43. #L BB EHE
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue BB RRENRZE-_AF=A=++tH
by the board of directors on 27 March 2025. BESSHEWRETE -
I3
&
=
i
el
e
i
H
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In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

BEAEHRA - B XEBEAIESN  THRABABAT AR -

"23rd Metallurgical” The 23rd Metallurgical Construction Group Co., Ltd. of Minmetals*

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

[AE=+=)8 T+ ZnEREBBR AR

"AGM” annual general meeting of the Company for 2024
[RERBEFRE] RRR_ZE_NFERRBFAE

"Album Enterprises” Album Enterprises Limited

EALE] ERECEERAA

“Board” the board of directors of the Company

[EEg] RRRZERE

"Brightway Asset”

Brightway Asset Management Limited

[BRBEE] EEEEEARAT

“Bye-laws” the amended and restated Bye-laws of the Company
[ER2 A RRAREET REFZERAR

"CG Code” the Corporate Governance Code

[EREESTA

“China”, “Mainland China” or “PRC"

(PR E ek [ B R

“China Minmetals”

[ E R

"

“China Minmetals Group”

EERTA

the People’s Republic of China
EE A RHEME

China Minmetals Corporation

TEOREEAR QT

China Minmetals and its subsidiaries

(PERESEE] SR R =N

"CMCL” China Minmetals Corporation Limited*

[ R &R 17 hEAERD AR AR

“CMN” China Minmetals Non-Ferrous Metals Company Limited*
[EREERD IEAEEEBRMNARRAR]

"CMNH" China Minmetals Non-Ferrous Holding Company Limited*
[(AEAEER] IEAELBIERAR AR

“Company” or “Minmetals Land”

[AnE e B E |

284

Minmetals Land Limited

hiEESR QA



“Condo Hong Kong”
[T F15 % ]

"Director(s)”

[E%)

“GFA"
[ 4818w E A& ]

"Group”
[AR&EHE ]

“Guangzhou Kuangmao”

[N A

IIHKS//
&7t

“Hong Kong" or "HKSAR”
(&%

"June Glory”
[June Glory ]

“Liaoning Industrial Park”

[(BEEEXE]
“Listing Rules”
[ Em AR A

“Minmetals Cheerglory”
(AR

“Minmetals Finance”

[ MR 75 ]

“Minmetals HK"

[FBRRE]

“Minmetals Land Holdings”
[0 3t 2 2 I

“Minmetals Properties Hunan”

e iN

Minmetals Condo (Hong Kong) Engineering Company Limited
higini (&F8) TRBER AR

director(s) of the Company

RRABIZES

gross floor area

RBHEEE

the Company and its subsidiaries

ARBREWNE QR

Guangzhou Kuangmao Property Development Co., Ltd.*

BMTHEXFEHERZEFR AR

Hong Kong dollars
BT

The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
B & BT TR R

June Glory International Limited
June Glory International Limited

Minmetals (Liaoning) Industrial Park Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.*

hiE(EE)EXRERERAA

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited
EABERSMABERRRES LA

Minmetals Cheerglory Limited
hiRbRERQT

Minmetals Finance Co., Ltd.*

hiEEEMBEBERET AR

China Minmetals H.K. (Holdings) Limited
PR RBEBIERER AT

Minmetals Land Holdings Co., Ltd.*
hEMEZERAR AR

Minmetals Properties Service (Hunan) Co., Ltd.*

TEMERS CHE) AR AR
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il 4

“Minmetals Real Estate”

[AEE X

"MMG"
[hEEER]

“Model Code”
[fZ 2= All]

"NAV"
[BEFE]

“RMB”
AR

"SFO”
&7 M HA B 1501

“Share(s)”
[ 17 ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ A% 2R

“Share Option Scheme'’

[ A re T &1

"Shengshi Guangye”
[ 8%t & %

“Shenzhen Kuangrun”

[ Y158 )

“Shenzhen Runtou”

R ]

“sa.ft”
[F 75 R

”sqm‘”

[ 75K

“Stock Exchange”
[ B 32 P

286

4

Minmetals Real Estate Co., Ltd.*
hEEBXERAA

MMG Limited
hiEERARAA

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
FHERTAERTETESFRINRESTR

net asset value

BEFE

Renminbi

AR

Securities and Futures Ordinance

&5 R E R

the ordinary share(s) of par value HKS$0.1 each of the Company
AR FREEE L Z LB

the shareholder(s) of the Company
AREZBER

the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 7 June 2013

ARRRZE—=FRNALARKzBREE

Minmetals Shengshi Guangye (Beijing) Co., Ltd.*
REREEE (ULR) AR AR

Shenzhen Kuangrun Property Development Co., Ltd.*

AYmiEEEMERERRAA

Shenzhen Runtou Consulting Co., Ltd.*
YRR A RBR A

square feet

FAR

square metres

F K

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEMARFABR AR



"Texion” Texion Development Limited

[T TEEAR AR

"Uss” United States dollars

EA e

“Xiefeng” Ningbo Yinzhou Xiefeng Corporate Management Co., Ltd.*
[ & ] ERTHEMNBECEERFRAA

"%" per cent

[%]] AL

* For identification purpose only

* EHF

744 3R

o=
=

IR EERL A
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ABOUT CHINA MINMETALS CORPORATION

A 1 i I o 4R A R 4

Founded in 1950, China Minmetals is one of the largest State-owned
conglomerates that operates globally with core business in exploration,
mining, smelting, processing and trading for metals and minerals,
finance, real estate, and mining and metallurgic technology. China
Minmetals was ranked 69 among the US Fortune world top 500
enterprises in 2024.

China Minmetals has, in recent years, actively participated in
commercial estate development, construction and installation business
after it has a footing on the residential development and industrial
estate business. Accordingly, it has equipped with considerable
resources and has residential and commercial estate development in
the Pan Bohai Rim region and the eastern and central part of China.

China Minmetals through its Hong Kong subsidiary, Minmetals HK,
holds approximately 61.88% equity interest in Minmetals Land. Upon
the approval of inclusion of property development and operation to
the core business of China Minmetals by the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council, China
Minmetals announced its intention to transform Minmetals Land into its
listed real estate flagship. Through gradual asset injection and
consolidation of its real estate resources, China Minmetals aims at the
listing of its real estate business and turning Minmetals Land eventually
into a leading real estate development corporation which creates
better returns to its Shareholders, employees and the society.
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TEABR -NATERYL  RASBRE
MR RE R NI BH UEkE
B BHE  RAREATE BITERMLEEK
EMALEALEES - —T-MF - fER
TEAL 7 BB & ) MRt SR 50058 (R 3691 ©

RER FEABUEEREMIEMES
At WELEGEMENRERRLEYS &
RTLENRBER - Kb PERWERY
AR ERME R EKEEE RS
BEEREERM -

TEARBEBEREBZHBAR —FER
TR A AR EL61.88% MR E - BB B E
EEEEEZE et ETRARIEIFHE
FRERKESEP —HETLXHE 1ER
BN S o LA AL B s 22 7 EL PS M B SR TS MO B —
LTIEE  RBENTE  BAETEHESR
R BREEHEXGNERLT  &KRKHLE
WETEX S —KEABRFIMZTENNE
ERWERE  ARERER BTN EAEER
BfE -



hiEithE

MINMETALS LAND

LEOI®TOI®]

PE R

BANERDBRBER T RPBEREAE /&
18th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79 Chatham Road South,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

B 5 Tel: 2613 6363

{EH Fax: 25819823

T H Email : info@minmetalsland.com

#BHE Website : www.minmetalsland.com
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